

Continuing the MOMENTUM

Achieving yet
ANOTHER
EXCELLENCE

Annual Report 2024

CONTENTS

01 Corporate Profile

04 Company Values

06 Corporate Milestones

12 Chairman's Message

14 Operations and Financial Review **17** Group Structure

18 Financial Highlights

20 Board of Directors

22 Senior Management

23 Corporate Information

24 Corporate Governance Report

59 Sustainability Report **85** Directors' Statement

89 Independent Auditor's Report

95 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

96 Statements of Financial Position

97 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

99 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

101 Notes to the Financial Statements

170 Statistics of Shareholdings

172 Notice of Annual General Meeting

180 Addendum

Proxy Form



CORPORATE PROFILE

XMH Holdings Ltd. ("**XMH**" or the "**Group**") began in 1955, as a small machinery repair and maintenance shop in Kitchener Road, and listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("**SGX-ST**") on 26 January 2011. With a history of over 60 years, XMH is a reputable and trusted name as a diesel engine, propulsion and power generating solutions provider to a diverse customer base in the marine and industrial sectors across Asia.

The Group currently has its primary product offerings to include distributorship, agency and dealership rights from prominent names such as Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, MTU, Kawasaki, Akasaka, Kamome, Taiyo, D-I, SOLÉ, BUKH, Reintjes, Masson and CENTA.

"AceGen", the Group's in-house range of power generating sets, with "XMH IPS", a one-stop integrated solution to vessel owners requiring diesel engine (or electricity) driven propeller-based propulsion systems continues to provide and expand our integrated Propulsion Powering Solutions to our Customers to power its vessels in various new Applications.

In year 2013, the Group successfully acquired **Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd ("MPG")** which diversified its primary business through added exposure to different markets and expanded its offering to include industrial and commercial applications.

CORPORATE PROFILE

With its acquisitions, XMH's

business activities can be broadly categorised into:



Distribution and provision of value-added products and services such as provision of marine diesel engines, power generating sets, gearbox and propeller that suit the marine and industrial industries (tugboats, ferry, offshore vessels, fishing vessels, etc.) application. We also provide one-stop integrated customised solutions;







Project, which comprise design, fabrication, assembly, testing, installation and commissioning of generator sets for industries (data center, hospital, LTA, hotel, industrial and commercial building, etc.) and provision of related services. We have a 24-hour customer support hotline.



Mech-Power

Building Quality To Power The World

MPG's history can be traced back to 1983 and it has grown to become a leading manufacturer in design, assembly, testing, installation, commissioning, sale and service of diesel powered generator sets in Singapore. MPG also supplies the power generation industry in the Asia Pacific region.

CORPORATE PROFILE



MPG's suite of services include the design and manufacture of:

- Generator sets;
- Auto Mains Failure / Synchronizing control panels and switchboards for emergency generators;
- · Generator exhaust silencers for industrial / residential / critical applications;
- Steel skid base frames for generating sets;
- Intake and discharge acoustic attenuation ducts;
- Single / double layer steel day tanks from 1,000 litres and above;
- Bulk fuel oil storage tanks (single / double layer) constructed to BS EN 12285-1: 2003 standards;
- Fuel transfer systems;
- Weatherproof / soundproof outdoor enclosures acoustically treated from 60-85 dB; and
- Resistive load banks and RTG operator cabins; and supporting equipment, such as auto mains failure.



In the pursuit of excellence and quality, **MPG** has achieved several key certifications including the ISO 9001:2015 (Quality Management System), ISO 45001:2018 (Occupational Health & Safety Management Systems), and the bizSAFE STAR certification from the Workplace Safety and Health Council in Singapore.







Collaboration for Success

Through teamwork and working closely with customers, we deliver the best possible solutions to meet customers' needs.



Strive for Progress

We seek to continually improve our level of proficiency and expertise in our scope of work.



Resourcefulness

for the Right Solution

We employ clever and enterprising

methods to devise optimal products

and/or services suited to meet

customers' needs.

Commitment to Reliability

We pledge to only deliver optimally dependable solutions that fulfill customers' requirements.



XMH

Belief in People

We believe our staff are capable of performing to expectations and have the potential to attain higher standards of excellence when nurtured.



Integrity in All We Do

We adhere to ethical principles in all our dealings with buisness partners, colleagues and ourselves.



Forging Forward PAVING THE WAY FOR GREATER SUCCESS

The Group is upbeat about its outlook and growth strategy as it rigorously pursues suitable opportunities, takes steps to capitalise on emerging trends, expands its footprint and broaden its presence beyond its target markets to diversify its revenue streams.



1950s

 Founded as a small machinery repair and maintenance shop in Kitchener Road by Mr. Tan Tum Beng in 1955.





1960s

- Engaged in the resale of used industrial diesel engines and machinery from suppliers in the United Kingdom.
- Provided engine modification service for customers in the timber industry.

1970s

• Converted from sole proprietorship to partnership – Meng Wah Machinery Work.

1980s

• Became one of the leading suppliers of used industrial and marine diesel engines and related machinery manufactured in Japan.





1990s

- Incorporated Xin Ming Hua Pte Ltd on 31 January 1991 following the transfer of business and assets from its original partnership arrangement.
- Began the distribution of a limited range of marine diesel engines and power generating sets under Mitsubishi brand in 1996.
- Secured exclusive distribution rights for SOLÉ brand of marine diesel engines and its genuine spares for certain regions in 1998.

2000s

- Progressively secured more distribution rights for products including Akasaka, Hyundai, Doosan, Korsør, Reintjes, D-I and CENTA with some on exclusive basis.
- Developed a range of power generating sets under our in-house brand to offer value-added customisation service.
- Set up China (Shanghai) overseas office in 2006 to support marketing activities in China.
- Established XMH Engineering Pte. Ltd. in 2007 to design and develop XMH IPS, a one-stop integrated solution for the propulsion requirements of marine vessels.







2010s

- Signed distributorship agreement between Mitsubishi Heavy Industries Ltd. ("**MHI**"), MHI Engine System Asia Pte Ltd and Xin Ming Hua Pte Ltd on 19 January 2010.
- Listed on the SGX-ST Mainboard on 26 January 2011.
- Set up Vietnam (Ho Chi Minh City) overseas marketing office to support marketing initiatives in Vietnam.
- Secured two new principals Guangzhou Diesel and Kamome Propeller.
- Set-up PT Xin Ming Hua Engine in 2012 to provide after-sales support and to have close proximity and to better serve our customers in Indonesia.
- Established AceGen Pte. Ltd. in 2013 to assembly our in-house "AceGen" brand power generating sets.
- Enhanced our new corporate logo, among others through a rebranding exercise.
- Acquired and successfully integrated Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd and its subsidiary into the enlarged Group on 7 September 2013.
- Welcomed Credence Capital Fund II as our first major institutional and substantial shareholder.
- Breakthrough into Vietnam with orders for generator sets.
- Acquired 80% shareholdings of Z-Power Automation Pte. Ltd. into the enlarged Group on 4 March 2015.
- Accredited with prestigious ABB Value Provider Certification in June 2015.
- Moved into new office building at Tuas Crescent.
- Set up new outlet under PT Xin Ming Hua Engine on 8 June 2016 in Surabaya, Indonesia.
- Closed down China (Shanghai) overseas office in March 2017.
- Set up new outlet under PT Xin Ming Hua Engine on 8 January 2018 in Samarinda, Indonesia.
- Incorporation of Vivo Power Myanmar Company Limited in Myanmar in February 2018.
- Disposal of shares in Z-Power Automation (Vietnam) Co., Ltd. in February 2018.
- Struck off of wholly-owned subsidiary, AceGen Pte. Ltd. in February 2018.
- Disposed of Z-Power Automation Pte. Ltd. on 8 October 2019.



- **2020**s
- Despite the challenging operating environment brought about by the external and internal disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group remained resilient and agile. The Group streamlined its cost structures, stayed focus and persevered throughout the year. This allowed the Group to turn around to achieve a profitable FY2021. The Group also managed to record a healthy book orders as a head start for FY2022.
- Awarded as approved System Integrator Framework by MTU Asia Pte Ltd.
- Awarded as approved Original Equipment Manufacturer Framework by MTU Asia Pte Ltd.













2020s

- Appointed as a Generator original equipment manufacturer for the territory in Singapore by Volvo Group.
- Awarded as the biggest distributor amongst all MHI's marine engine distributors in the world for 2021 by MHI.
- Achieved a committed book orders of more than S\$100 million.
- Breakthrough historical high revenue record of more than S\$120 million.
- Awarded as the world's no.1 distributor amongst all D-I distributors for 2022 by D-I.
- Awarded as the biggest distributor amongst all MHI's marine engine distributors in the world for 2022 by MHI.



- Awarded for outstanding performance on the first year distribution of Masson gearboxes for 2022 by Masson.
- Awarded as the biggest distributor amongst all MHI's marine engine distributors in the world for 2023 by MHI.
- Awarded Top Spare Parts Sales for 2023 by MHI.
- Awarded The Best International Distributor for 2023 by D-I.
- Installation of 1,053 solar panels.
- Entered into a Collaboration between Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd, Static Power Pte Ltd and PCSI Tech Solution Trading Inc. for projects in the Philippines.
- Signed Distributor Agreement of Gas Turbine Engines between Kawasaki Heavy Industries, Ltd. and Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd.

V

CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE

In FY2024, the Group is staying focused on achieving growth and profitability, **CONTINUING THEIR MOMENTUM TOWARDS YET ANOTHER MILESTONE OF EXCELLENCE**.

Dear Shareholders,

It gives me great pleasure to present on behalf of the board of directors the annual report of XMH Holdings Ltd. . This report covers the financial year ended 30 April 2024 ("**FY2024**") and encompasses the performance of XMH Holdings Ltd. ("**XMH**" or together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the "**Group**").

OVERVIEW

FY2024 was marked by numerous uncertainties and challenges due to the ongoing conflicts in Ukraine and Gaza and the global geopolitical tensions. Notwithstanding these difficulties, the Group continued to demonstrate unwavering resilience, kept its forward momentum and achieved strong financial results for the year.

The broader market in our industry remained challenging in FY2024 as a result of ongoing geopolitical uncertainties arising from tensions between USA, China, Russia and the Middle East. This was coupled with countries maintaining the high interest rate to curb inflation. Despite this difficult environment, our Distribution segment thrived. Leveraging on a well-managed inventory and efficient planning, we successfully met strong demand for our engines elevating our performance to new heights. Our Project segment, however, was affected by the ongoing challenges. Supply chain issues caused delays in the supply of raw materials. High material and labour costs, and intense competition led to lower margins and losses which partially offset the good performance achieved by the distribution segment.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For FY2024, the Group remained on track in the pursuit for growth and profitability. The Group achieved a significant improvement in profitability in FY2024 despite a marginal decrease in revenues. This was due to the outstanding performance achieved by our Distribution segment which contributed significantly to both the revenue and profitability of the Group.

The Group's total revenue decreased marginally to S\$124.2 million for FY2024 as compared to S\$128.7 million in FY2023. This was due to significant decrease in revenue from our Project segment. Despite this, the Group's gross profit increased significantly by 52.9% to S\$41.8 million with overall gross margins rising from 21.3% to 33.7%. All the three business segments recorded higher margins as compared to FY2023.

CHAIRMAN'S MESSAGE

The Group's total operating expenses (excluding impairment losses on financial assets, foreign exchange difference and income tax expense) increased by approximately 12.9% to \$\$24.3 million as compared to FY2023. The increase was mainly due to increase in staff costs, finance cost and professional fees. Nonetheless, the Group recorded a significant increase in profit attributable to the shareholders from \$\$4.0 million in FY2023 to \$\$12.6 million in FY2024.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY

The Group is upbeat about its outlook and growth strategy as it rigorously pursues suitable opportunities, takes steps to capitalise on emerging trends, expands its footprint and broaden its presence beyond its target markets to diversify its revenue streams.

The Group's operations are advancing steadily as our Distribution segment is supported by the strong order backlog poised for fulfilment in the upcoming year. Our focus within the Distribution segment remains on Indonesia's traditional market, driven by sustained demand for propulsion engines for commodity transportation tugboats. Additionally, to further enhance our growth in the Distribution segment, our strategic approach is collaborating with sub-dealers and expanding into the markets of Thailand, Malaysia, Singapore, and Indonesia with small-sized fast craft and lifeboat engine repowering segments, utilizing BUKH engines. This will lay the foundation for our future growth in the fast craft segment.

Our Project segment faced significant challenges amid the current economic conditions in FY2024. As uncertainties linger, it's anticipated that the segment's performance will be impacted. However, due to a concerted team effort and strategic planning, the



order book has been bolstered by recent new orders, and we are cautiously optimistic about securing more future orders. To mitigate the supply chain issues, we are working closely with our main suppliers on the delivery of raw materials so as to meet our customer requirements. Furthermore, in an effort to boost project revenue and diversify the revenue stream, our Project segment is in collaboration with overseas contractors for overseas projects.

Despite the strong performance achieved in FY2024, the Group remains cautious on its future outlook given the uncertain environment. As we strive to improve our financial performance, we will move forward with caution, mindful of the current economic challenges. We will remain attentive in managing our sales and inventory, and will continue to focus on improving our operational efficiency.

A NOTE OF APPRECIATION

On behalf of the management team, we would like to extend our gratitude to the Board of Directors for their insight and advice, especially to Mr. Hong Pian Tee, who will be retiring after serving more than 9 years on the Board. He has guided the Group with a steady hand throughout his tenure and we would like to thank him for his stellar contributions during his tenure as Lead Independent Director of the Company.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to thank the management team and all employees of the Group for the cooperation and hard work they have put in for FY2024. In addition, I want to extend our appreciation to our customers, suppliers and business associates for your unwavering support. Your continuous support to the Group has been extremely reassuring and we shall continue to develop these strong bonds.

Lastly, our sincere gratitude goes to our shareholders for your steadfast belief and unwavering support in the Group and its management. In appreciation, the Board has proposed a final and special dividend amounting to 3.50 Singapore cents per share for the financial year ended 30 April 2024. The proposed dividend is subjected to the approval of shareholders during the upcoming Annual General Meeting.

MR. TAN TIN YEOW Chairman and Managing Director

OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW



Distribution revenue rose by 48.3% to S\$77.9 million in FY2024 due to strong demand for our engines from the commodities transportation tugboats industry in Indonesia.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In FY2024, the Group's revenue decreased 3.5%, to S\$124.2 million from S\$128.7 million in FY2023 primarily due to the decline in revenue from the Project segment which fell from S\$64.7 million in FY2023 to S\$32.5 million in FY2024. This reduction was due to the lack of income recognition from the completion of major projects and fewer projects completed in FY2024 compared to FY2023. However, revenue from both our Distribution and After-Sales segments increased substantially to partially offset the decline in revenue from the Project segment. Distribution revenue rose by 48.3% to S\$77.9 million in FY2024 due to strong demand for our engines from the commodities transportation tugboats industry in Indonesia. Our After-Sales revenue rose by 20.4% to S\$13.8 million in FY2024, driven mainly by the demand of spare parts for service and maintenance of vessels.

Notwithstanding the decline in revenue, the Group's gross profit increased by 52.9% to S\$41.8 million in FY2024, up from S\$27.4 million in FY2023. This was due to the

increase in gross profit margin across all three business segments, with the overall gross profit margin rising by more than 12% from 21.3% in FY2023 to 33.7% in FY2024.

EXPENSES

The Group's total operating expenses, excluding impairment losses on financial assets, foreign exchange differences and income tax expense, increased by S\$2.7 million or 12.9% in FY2024, to S\$24.3 million compared to S\$21.6 million in FY2023. The increase was primarily due to higher staff cost arising from higher performance bonus provision to reward the employees for their contribution to the Group's encouraging performance. Professional fees, such as audit, corporate secretarial and legal fees also increased. Notwithstanding the higher costs the Group effectively incurred. managed its cost structure and maintained nominal increases in its other operating costs. Consequently, the Group's attributable profit to shareholders increased 3.2 times to S\$12.6 million.



OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

ORDER BOOK

S\$127.5m



FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group's total assets decreased by S\$10.2 million or 6.6% to S\$146.1 million as of 30 April 2024, compared to the previous year. This was due to the reduction in property, plant and equipment, trade and other receivables and contract assets. Property, plant and equipment decreased by S\$1.5 million to S\$39.8 million as of 30 April 2024, due to depreciation charges partially offset by new acquisitions. Trade and other receivables decreased by S\$4.5 million from S\$14.5 million to S\$10.0 million due to collections during the financial year. Contract assets decreased by S\$11.2 million, from S\$23.0 million to S\$11.8 million due to progressive billings during the financial year. The decline was partially offset by an increase in cash and cash equivalent and inventories. Inventories increased by S\$4.3 million from S\$32.3 million to S\$36.6 million due to stocking in anticipation for future demand. Cash and cash equivalent rose by S\$2.5 million, from S\$29.5 million to S\$32.0 million, due to higher collection during the financial year.

The Group's total liabilities decreased by \$\$18.5 million to \$\$87.9 million in FY2024 as compared to FY2023. This was due to a reduction in trade and other payables of \$\$10.3 million to \$\$44.2 million in FY2024. The decline was primarily due to payments made during FY2024. Additionally, loans and borrowing fell by \$\$10.5 million to \$\$37.9 million in FY2024. This was due to the partial prepayment of a term loan and repayments of trade facilities and loan instalment due during FY2024.

The total equity attributable to owners of the Company increased by S\$8.3 million or 16.6% to S\$58.2 million in FY2024 compared to FY2023. Consequently, the Group's net asset value per share increased by 7.54 Singapore cents or 16.6% to 53.07 Singapore cents in FY2024 compared to FY2023.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

The Group recorded a decline of S\$4.8 million or 17.6% to S\$22.5 million in net cash generated from operating activities in FY2024 compared to FY2023. This decline was primarily attributed to the decrease in trade and other payables and an increased inventory. Trade and other payable decreased by S\$41.2 million to S\$10.3 million in FY2024 compared to FY2023 while inventories rose by S\$0.9 million to S\$4.5 million in FY2024.

Net cash used in investing activities rose by S\$0.8 million in FY2024, up from S\$1.1 million in FY2023. This was mainly due to new acquisitions during FY2024.

The Group's net cash used in financing activities increased by S\$3.2 million to S\$14.5 million in FY2024 compared to FY2023. The increase was due to the partial prepayment of a term loan and repayment of existing loan instalments, increase in settlement of trust receipts, higher payment of interest cost and payment of dividend in FY2024.

Consequently, the Group recorded a net increase in cash and cash equivalents of approximately \$\$6.0 million to \$\$32.0 million in FY2024, a decreased of \$\$8.8 million compared to FY2023.

ORDER BOOK

The Group's order book stood at approximately S\$127.5 million as at 18 July 2024.



DELIVERING WITH EXCELLENCE



GROUP STRUCTURE



SDN. BHD. (Malaysia, 1992)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS



Net Profit Attributable to Shareholders (S\$'000)



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS



IN S\$'000	FY2024	FY2023	FY2022
Revenue By Geographical			
Singapore	30,617	67,708	41,058
Indonesia	82,616	55,881	25,783
Vietnam	2,006	2,740	1,608
Other Countries	8,933	2,350	3,437
Revenue By Business			
Distribution	77,891	52,518	23,436
After-Sales Services	13,787	11,451	10,404
Project	32,494	64,710	38,046
Financial Position			
Total Assets	146,072	156,341	131,983
Total Liabilities	87,879	106,403	84,762
Shareholders' Funds	58,193	49,926	47,334
Cash and Short-Term Deposits	31,996	29,539	16,008
Performance Indicators			
Earnings per Share (cents)	11.45	3.61	2.74
Net Asset Value per Share (cents)	53.07	45.53	43.35

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Mr. Tan Tin Yeow Chairman and Managing Director

Mr. Tan was appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on 29 October 2010, and re-designated as Chairman and Managing Director on 8 September 2016. He bears overall responsibility for the Group as well as strategy formulation, corporate planning, business development and potential acquisition. He was also responsible for establishing the distribution arm and securing the exclusive distributorships for the Group.

Mr. Tan has more than 30 years of experience in the marine and industrial diesel engines industry. Prior to joining the Group, he has worked in Meng Wah Machinery Work, former partnership founded by the Founder, Mr. Tan Tum Beng until 1991. He was also one of the proud recipients of the Rotary-ASME Entrepreneur of the Year in 2007.

Ms. Tan Guat Lian Executive Director

Ms. Tan was appointed as Executive Director (Human Resource & Administration) on 29 October 2010. She has overall responsibility in managing and overseeing the administrative and human resource departments.

Ms. Tan has contributed commendably to the early development of the Group with key initiatives like setting up various departments including the administrative, logistics, human resource, accounts and IT departments. She has more than 30 years of relevant experience in the Administrative and Human Resource.



Mr. Hong Pian Tee Lead Independent Director

Mr. Hong was appointed as a Non-Executive and Independent Director on 27 October 2010. Prior to retiring from professional practice, he was a partner of PriceWaterhouseCoopers Intrust Limited from 1985 to 1999. Mr. Hong is currently the chairman of Pei Hwa Foundation Limited, a position he has held since 2000, and the Lead Independent Director of YHI International Limited and Hyflux Ltd (in liquidation), both are listed on the mainboard of the Official List of the SGX-ST.

Mr. Hong is a veteran in corporate finance and advisory, with over 26 years of experience in prominent global accounting firms. He previously held independent directorships on the board of several mainboard listed companies viz, Yanlord Land Group Limited, Sinarmas Land Limited, Golden Agri-Resources Ltd, Sin Ghee Huat Corporation Ltd., and Memstar Technology Ltd., and an independent non-executive Chairman of AsiaPhos Limited, a company listed on Catalist Board of SGX-ST.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Mr. Khoo Song Koon Independent Director

Mr. Khoo was appointed as a Non-Executive and Independent Director ("ID") on 26 June 2019. He is the founder and executive director at JKhoo Consultancy Pte. Ltd.. He has recently stepped down on 30 April 2024 as the Non-Executive Chairman for Nippecraft Limited ("Nippecraft"), a company listed on the Catalist Board of the Singapore Stock Exchange ("SGX-ST") and at the same time, also relinquished his ID role pursuant to the SGX-ST's 9 year rule. While at Nippecraft, he was also the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of both the Nominating and Remuneration Committees. Previously, he was also the Lead Independent Director for another SGX Catalist company called Resources Prima Group Limited which was delisted in April 2022.

Mr. Khoo is currently a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and Certified Public Accountants of Australia. He is also an Ordinary Member of the Singapore Institute of Directors and received the badge of Senior Accredited Director in January 2024.



Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei Independent Director

Mr. Lam was appointed as a Non-Executive and Independent Director on 8 October 2020. He is a director at Drew & Napier LLC and is the Chief Operating Officer of Drew Network Asia and Head of Business Development at Drew & Napier LLC.

Mr. Lam read law at the National University of Singapore and joined Drew & Napier LLC upon his graduation. He was admitted to the Singapore Bar in 2002 and admitted as a Solicitor in England & Wales in 2008. He is a Notary Public and a Commissioner For Oaths. Mr. Lam is a Fellow of the Chartered Secretaries Institute of Singapore and is a member of its Management Council. He is a Senior Accredited Director with the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Mr. Lam is a Non-Executive and Independent Director of ASTI Holdings Limited and Nippecraft Limited which are listed on the Mainboard of the Official List of the SGX-ST and the Catalist Board of SGX-ST respectively.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT



Mr. Tan Leong Kim Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Tan joined the company as Chief Financial Officer on 11 July 2016.

Mr. Tan is responsible for all the Group's financial and corporate functions including corporate finance, financial reporting, treasury management, taxation, compliance, investor relations and IT.

Mr. Tan has more than 20 years of experience in corporate finance as well as tax and treasury management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tan has held senior executive positions such as Senior Vice President Business and Corporate Controller SEA and Chief Financial Officer, ASEAN of Tat Hong Holdings Ltd. ("**Tat Hong**"). Before Tat Hong, Mr. Tan was an auditor with KPMG.

Mr. Tan is a graduate of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants.



Mr. Phua Tiang Soon Operations Director

Mr. Phua joined the company on 4 December 2013 and is responsible for the overall Group's Operations Management, overseeing the Supply Chain, Production, Quality, Applications Engineering, and Facilities Management functions. He was with Credence Partners as Vice President, Investment (Portfolio Operations) prior to joining the Group.

Mr. Phua has over 20 years of working experience in the contract manufacturing business covering numerous locations in Asia with various MNCs. His past appointments include General Manager of Celestica Electronics Shanghai Ltd. (formerly Omni Electronics Shanghai), Managing Director of CTS Tianjin, Asia Pacific Director of Operations for Electrical Components International, among others. He holds a Bachelor's Degree (1st Class Honors) in Mechanical Engineering from Nanyang Technological University.



Ms. Ong Siok Ling (Wang Shuling) Administrative Manager

Ms. Ong was appointed as Assistant Administrative Manager on 29 October 2010 and promoted to Administrative Manager on 1 August 2011. She is responsible for overseeing the export department, which handles the Group's shipping documentation and supports the overall logistic planning process.

Prior to joining the Group as administrative assistant in 1998, she worked as customer support assistant in Wing Seng Logistic Pte. Ltd.. Over the years, she rose the ranks and was promoted to Administrative Officer and Administrative Executive in 2001 and 2003 respectively. She was subsequently promoted to Senior Administrative Executive in 2005 and has assumed the role of Assistant Administrative Manager since 2009.

CORPORATE INFORMATION



Board Of Directors

Mr. Tan Tin Yeow (Chairman and Managing Director)

Ms. Tan Guat Lian (Executive Director)

Mr. Hong Pian Tee (Lead Independent Director, Non-Executive)

Mr. Khoo Song Koon (Independent Director, Non-Executive)

Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei (Independent Director, Non-Executive)

Company Secretary

Mr. Chua Kern (LLB(Hons))

Registered Office

55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01, Singapore 638743 Telephone: (65) 6368 0188 Facsimile: (65) 6368 0633

Audit Committee

Mr. Khoo Song Koon (Chairman)

Mr. Hong Pian Tee (Member)

Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei (Member)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Hong Pian Tee (Chairman) Mr. Khoo Song Koon (Member)

Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei (Member)

Nominating Committee

Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei (Chairman)

Mr. Hong Pian Tee (Member)

Mr. Khoo Song Koon (Member)

Mr. Tan Tin Yeow (Member)

Share Registrar

Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services (A Division of Tricor Singapore Pte. Ltd.) 9 Raffles Place, #26-01, Republic Plaza Tower I, Singapore 048619

Independent Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants Singapore One Raffles Quay, North Tower, Level 18 Singapore 048583

Partner-in-charge:

Mr. Adrian Koh Hian Yan (Since financial year ended 30 April 2020)

Principal Banker

United Overseas Bank Limited 80 Raffles Place, #12-00 UOB Plaza 1, Singapore 048624

The Board of Directors (the "**Board**" or "**Directors**") of XMH Holdings Ltd. (the "**Company**", and together with its subsidiaries, the "**Group**") is committed to maintain the highest standard of corporate governance throughout the Group and has always recognised the importance of good governance so as to enhance corporate performance, accountability, shareholders' value and the protection of stakeholders' interests as well as the financial performance of the Group.

This report sets out the Company's corporate governance practices and structures that were in place throughout and/or during the financial year ended 30 April 2024 ("**FY2024**") or which will be implemented, with specific reference to the principles and provisions as set out in the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the "**Code**") issued on 6 August 2018 and the accompanying Practice Guidance issued by the Monetary Authority of Singapore dated 14 December 2023.

The Board confirms that the Group has complied substantially in all material aspects with the principles and provisions of the Code for FY2024. Where there are deviations from the Code, appropriate explanations have been provided in this report. The Board will continue to review the corporate governance practices on an on-going basis for relevance and effectiveness, appropriate to the economic environment in which the Group operates.

(A) **BOARD MATTERS**

THE BOARD'S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS

Principle 1: The Company is headed by an effective Board which is collectively responsible and works with Management for the long-term success of the Company.

Provision 1.1 - Principal Duties of the Board

The Board oversees the business and corporate affairs of the Group. The principal functions of the Board are:

- protecting and enhancing long-term value and return to shareholders of the Company ("**Shareholders**") and other stakeholders;
- providing leadership and guidance on corporate strategy, business directions, risk management policy and implementation of corporate objectives, as well as taking into consideration sustainability issues;
- establishing, reviewing and approving the annual budget, corporate policies, strategies and objectives for the Group;
- ensuring the effectiveness and integrity of Management;
- setting the Group's values and standards;
- identifying key stakeholder groups and recognising that their perceptions may affect the Group's reputation;
- monitoring Management's achievement of the Group's goals;
- conducting periodic reviews of the Group's financial performance, internal controls and reporting compliance;

- approving nominations to the Board and appointment of key executives;
- overseeing the long-term succession planning for senior Management;
- ensuring the Group's compliance with all relevant and applicable laws, regulations, policies, directives and guidelines; and
- assuming responsibility for the corporate governance of the Group.

All Directors are expected to exercise due diligence, independent judgement, and are obliged to act in good faith and hold Management accountable for their performance. The Board objectively discharges its duties and responsibilities at all times as fiduciaries in the interests of the Company, and puts in place a code of conduct and ethics, sets an appropriate tone-from-the-top and a desirable organisational culture, and ensures proper accountability within the Company. Directors facing conflicts or potential conflicts of interest in relation to any matter shall immediately declare their interests and recuse themselves from such discussions and the decision-making process, unless the Board is of the opinion that their presence and participation is necessary for the efficacy of such discussions. Nonetheless, the Director in question shall abstain from voting in all aspects related to such conflicts or potential conflicts of interest.

Provision 1.2 - Board Induction, Training and Development

A formal letter of appointment will be furnished to each newly-appointed Director upon their appointment explaining, *amongst others*, their roles, obligations, duties and responsibilities as a member of the Board. Newly-appointed Directors receive appropriate training in areas such as accounting, legal and industry-specific training, where necessary. Appropriate briefings and orientations will be arranged for newly-appointed Directors to acquaint themselves with background information on the Group's history, mission and values, business operations, strategic directions, corporate governance practices, key business risks, as well as their duties and responsibilities as a Director. They will also be given opportunities to visit the Group's operational facilities and meet with the Management to gain a better understanding of the Group's business. No new Directors had been appointed in FY2024.

The Board values ongoing professional development and recognises that it is important that all Directors receive regular training to be able to serve effectively on, and contribute to, the Board as a whole. Directors are encouraged to attend seminars and receive training to improve themselves in the discharge of their duties and responsibilities. The Company will also arrange for first-time Directors to attend relevant trainings on the roles and responsibilities of a director of a listed issuer as prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Limited ("SGX-ST") and, if necessary, in areas such as accounting, legal and industry specific knowledge as appropriate. Such seminars as well as other training courses will be arranged and funded by the Company for all Directors.

The details of updates, seminars and training programmes attended by the Directors in FY2024 include, amongst others:

- Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants ("ISCA") Updates on Professional Standards 2023;
- ISCA Anti-Money Laundering Seminar;
- ISCA Data Analytics;
- ISCA Insights to Financial Review;

- Singapore Business Federation ("SBF") Strengthening Business Resilience through Healthy Workplace;
- SBF SBAF Transformation Showcase 2024: Digitalisation;
- Singapore Chinese Chamber of Commerce and Industry ("SCCCI") Family Business: Leadership in an Era of Trust and Transformation;
- SCCCI The Future of Work: Get Ready for AI;
- Singapore Exchange ("SGX") Climate Reporting Fundamentals for Listcos;
- Singapore Institute of Directors ("SID") ESG and Climate Governance International Conference: What Directors Need to Know;
- SID Beyond the 9 Year Rule;
- SID Open AI: Early Lessons and Issues for Board Directors;
- SID Audit and Risk Committee Seminar 2024;
- SID ASEAN Corporate Governance Scorecard Briefing;
- Singapore National Employers Federation ("SNEF") Workplace Fairness Legislation; and
- SNEF Foreign Employee Housing: Current Trends, Concerns and Opportunities.

Management closely monitors any changes to regulations and accounting standards. To keep pace with such changes, the Company also provides opportunities for ongoing education and training on Board processes and best practices as well as updates on changes in legislation and financial reporting standards, regulations and guidelines from the SGX-ST Listing Rules ("Listing Rules") that affect the Company and/or the Directors in the discharge of their duties.

The Directors are updated regularly on changes to the Listing Rules in areas such as risk management, corporate governance, insider trading and key changes in the relevant regulatory requirements, financial reporting standards and the relevant laws and regulations to facilitate effective discharge of their fiduciary duties as members of the Board or the Board Committees. The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects when presenting interim and other price sensitive public reports and reports to regulators (if required). The Board is also updated on changes in legislation and regulatory compliance by Management, the Company Secretary and external auditors to ensure that the Group complies with the relevant regulatory requirements.

New releases issued by the SGX-ST and ACRA which are relevant to the Directors are regularly circulated to the Board. The Company Secretary regularly informs the Directors of upcoming conferences and seminars relevant to their roles as Directors of the Company. Annually, the external auditors update the Audit Committee and the Board on the new and revised financial reporting standards that are applicable to the Company or the Group.

Provision 1.3 - Board Approval

The Board has adopted a set of internal policies and procedures on the approval matrix setting forth matters that require the Board's approval (the "**Approval Matrix**"). The Board's decision of such matters reserved for its approval are clearly communicated to Management in writing. Matters outlined under the Approval Matrix which are specifically reserved for the full Board's decision and approval, include, *amongst others*, matters which involve a conflict or potential conflict of interest of a substantial Shareholder or a Director or persons connected to such Shareholder or Director, material acquisitions, disposal of assets, operating budgets and capital expenditure, corporate or financial restructuring, share issuances, declaration of dividends and other returns to Shareholders and matters which require Board approval as specified under the Company's interested person transaction policy. Below the Board level, there is appropriate delegation of authority and approval sub-limits at Management level, to facilitate operational efficiency.

Provision 1.4 – Delegation by the Board

To assist the Board in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has delegated specific responsibilities to three (3) committees, namely the Audit Committee ("**AC**"), the Nominating Committee ("**NC**") and the Remuneration Committee ("**RC**") (collectively, the "**Board Committees**"). While the Board Committees have the authority to examine particular issues and will report to the Board with their decisions and/or recommendations, the ultimate responsibility on all matters still lies with the entire Board. The Board Committees operate within clearly defined terms of reference ("**TOR**") which set out, *amongst others*, their respective compositions, authorities and duties and they play an important role in ensuring good corporate governance in the Company and within the Group. The TOR of the Board Committees are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure their continued relevance and effectiveness. Further information and details on each of the Board Committees can be found on pages 34, 40 and 46 of this Annual Report.

Provision 1.5 - Board and Board Committee Meetings and Attendance Records

Formal Board meetings are held at least four (4) times a year to, *inter alia*, approve the results announcements and to oversee the business affairs of the Group. The schedule of all Board and Board Committee meetings, as well as the annual general meeting of the Company ("**AGM**") for the next calendar year is planned in advance on a yearly basis. This enables the Board to meet on a regular basis without interfering with the Company's operations. The Board may request for further clarification and information from Management on all matters within its purview. Ad-hoc meetings are convened as and when circumstances require. The Company's Constitution provides for meetings of the Board to be conducted by way of telephone conference or other methods of simultaneous communications by electronic means. The Board and Board Committees may also make decisions through circulating resolutions.

The Board's responsiveness has allowed Management to manage business and corporate matters effectively. Individual Directors make themselves available and accessible to Management for discussion and consultation outside the formal Board and Board Committees' meetings.

Senior executives such as the Chief Financial Officer ("**CFO**") also make presentations of the Group's business strategies and financial performance at these meetings. These allow the Board to have a good understanding of the Group's operations and actively engage in robust discussion with the Group's senior executives.

The table below sets out the number of Board and Board Committee meetings held during FY2024 and the attendance of each Director at these meetings:

	Board		AC		NC		RC	
	No. of	Meetings						
Name of Director	Held	Attended	Held	Attended	Held	Attended	Held	Attended
Mr. Tan Tin Yeow	4	4	4	4*	2	2	1	1*
Ms. Tan Guat Lian	4	4	4	4*	2	2*	1	1*
Mr. Hong Pian Tee	4	4	4	4	2	2	1	1
Mr. Khoo Song Koon	4	4	4	4	2	2	1	1
Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei	4	4	4	4	2	2	1	1

* By invitation

Directors who are unable to attend a Board meeting are provided with the briefing materials and will be able to discuss issues relating to the Board agenda with the Chairman or the Managing Director ("**MD**"). Directors with multiple board representations will ensure that sufficient time and attention are given to the affairs of the Group. As mentioned under Provision 4.5 of this report, the NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention has been given by the Directors to the affairs of the Group, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple Board representations, taking into account the attendance of the Directors at Board or Board Committee meetings, results of the assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees, and the respective Director's actual conduct on the Board and its Board Committees for FY2024. Please refer to Provision 4.3 and TABLE A of this report for more information on the listed directorships and principal commitments of the Directors. None of the Directors have more than four (4) board representations on publicly-listed entities for FY2024.

Provision 1.6 - Complete, Adequate and Timely Information

Management also regularly updates the Directors on the business activities of the Company and the Group during Board meetings. The Company recognises the importance in ensuring that there is complete, adequate and timely flow of information to the Directors from time to time to enable them to make informed decisions and to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

To ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to prepare for the relevant meetings, all Directors receive a set of board papers prior to such meetings. This is generally issued to them at least five (5) days prior to the meeting to enable the Directors to obtain further explanations, where necessary, and includes financial, business and corporate matters of the Group, so as to enable the Directors to be prepared for the meetings of the Board and Board Committees.

As part of good corporate governance, decision-making on key matters is reserved for resolution at Board meetings rather than simply circulating reports on those matters, in order to facilitate effective discussions. Key analysts' reports on the Group are forwarded to the Directors on an on-going basis. In addition, the Board receives quarterly management accounts from the Management, which present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's performance, position and prospects. Additional information or material requested by the Directors, if any, is also promptly furnished. Any material variances between the projections and actual results are also disclosed and explained to the Board.

Provision 1.7 – Independent Access to Management, Company Secretary and External Advisers

The Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary, senior management, including the Chairman and MD, CFO and other executive officers, as well as the Group's internal and external auditors. Queries by Directors on circulated reports are directed to the Management who will respond accordingly. Where relevant, Directors' queries and the Management's responses will be circulated to all Board members for their information.

The Directors have separate and independent access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary or his/her representative(s) attends all meetings of the Board and, together with members of the Management, ensures that Board procedures are followed and that applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary or his/her representative(s) also attends all meetings of the Board and Board Committees where necessary and is primarily responsible for the proper maintenance of the secretarial records. Under the direction of the Chairman and MD, the Company Secretary assists in ensuring good information flow within the Board and its Board Committees and between senior management and the Independent Directors, as well as facilitating orientation and assisting with professional development as required.

Under the Constitution of the Company, the decision to appoint or remove the Company Secretary can only be taken by the Board.

Each Director has the right to seek independent legal and other professional advice, at the Company's expense, concerning any aspect of the Group's operations or undertakings in order to fulfil his or her duties and responsibilities as a Director.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE

Principle 2: The Board has an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the Company.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the present Board comprises five (5) members, three (3) of whom are Independent Directors (including the Chairman of the various Board Committees) and they are able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently from the Management. The Independent Directors make up a majority of the Board.

The composition of the Board and the Board Committees are as follows:

Name of Director	Board	AC	NC	RC
Mr. Tan Tin Yeow	Chairman and MD	_	Member	-
Ms. Tan Guat Lian	Executive Director	_	-	_
Mr. Hong Pian Tee	Lead Independent Director	Member	Member	Chairman
Mr. Khoo Song Koon	Independent Director	Chairman	Member	Member
Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei	Independent Director	Member	Chairman	Member

Provision 2.1 – Board Independence

The independence of each Director is assessed and will be reviewed at least annually by the NC, based on the guidelines of the Code as well as Rule 210(5)(d) of the Mainboard Listing Rules, and any other salient factors. In its deliberation as to the independence of a Director, the NC takes into account examples of relationships set out in the Code. The NC considers an "**independent**" Director as one who is independent in conduct, character and judgement, and has no relationship with the Company or its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of his/her independent business judgment in the best interests of the Company. The criterion of independence is based on the definition set out in the Code whilst Rule 210(5)(d) of the Mainboard Listing Rules sets out the circumstances under which a Director will not be independent. The NC has reviewed, determined, and confirmed the independence of each Independent Director for FY2024.

Each Independent Director is required to provide an annual confirmation of his independence based on the guidelines set out in the Code. For FY2024, the Independent Directors (namely Mr. Hong Pian Tee, Mr. Khoo Song Koon and Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei) have confirmed that they are not involved in any of the relationships and/or circumstances. The NC will review and deliberate the independence of each Director before giving its recommendation to the Board for deliberation. Each Independent Director has duly abstained from the NC and/or Board's determination of his independence. The Board, based on the review of the NC, has determined that the Independent Directors of the Board, namely, Mr. Hong Pian Tee, Mr. Khoo Song Koon and Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei, are independent for FY2024.

Throughout FY2024, Mr. Hong Pian Tee ("**Mr. Hong**") held interest in 651,750 ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.59% of the issued and paid-up capital of the Company. None of his associates hold any interest in the shares of the Company. Mr. Hong has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of their independent business judgement in the best interests of the Company.

As of the date of this report, none of the Independent Directors have served on the Board beyond nine (9) years from the date of their first appointment, save for Mr. Hong.

Under Rule 210(5)(d)(iii) of the Listing Rules effective on 1 January 2022, an Independent Director will not be considered independent if he has served on the Board for an aggregate period of more than nine (9) years unless prior to 1 January 2022 he has obtained approval from shareholders to continue in office under a two-tier voting by (a) all shareholders; and (b) shareholders, excluding the directors and the chief executive officer and their associates (the "**Two-Tier Voting**"). Mr. Hong's independence pursuant to Listing Rule 210(5)(d)(iii) was tabled and approved by the Company's shareholders at the previous Annual General Meeting ("AGM") held on 27 August 2021. Such resolutions approved by the Two-Tier Voting shall remain in force until the conclusion of the third AGM of the Company following the passing of the said resolutions or the retirement or resignation of the director, whichever the earlier. This was to provide for some continuity and a smooth transition until Mr. Hong's replacement is found. Subsequently, the Two-Tier Voting was removed and a hard tenure limit of nine (9) years for independent directors was introduced, as announced by SGX-ST in January 2023. Accordingly, under Transitional Practice Note 4 of the Listing Manual, Mr. Hong, who has served more than nine (9) years, shall be stepping down from his role upon the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM for FY2024 to facilitate Board renewal. The Company and the NC have commenced searching for a suitable replacement and will be making appropriate announcement(s) to update the shareholders in due course.

Provisions 2.2 and 2.3 – Proportion of Independent and Non-Executive Directors

There is presently a strong and independent element on the Board. As the Chairman and MD is not an independent director, the Company has three (3) Independent Directors and is in compliance with Provision 2.2 of the Code that stipulates that independent directors make up a majority of the Board where the Chairman is not independent. The Board comprised a majority of Non-Executive Directors.

Provision 2.4 - Board Composition and Competency of the Board

Diversity will be taken into consideration when determining the optimum composition of the Board as a whole. The Board believes that board diversity should embrace factors such as the need for individuals to come from diverse backgrounds, possessing different skill-sets, life experiences, abilities and beliefs for better Board performance.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity on the Board and views Board Diversity as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. It also promotes the inclusion of different perspectives and ideas, mitigates groupthink and enhances the Board's overall decision-making capability.

The Company has in place a Board Diversity Policy which sets out its approach to achieve diversity at the Board. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the NC will review the structure, size and composition (including but not limited to the gender, age, education background, professional experiences, skills and knowledge) of the Board at least annually and assist the Board in reviewing the required mix of skills, knowledge, experience and other qualities which the Non-Executive Directors should bring to the Board on an annual basis. The NC will consider all aspects of diversity in order to arrive at an optimum balanced composition of the Board.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Board sets the following diversity objectives, including (i) gender diversity; (ii) balance of skills appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Group; and (iii) appropriate level of independence of the Board. All appointments will be based on the merit of candidates, in the context of their skills and having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, our needs and our core values.

The NC also reviews the composition and size of the Board on an annual basis to ensure that it is of an appropriate size and comprises Directors who, as a group, provide the appropriate balance and mix of skills, expertise and experience, and other aspects of diversity such as gender and age, so as to avoid groupthink and foster constructive debate. The NC also conducts annual reviews to assess if the existing attributes and core competencies of the Board are complementary (in this regard, the NC notes that the Board consists of professionals from various disciplines) and contributes to the efficacy and informed decision-making by the Board. In respect of FY2024, the NC considers the Board size to be appropriate for the current scope and nature of the Group's operations and the requirements of the business, and that the composition of the Board achieves a diversity of skills, knowledge, experience, age and gender.

The current Board composition reflects the Company's commitment to Board diversity, especially in terms of female representation, background and experience. Any progress made towards the implementation of the policy will be disclosed in our Corporate Governance Report, as appropriate.

The current Board composition provides a diversity of skills, experience and knowledge to the Company as follows:



A description of the background of each Director, including the directorships they presently hold and those held over the preceding three (3) years in other listed companies and other principal commitments, is presented on pages 36 to 37 of this Annual Report. Each Director has been appointed based on the strength of his calibre, experience and stature. Each Director is expected to bring a valuable range of experience and expertise to contribute to the development of the Group's strategy and performance of its business. As a group, the Directors bring with them a broad range of industry knowledge, expertise and experience in areas such as accounting, finance, business, legal and management, all of which are relevant to the Group.

The NC will periodically review the competencies of the Directors to ensure effective governance of the Company and contribution to the Board. To address the dynamic business environment, the NC will recommend the Board to consider the appointment of new Director(s) that has/have the relevant skillset, expertise, experience and knowledge as and when it deems necessary. The Board consists of Directors with a diversity of skills, knowledge and experience in accounting, finance, legal, corporate governance, industry knowledge, strategic planning as well as customer-based knowledge and experience.

It is the Company's objective to facilitate robust engagement and effective decision-making by the Board, and to ensure an appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition to enable it to make decisions in the best interests of the Company. Regardless of gender, race, ethnicity, religion, age or other aspects of diversity, the Board is committed to attracting individuals with diverse experience and expertise to serve as directors. As a group, they will provide an appropriate balance and range of skills, experience, perspectives and knowledge for effective stewardship of the Group's business.

The NC and Board are of the view that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competencies for effective functioning and informed decision-making, and are satisfied that the objectives of the Board Diversity Policy continue to be met.

Provision 2.5 – Meetings of Non-Executive and Independent Directors without Management

Independent Directors do not exercise any management functions in the Group. Although all the Directors have an equal responsibility for the performance of the Group, the role of the Independent Directors is particularly important in ensuring that the strategies proposed by the Management are fully discussed and rigorously examined, and take into account the long-term interests of not only the Shareholders, but also of the employees, customers, suppliers and the communities in which the Group conducts its business, in reviewing the performance of Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives, and in monitoring the reporting of performance. The NC considers its Independent Directors to be of sufficient calibre and their views to be of sufficient weight such that no individual or a small group of individuals is able to dominate the Board's decision-making process. The Board has also appointed Mr. Hong Pian Tee as its Lead Independent Director.

The Independent Directors are scheduled to meet regularly, and as warranted, without the presence of Management to discuss concerns or matters such as the effectiveness of Management. The Chairman of such meetings provides feedback to the Board and Chairman as appropriate. The Independent Directors have met at least once without the presence of Management in FY2024.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Principle 3: There is a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and Management, and no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

Provision 3.1 – Separation of Role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Provision 3.2 - Role and Responsibilities of the Chairman

Mr. Tan Tin Yeow currently assumes the roles of both the Chairman and MD. He was re-designated from Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("**CEO**") to Chairman and MD with effect from 8 September 2016. There is no change in Mr. Tan Tin Yeow's duties and responsibilities in the Group. The Group believes that a single leadership structure will facilitate the decision-making process in relation to business opportunities and operational matters. The Board is of the opinion that it is not necessary to separate the two (2) roles after taking into consideration the size and capabilities of the Board, and the size and operations of the Group.

The Chairman and MD is the most senior executive in the Company and bears executive responsibility for the Company's business, as well as the responsibility for the workings of the Board. The Chairman and MD ensures that Board meetings are held when necessary and sets the Board meeting agenda in consultation with the Directors. The Chairman and MD reviews Board papers before they are presented to the Board and ensures that Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely information. As a general rule, Board papers are sent to Directors in advance in order for Directors to be adequately prepared for the meeting. The Chairman and MD also ensures that the management staff who have prepared the papers, or who can provide additional insight into the matters to be discussed, are invited to present the papers or attend at the relevant time during the Board meetings. The Chairman and MD promotes active engagement and an open dialogue amongst the Directors as well as between the Board and Management. At the AGM and other shareholders' meetings, the Chairman and MD ensures constructive dialogue between Shareholders, the Board and Management. The Chairman and MD takes a leading role in the Company's drive to achieve and maintain a high standard of corporate governance with the full support of the Directors, Company Secretary and Management.

Provision 3.3 – Appointment of Lead Independent Director

As recommended by the Corporate Governance Code 2018, and to promote a high standard of corporate governance, the Board has appointed Mr. Hong Pian Tee as the Lead Independent Director. Mr. Hong Pian Tee is accessible to Shareholders for addressing their concerns that cannot be adequately or appropriately resolved through the normal channels of communication with the Chairman and MD, or the CFO. There was no query or request on any matters which required the Lead Independent Director's attention in FY2024.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Principle 4: The Board has a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board.

Provisions 4.1 and 4.2 - Composition, Role and Responsibilities of the Nominating Committee

As of the date of this report, the NC comprises four (4) members, three (3) of whom (including the NC Chairman) are Independent Directors. The members of the NC are as follows:

Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei (Chairman) Mr. Tan Tin Yeow Mr. Hong Pian Tee Mr. Khoo Song Koon

The Chairman of the NC is an Independent Director who is neither a substantial shareholder of the Company, nor directly associated with a substantial shareholder of the Company. The Lead Independent Director, Mr. Hong Pian Tee, is a member of the NC.

The NC meets at least once a year and at such other times as may be necessary. Two (2) NC meetings were held in respect of FY2024. The purpose of the meeting was primarily to review the overall performance of the Board and Board Committees, conduct an assessment of individual Directors in terms of their roles and responsibilities and confirm matters regarding the re-election of Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of reference set out clearly the principal responsibilities of the NC which include, amongst others:

- making recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments;
- the review of succession plans for the Chairman and MD, and key management personnel (as defined in the Code);
- making recommendations to the Board on the re-nomination of Directors annually and at least once every three (3) years for each Director, as required by the Constitution of the Company;
- determining the independence of Directors annually;
- procuring that at least half of the Board shall comprise Independent Directors;
- reviewing the training and professional development programmes for the Board and its Directors; and
- proposing a set of objective performance criteria to the Board for approval and implementation, to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, its Board Committees and the contribution of each Director to the effectiveness of the Board and the Board Committees.
Provision 4.3 - Selection, Appointment and Re-appointment of Directors

Selection and appointment of new directors

In its search, nomination and selection process for new Directors, the NC identifies the key attributes that an incoming Director should have, based on a matrix of the attributes of the existing Board members and the requirements of the Group. After endorsement by the Board of the key attributes, the NC taps into the resources of the Directors' personal contacts and recommendations for potential candidates and goes through a short-listing process. If candidates identified through this process are not suitable, executive recruitment agencies will be appointed to assist the NC in the search process. Interviews will be set up with potential candidates for NC members to assess them before a decision is reached. Other important issues considered in the NC's nomination and selection process for new Directors are aware of their duties and obligations.

There is no alternate director on the Board in FY2024.

Re-appointment of Directors

The NC is charged with the responsibility of re-nomination, and in its deliberations on the re-election and re-appointment of existing Directors, the NC takes into consideration the relevant Director's competency, commitment, contribution and performance (including, if applicable, his or her contribution and performance as Independent Director). The assessment parameters include his or her attendance record, preparedness, level of participation and candour at meetings of the Board and Board Committees as well as the quality of inputs and contributions. The NC Chairman will provide feedback to the Board on the appointment of new Directors or retirement or resignation of existing Directors, following the outcome of an annual performance evaluation of individual Directors, and the Board will take into consideration the NC's views in this regard. Other important issues considered in the NC's deliberations on the re-election and re-appointment of existing Directors include composition of and progressive renewal of the Board.

The Code recommends that all Directors should be required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals. In this regard, the Constitution provides that at each AGM, one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third (1/3), shall retire from office by rotation, provided that no Director holding office as Managing Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in determining the number of Directors to retire. For the avoidance of doubt, each Director (other than a Director holding office as Managing Director) shall retire at least once every three (3) years.

In accordance with the Code and Listing Rule 720(5) of the SGX-ST, all directors of an issuer are required to submit themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment at least once every three (3) years.

Accordingly, Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and Mr. Khoo Song Koon are the Directors retiring by rotation at the forthcoming AGM ("**Retiring Directors**"). Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and Mr. Khoo Song Koon have consented for re-appointment following their retirement at the forthcoming AGM.

The NC has reviewed and is satisfied that the Retiring Directors are properly qualified for re-appointment by virtue of their skills, experience and contributions.

Accordingly, the NC has recommended to the Board that Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and Mr. Khoo Song Koon be nominated for re-election at the forthcoming AGM pursuant to Regulation 89 of the Constitution of the Company. The Board has accepted the NC's recommendation. Details of the Retiring Directors are found in TABLE A set out on pages 56 to 58 of this Annual Report.

The Retiring Directors have abstained from deliberating on the matter regarding their re-election and retirement as a Director of the Company.

The key information regarding Directors such as their academic and professional qualifications, Board Committees on which they have served on, directorships or chairmanships both present and past held over the preceding three (3) years in other listed companies and other major appointments, whether the appointment is executive or non-executive, is set out below. Information on the shareholdings of the Directors in the Company and its subsidiaries can be found on pages 85 to 86 of this Annual Report.

Mr. Tan Tin Yeow

Chairman and Managing Director

Mr. Tan was appointed to the Board on 17 May 2010 and subsequently appointed as Chairman and CEO on 29 October 2010. Mr. Tan's date of last re-election was 26 August 2022 and is due for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. He was re-designated as Chairman and MD on 8 September 2016. He serves as the Chairman of the Board and as a member of the NC.

Mr. Tan's highest academic qualification is the Singapore Cambridge General Certificate of Education Ordinary Level Examination. Mr. Tan has not held any directorships or chairmanships in other listed companies in the preceding three (3) years.

Ms. Tan Guat Lian

Executive Director

Ms. Tan was appointed to the Board on 17 May 2010 and subsequently appointed as an Executive Director on 29 October 2010 and is in-charge of the Human Resource & Administration function. She was last re-elected as a director on 26 August 2022.

Ms. Tan has a diploma in Human Resource Management from PSB Academy. Ms. Tan has not held any directorships or chairmanships in the preceding three (3) years in other listed companies.

Mr. Hong Pian Tee

Lead Independent Director

Mr. Hong was appointed as a Non-Executive and Independent Director on 27 October 2010 and was last re-elected as a director on 27 August 2021. Presently, Mr. Hong serves as the Chairman of the RC, and as a member of the Board, AC and NC. Mr. Hong will retire and step down as Independent Director of the Company at the forthcoming AGM. Please see the discussion under Provision 2.1 above for further information in this regard.

Mr. Hong was a partner of PriceWaterhouseCoopers Intrust Limited from 1985 to 1999. Mr. Hong is currently the Lead Independent Director of YHI International Limited and Hyflux Ltd (in liquidation) which are listed on the Mainboard of the Official List of the SGX-ST. He is currently the Chairman of Pei Hwa Foundation Limited. Within the past three (3) years, Mr. Hong previously held directorships in Yanlord Land Group Limited, Sinarmas Land Limited, Golden Agri-Resources Ltd, Sin Ghee Huat Corporation Ltd., and Memstar Technology Ltd., which are all companies listed on the Mainboard of the Official List of the SGX-ST.

Mr. Khoo Song Koon

Independent Director

Mr. Khoo was appointed as a Non-Executive and Independent Director on 26 June 2019. He was last re-elected as a director on 28 August 2023 and is due for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. He serves as the Chairman of the AC, and as a member of the Board, NC and RC.

Mr. Khoo is a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and Certified Public Accountants of Australia. He is also an Ordinary Member of the Singapore Institute of Directors and received the badge of Senior Accredited Director in January 2024. He obtained a Bachelor of Accountancy Degree from Nanyang Technological University in Singapore. Mr. Khoo was the Lead Independent Director of Resources Prima Group Limited before it was delisted from SGX-ST on 25 April 2022. Within the past three (3) years, Mr. Khoo was previously the Independent Non-Executive Chairman of Nippecraft Limited which is listed on the Catalist Board of SGX-ST, having stepped down on 30 April 2024 and relinquished his role as Independent Director pursuant to SGX's nine-year rule Independent Directors.

Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei

Independent Director

Mr. Lam was appointed as a Non-Executive and Independent Director on 8 October 2020. He was last re-elected as a director on 28 August 2023. He serves as the Chairman of the NC, and as a member of the Board, AC and RC.

Mr. Lam is currently a director at Drew & Napier LLC and is the Chief Operating Officer of Drew Network Asia and Head of Business Development at Drew & Napier LLC. Mr. Lam read law at the National University of Singapore and joined Drew and Napier LLC upon his graduation. He was admitted to the Singapore Bar in 2002 and admitted as a Solicitor of England and Wales in 2008. He is a Notary Public and a Commissioner For Oaths. Mr. Lam is a Fellow of the Chartered Secretaries Institute of Singapore and the Chairman of its Management Council. He is also a Senior Accredited Director with the Singapore Institute of Directors. Mr. Lam is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director of ASTI Holdings Limited which is listed on the Mainboard of the Official List of the SGX-ST.

Provision 4.4 – Continuous Review of Directors' Independence

As described under Principle 2 of this Annual Report, the Company has put in place a process to ensure the continuous monitoring of the independence of the Directors. Further, the NC determines annually, and as and when circumstances require, whether a Director is independent, taking into consideration the disclosures by the Directors of any relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its substantial shareholders or its officers and the confirmation of independence by each Independent Director. Based on its review for FY2024, the NC is of the view that the Independent Directors of the Company are independent and are able to exercise independent business judgement in the best interest of the Company.

In respect of Mr. Hong Pian Tee who has served on the Board beyond nine (9) years from the date of his first appointment, please see the discussion under Provision 2.1 above.

Provision 4.5 – Multiple Listed Company Directorships and Other Principal Commitments

The NC has considered and taken the view that it would not be appropriate at this juncture to set a limit on the number of listed directorships that a Director may hold. This is because the organisations in which they hold appointments and the Board Committees on which they serve are of different complexities and nature. The NC determines annually whether each Director with multiple board representations and principal commitments outside of the Group is able to and has been adequately carrying out his or her duties as a Director. The NC also takes into account the attendance of the Directors at Board or Board Committee meetings, results of the assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the Board Committees, and the respective Director's actual conduct on the Board and its Board Committees, in making its determination.

The NC is satisfied that for FY2024, sufficient time and attention has being given by the Directors to the affairs of the Group, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple Board representations. As such, the NC is of the view that there is no present need to implement internal guidelines to address competing time commitments. This matter is also reviewed by the NC on an annual basis.

The Directorships in other listed companies and other principal commitments held by the Directors presently are set out in the table below.

Name of Director	Date of Appointment	Date of Last Re-election	Directorships in Other Listed Companies and Principal Commitments
Mr. Tan Tin Yeow	17 May 2010	26 August 2022	Directorships in Other Listed Companies Nil
			Principal Commitments Nil
Ms. Tan Guat Lian	17 May 2010	26 August 2022	Directorships in Other Listed Companies Nil
			<u>Principal Commitments</u> Nil
Mr. Hong Pian Tee	27 October 2010	27 August 2021	<u>Directorships in Other Listed Companies</u> YHI International Limited Hyflux Ltd (in liquidation)
			Principal Commitments Pei Hwa Foundation Limited
Mr. Khoo Song Koon	26 June 2019	28 August 2023	Directorships in Other Listed Companies Nil
			Principal Commitments JKhoo Consultancy Pte. Ltd.
Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei	8 October 2020	28 August 2023	Directorships in Other Listed Companies Nippecraft Limited ASTI Holdings Limited
			Principal Commitments Drew & Napier LLC Drew Network Asia

BOARD PERFORMANCE

Principle 5: The Board undertakes a formal annual assessment of its effectiveness as a whole, and that of each of its board committees and individual directors.

Provisions 5.1 and 5.2 - Board Evaluation Policy and Board Performance Criteria

The Board has implemented a process to be carried out by the NC to assess:

- its effectiveness as a whole;
- the effectiveness of its Board Committees; and
- the performance and contributions by the Chairman and each Director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Board and the NC have endeavoured to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant experience, knowledge and expertise critical to the Group's business.

The assessment of the Board and its Board Committees is conducted through a confidential questionnaire, covering areas such as the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and each of the Board Committees separately, which is completed by each Director individually. Such performance criteria are approved by the Board and they address, *amongst others*, how the Board has enhanced long-term shareholders' value. The performance criteria do not change unless circumstances deem it necessary, and a decision to change the criteria would have to be justified by the Board. To-date, no external facilitator has been engaged for the purposes of the Board assessment.

The evaluation of the contribution by the Chairman and MD and each individual Director to the Board is done through self-assessment, and in each case through a confidential questionnaire completed by the Directors individually. The assessment parameters for such individual evaluation include both qualitative and quantitative factors such as attendance records, contributions during Board meetings, as well as individual performance of principal functions and fiduciary duties.

The completed questionnaires are collated for the NC's deliberation. The NC then presents the results, conclusions and its recommendations to the Board. The Chairman and MD acts on the results of the performance evaluation, and where appropriate and in consultation with the NC, proposes new members to be appointed to the Board, or seeks the resignation of a Director.

The assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and each of the Board Committees, as well as the contribution by the Chairman and each individual Director to the Board is carried out once every financial year (the "**Formal Annual Assessment**"). Each member of the NC is required to abstain from voting on any resolution in respect of the assessment of his/her performance or re-nomination as a Director.

The NC, having reviewed the results of the Formal Annual Assessment for FY2024, is of the view that the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and each of the Board Committees, and contributions by the Chairman and each individual Director to the Board has been satisfactory. The NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention has been given to the Group by the Directors.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES

Principle 6: The Board has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on director and executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and key management personnel. No director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

Provisions 6.1 and 6.2 – Composition, Role and Responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee

As of the date of this report, the RC comprises three (3) members, all of whom (including the RC Chairman) are Independent Directors. The members of the RC are as follows:

Mr. Hong Pian Tee (Chairman) Mr. Khoo Song Koon Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei

The terms of reference set out clearly the principal responsibilities of the RC which include, amongst others:

• Reviewing and recommending to the Board for endorsement, a comprehensive remuneration policy framework for the computation of Directors' fees, as well as the remuneration of Executive Directors and key management personnel.

For Executive Directors and executive officers, the framework covers all aspects of executive remuneration (including but not limited to Directors' fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind).

• Recommending the specific remuneration packages for each Director and executive officer.

In framing the Group's remuneration policy as described above, the RC may from time to time refer to market reports on average remuneration.

• Reviewing remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a Director or the MD.

The total remuneration of employees who are related to Directors is reviewed by the RC annually to ensure that their remuneration packages are in line with the Group's staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scopes and level of responsibilities.

 Reviewing the service agreements of Executive Directors and key management personnel of the Company in the event of termination to ensure that such service agreements contain fair and reasonable termination clauses which are not overly generous. The RC aims to be fair and avoid rewarding poor performance.

Provision 6.3 - Fair Remuneration

In respect of FY2024, one (1) RC meeting was held. The purpose of the meeting was to review, *amongst others*, the Directors' fees payable for the financial year in review and to consider matters regarding the remuneration policies of the Company. The RC had reviewed the Director's fees and determined that Directors' fees shall remain the same as FY2023.

No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration, except in providing information and documents if specifically requested by the RC to assist in its deliberations.

Provision 6.4 - Remuneration Consultant

Although no external remuneration consultants were engaged by the Company during FY2024, the RC has full authority to engage external remuneration consultants as and when the need arises. The expense of such services shall be borne by the Company.

LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION

Principle 7: The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel are appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the company, taking into account the strategic objectives of the company.

Provision 7.1 – Remuneration of Executive Directors and Key Management Personnel

Provision 7.2 – Remuneration of Non-Executive Directors

Provision 7.3 – Attract, Retain and Motivate Directors and Key Management Personnel

The RC will take into account the industry norms, the Group's performance as well as the contribution and performance of each Director when determining remuneration packages. More information on the remuneration of the Executive Directors and certain key management personnel can be found below.

The remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and key management personnel ("**KMP**") consist of fixed and variable wage components. To ensure that the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and KMP are consistent and comparable with market practices, the RC regularly compares this fixed component with those of companies in similar industries, while continuing to be mindful of the fact that there is a general correlation between increased remuneration incentives, and improvement in performance. The variable component comprises a variable bonus based on the Group's and individual's performance to link rewards to performance. Bonuses payable to key executives are reviewed by the RC and approved by the Board to ensure the alignment of their interests with the interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders to promote the long-term success of the Company. In determining the actual quantum of the variable component of remuneration, the RC of the Company takes into account the extent to which the performance conditions have been met. The Company would like to add that the assessment of the performance of its executive directors and KMP is also based on a balanced approach, comprising both financial and non-financial metrics that promote commitment, performance and loyalty to the Group.

The Independent Directors receive Directors' fees appropriate to the level of their contributions, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, responsibilities of the Directors and the need to pay competitive fees to attract, retain and motivate the Directors. The Independent Directors shall not be over-compensated to the extent that their independence may be compromised. The Directors' fees are endorsed by the RC and recommended by the Board for Shareholders' approval at the AGM of the Company.

The Board is of the view that the current remuneration structure for the Executive Directors, Independent Directors and KMP are appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the Directors to provide good stewardship of the Company and KMP to successfully manage the Company for the long term.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company does not use contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive components of remuneration from Executive Directors, Independent Directors and KMP in the event of a breach of their fiduciary duties to the Company, such as misstatement of financial results, or misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Executive Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company. The Company should be able to avail itself of remedies against the Executive Directors in the event of such breach of fiduciary duties.

DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Principle 8: The company is transparent on its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, the procedure for setting remuneration, and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation.

Provision 8.1(a) – Directors' Remuneration

Provision 8.1(b) – Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

Taking into account the confidentiality and sensitivity as well as the competitive pressures in the talent market, the Board has decided to disclose the remuneration of the Directors and KMP, in bands of S\$250,000 with a breakdown of the components in percentage set out in the tables below.

The remuneration paid to or accrued to the Directors for FY2024 is as follows:

Remuneration Band and Name of Director	Salaries ⁽¹⁾ %	Bonus %	Directors' Fees %	Benefits- In-Kind ⁽²⁾ %	Total %
Above S\$1,750,000 but not more than S\$2,000,000					
Mr. Tan Tin Yeow	27	71	_	2	100
Above S\$500,000 but not more than S\$750,000					
Ms. Tan Guat Lian	68	32	_	_	100
S\$250,000 and below					
Mr. Hong Pian Tee	-	_	100	_	100
Mr. Khoo Song Koon	-	_	100	_	100
Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei	_	_	100	_	100

Notes:

(1) Salaries also include Central Provident Fund ("CPF") contributions, transport allowance and unconsumed leave.

(2) Benefits-in-kind comprises vehicle benefits.

For FY2024, the Company only identified three (3) KMP, and the remuneration paid to or accrued to the KMP (who are not Directors or the Chairman and MD) is as follows:

Remuneration Band and Name of Key Management Personnel	Salaries ⁽¹⁾ %	Bonus %	Benefits- In-Kind ⁽²⁾ %	Total %
Above S\$250,000 but not more than S\$500,000				
Mr. Phua Tiang Soon	70	30	-	100
Mr. Tan Leong Kim	72	28	_(3)	100
S\$250,000 and below				
Ms. Ong Siok Ling	73	27	-	100

Notes:

(1) Salaries also include CPF contributions, transport allowance and unconsumed leave.

(2) Benefits-in-kind comprises annual subscription fees.

(3) Percentage is less than 1%.

The fees of Independent Directors are subject to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.

For FY2024, the aggregate total remuneration paid/payable to the abovenamed KMP (who are not Directors or the Chairman and MD) amounted to S\$987,068.

The Board is aware of the requirement in the Code on the disclosure of remuneration in absolute amounts and noted the requirements under Listing Rule 710 to make disclosure as recommended in the Code. The Company has decided to disclose the remuneration of each of the Directors in bands of S\$250,000 which is a deviation from Provision 8.1 of the Code. After weighing the pros and cons, the Board is of the view that full disclosure of the total remuneration paid would not be in the best interests of the Group as such information is confidential and sensitive in nature and would be prejudicial to the Group's interest and hamper its ability to retain and nurture the Group's talent pool. The Board believes that the disclosure in bands provides a sufficient overview of the remuneration received by the Directors and the three (3) KMP of the Group, in the interest of maintaining good morale and a strong team spirit within the Group, while maintaining the confidentiality of their remuneration matters.

Taking into account the reasons for the deviation on disclosure on the remuneration of the directors and KMP, the disclosure of the remuneration of directors and KMP in bands, and the disclosures on Company's remuneration policies and practices, the Board believes that there is sufficient transparency and oversight of the Company's remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, procedure for setting remuneration and the relationships between remuneration, performance and value creation.

Provision 8.2 – Remuneration of Substantial Shareholders or Immediate Family Members of a Director, the Managing Director or Substantial Shareholders

Immediate Family Member of Directors or Substantial Shareholders

Mr. Tan Tin Yeow, the Chairman and MD and Ms. Tan Guat Lian, the Executive Director (Human Resource and Administration), are siblings. Mr. Tan Fuyuan whose remuneration exceeds S\$100,000 in FY2024 is the nephew of Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and Ms. Tan Guat Lian.

Details of remuneration paid to the immediate family member of Directors, the MD or substantial shareholders for FY2024 are set out below:

Remuneration Band and Name of Immediate Family Member	Salaries ⁽¹⁾ %	Bonus %	Total %
Above S\$100,000 but not more than S\$250,000			
Mr. Tan Fuyuan	70	28	100

Note:

(1) Salaries also include CPF contributions, transport allowance and unconsumed leave.

Save for Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and Ms. Tan Guat Lian, there are no other employees who are substantial shareholders of the Company.

Provision 8.3 – Executive Performance Conditions

The remuneration received by the Executive Directors and certain KMP takes into consideration his or her individual performance and contribution towards the overall performance of the Group for FY2024. Their remuneration is made up of fixed and variable components. The fixed component is in the form of salary, benefits-in-kind and others. The variable bonus component is performance-related and is linked to the Group's performance as well as the performance of each individual Executive Director and KMP. In determining the actual quantum of variable component of remuneration, the RC had taken into account the extent to which the performance conditions have been met. The Directors and KMP have met their respective performance conditions for FY2024 relating to their remuneration packages. There is no termination, retirement and/or post-employment benefits granted to Directors or KMP during FY2024.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Principle 9: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls, to safeguard the interests of the company and its shareholders.

Provision 9.1 - Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board is committed to maintain a robust and effective system of internal controls to safeguard Shareholders' interests and investments, and the Group's assets. The Board recognises the importance of sound internal controls and risk management practices for good corporate governance. The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for the Group's systems of internal controls and risk management, and for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of those systems on an annual basis. Management is responsible for designing, implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal control systems in accordance with the policies on risk management and internal controls and the Board oversees the Management in such design, implementation and monitoring. The Board further notes that the system of risk management and internal controls established by the Company provides reasonable, but not absolute assurance that the Group will not be significantly affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen as it strives to achieve its business objectives. However, the Board also notes that no system of risk management and internal controls can provide absolute assurance in this regard, or absolute assurance against poor judgement in decision making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

The AC, through the Risk Committee, assists the Board in carrying out the Board's responsibility of overseeing the risk management framework and policies of the Group, and effectiveness of the system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholder's interests and the Group's assets. The assurance mechanisms currently in operation are supplemented by the Group's internal auditors' annual review on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's material internal controls, including financial, operational, compliance controls, information technology risks and risks management systems. Any material non-compliance or failure in internal controls and recommendations for improvements are reported to the AC in a timely fashion. The AC also reviews the effectiveness of the actions taken by the Management based on the recommendations made by the internal and external auditors (as part of the statutory audit) in this respect.

Provision 9.2 – Board's Comments on Adequacy and Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

During FY2024, the AC reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's internal control procedures and was satisfied that the Group's processes and internal controls are adequate and effective to meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment.

The internal auditors, CLA Global TS Risk Advisory Pte. Ltd. ("CLA"), have performed audit procedures to assist the AC and the Board in the evaluation of the internal controls, financial and accounting matters, compliance and information technology controls, business and financial risk management.

Based on the work of the internal auditors, and the management systems in place, nothing material has come to the attention of the Board to suggest that the internal controls of the Group were not adequate or effective in safeguarding the Group's assets and ensuring the integrity of the Group's financial statements for FY2024. Where significant weaknesses have been identified, the Board upon the recommendation of the AC, has taken steps to ensure that the Management adopts appropriate actions to address and rectify these weaknesses. The Board, together with the Management, then subsequently reviews the outcomes of such actions.

The Board requires and has received assurance from (i) the Chairman and MD and CFO and (ii) the Chairman, and MD and the relevant KMP (if any) respectively on the following:

- the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements for FY2024 reflect a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the Group's operations and finances; and
- the Group's risk management and internal control systems are adequate and are operating effectively in all material respects given its current business environment.

Based on the reports submitted by the internal auditors and the various management controls put in place, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the risk management systems and system of internal controls addressing financial, operational, compliance, information technology risks of the Group during the year are adequate and effective to safeguard its assets and ensure the integrity of its financial statements for FY2024.

The Group may, from time to time, enter into foreign currency investments with the objectives of (i) improving the returns for the Group's foreign currency deposits and/or (ii) meeting the Group's future foreign currency payment obligations.

In respect of these foreign currency investments, the Group has adopted a formal policy for all engagements in foreign currency investments ("**FCI Policy**"). Further information on the FCI Policy can be found in the Company's prospectus dated 14 January 2011. A Risk Committee has been established to review and verify all foreign currency investments and ensure compliance of the FCI Policy; and reports directly to the AC.

For FY2024, the Risk Committee comprises the following members:

Mr. Tan Tin Yeow (Chairman) Mr. Tan Leong Kim Mr. Phua Tiang Soon Ms. Tan Guat Lian

Mr. Tan Tin Yeow, the Chairman and MD, is the only person authorised to trade under the terms of the FCI Policy. All trades relating to foreign currency investments shall be presented to the Risk Committee on a monthly basis and reported to the AC on a quarterly basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Principle 10: The Board has an AC which discharges its duties objectively.

Provision 10.1 - Composition, Role and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee

The AC comprises three (3) members, all of whom (including the AC Chairman) are Independent Directors. The members of the AC are as follows:

Mr. Khoo Song Koon (Chairman) Mr. Hong Pian Tee Mr. Raymond Lam Kuo Wei

For FY2024, the AC has performed its functions and responsibilities as set out in the terms of reference, which includes the following:

- reviewing the Group's financial statements and any formal announcements relating to the Group's financial performance before submission to the Board for approval to ensure the integrity of the financial statements and financial information provided by the Group, focusing, in particular, on significant financial reporting issues and judgements, changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit, compliance with accounting standards and compliance with the Listing Rules and any other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements;
- reviewing and reporting to the Board at least annually on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's internal controls including financial, operational, compliance, information technology controls and risk management systems;
- reviewing the audit plans and reports of the internal and external auditors, including the results of the internal auditors' review and evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls and external auditors' management letter recommendations;
- reviewing the assurances from the MD and CFO on the financial records and financial statements;
- reviewing the effectiveness and adequacy of the internal audit function (including a review of the internal accounting and control procedures) and ensuring co-ordination between the external auditors and the Management, reviewing the assistance given by the Management to the auditors, and discussing problems and concerns, if any, arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters which the external auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of the Management where necessary);

- reviewing and considering the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditors and matters relating to resignation or dismissal thereof, and making recommendations to the Board thereafter on:

 (i) the proposals to Shareholders on the appointment and removal of the external auditors and (ii) the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;
- reviewing any interested person transactions and potential conflicts of interest (within the definition of the Listing Rules), including any undertakings entered into by any of the Directors in respect of the above;
- reviewing the Risk Committee's report on the implementation of the FCI Policy, such report to include a review of the operation of foreign currency investments for compliance with the prevailing control measures and procedures set out in the FCI Policy;
- reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. Where the external auditors also supply a substantial volume of non-audit services to the Company, the AC should keep the nature and extent of such services under review, seeking to balance between the maintenance of objectivity and obtaining services that are value for money;
- reviewing the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting or other matters to be safely raised, independently investigated and appropriately followed up. The Company publicly discloses, and clearly communicates to employees, the existence of a whistle-blowing policy and procedures for raising such concerns;
- reviewing all whistle-blowing incidents reported and investigated, including ensuring that arrangements are in place for the independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow up action;
- ensuring that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company. (For the avoidance of doubt, the internal audit function can either be in-house, outsourced to a reputable accounting/auditing firm, or performed by a major shareholder, holding company, parent company or controlling enterprise with an internal audit staff);
- reviewing the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope and results of the external audit and the Company's internal audit function;
- meeting with the external auditors, and with the internal auditors, in each case without the presence of Management, at least annually in connection with the discharge of its duties and responsibilities;
- undertaking such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board, and reporting to the Board its findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC; and
- undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by the Listing Rules (as it may be amended from time to time).

The AC has terms of reference endorsed by the Board, setting out its duties and responsibilities. The AC is authorised by the Board to investigate any matter within its terms of reference. It is given full access to and has the co-operation of the Management as well as the external auditors and internal auditors.

The AC has full access to and the co-operation of the Management and has full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings. It also has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions.

Provisions 10.2 and 10.3 – Qualification of AC Members, and Cooling Off Period for Partners or Directors of the Company's Auditing Firm

Most of the AC members have had many years of experience in accounting, legal, business and financial management. At least two (2) AC members, including the AC Chairman have recent and relevant accounting or related financial management expertise or experience. The Board considers that the members of the AC are appropriately qualified, having the necessary accounting or related financial management expertise or experience, to discharge the duties and responsibilities of the AC.

The AC does not comprise former partners or directors of the Company's existing audit firm or auditing corporation (a) within a period of two (2) years commencing on the date of their ceasing to be a partner of the auditing firm or director of the auditing corporation; and in any case, (b) for as long as they have any financial interest in the auditing firm or auditing corporation. The AC held four (4) meetings in FY2024. At the invitation of the AC, the Chairman and MD, the Executive Director and the CFO attended the meetings. The Group's external auditors were also present at the relevant junctures during the meeting.

The AC assists the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, particularly by providing an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting, management of financial and control risks, and monitoring of the internal control systems.

External Audit

In July 2010, SGX-ST and ACRA launched the "Guidance to Audit Committees on Evaluation of Quality of Work" performed by external auditors which aims to facilitate the AC in evaluating the external auditors. The AC had evaluated the performance of the external auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young LLP ("**EY**"), based on the key indicators of audit quality set out in the said Guidance.

The AC makes recommendations to the Board on the proposals to the Shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors, and on the approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors. The AC has recommended to the Board that EY be nominated for the re-appointment as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM. The AC has assessed the external auditors of the Company based on factors such as performance, adequacy of resources and experience of EY and their audit engagement partner(s) and audit team assigned to the Group's audit.

The Company's foreign-incorporated subsidiaries audited by Johan Malonda Mustika & Rekan, Indonesia (an independent Member Firm of Baker Tilly International) and GRM International Limited (formerly known as Thein Htay & Associates Audit Firm), Myanmar. The AC and the Board are satisfied that the aforesaid appointments would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the Company's audit as no materially adverse issues, which may compromise the standard and effectiveness of the Company's audit, were encountered by the Company's finance team when working with Johan Malonda Mustika & Rekan, Indonesia and GRM International Limited, Myanmar since their appointment in the financial years ended 30 April 2016 and 30 April 2019 respectively.

In appointing auditing firms for the Group, the AC and the Board are satisfied that the appointment of different auditing firms for its overseas subsidiaries will not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Company. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rules 712 and 715 (read with 716) of the Listing Rules in relation to the engagement of its auditor.

The AC has reviewed and is satisfied with the level of co-operation rendered by the Management to the external auditors, the adequacy of scope and quality of their audits, and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

Annually, the AC also conducts a review of the independence and objectivity of the external auditors through discussions with the external auditors as well as reviewing the non-audit fees paid to them. The AC received an audit report from the external auditors setting out the non-audit services provided and the fees charged for FY2024. A breakdown of the audit and non-audit fees paid to the Company's auditors is disclosed on page 122 of this Annual Report. The AC remains satisfied that the nature and extent of such non-audit services would not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The aggregate amount of fees paid or payable by the Group to the external auditors for FY2024 amounted to S\$244,000 and S\$4,000 for audit services and non-audit fees respectively.

To keep abreast of the changes in accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on the financial statements of the Group, the AC members are encouraged to participate in relevant training courses, seminars and workshops from time to time. The AC is also kept updated annually or from time to time on any changes to the accounting and financial reporting standards by the external auditors.

Provision 10.4 – Internal Auditor

Internal Audit

The Company has engaged CLA as its internal auditors, after approval from the AC was sought, to assist the AC to independently evaluate and improve the effectiveness of the system of internal controls using a risk-based approach. CLA possesses vast experience in providing internal audits, risk management services and advisory services in the region. There is a team of 4 members assigned to the Company's internal audit function led by Mr. David Lai who has more than 15 years of relevant experience.

The role of the outsourced internal audit function is to provide independent and objective reports on the organisation's key internal controls to the AC. The outsourced internal auditor performed its work in accordance with the International Professional Practices Framework, an internationally recognised framework. The outsourced internal auditor reports directly to the AC on a regular basis during the AC meeting.

Internal audits include evaluation of controls relating to significant risks. Such audits also ensure that instituted controls are appropriate, effectively applied and achieve acceptable risk exposures consistent with the Company's risk management and internal control framework. The outsourced internal auditor would advise Management on areas for improvement and would subsequently carry out follow-up review on the status to which its recommendations have been implemented. The internal audit reports which contained the relevant audit finding and recommendations are submitted to the AC for deliberation. The AC meets with the outsourced internal auditor at least once a year to review the outsourced internal audit function and to assure itself on the soundness of internal control system.

The internal auditors prepare the internal audit plan taking into consideration the risks identified which is approved by the AC, on an annual basis.

The Board recognises the importance of sound internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies (collectively, "**internal controls**") to good corporate governance. The AC approves the appointment, termination evaluation and remuneration of the internal auditors. The internal auditors report directly to the AC Chairman on audit matters and to the Chairman and MD on administrative matters, and has full access to the documents, records, properties and personnel (including the AC) of the Group. The internal auditors assist the Board in monitoring the risk exposure and internal controls of the Group and the audit plan is submitted to the AC for approval prior to commencement of the internal audit.

In assessing the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls, the Group has in place a system of internal controls to ensure:

- assets of the Group are safeguarded;
- fraud or errors in the accounting records are prevented or detected;
- accuracy and completeness of accounting records;
- reliable financial information is prepared in a timely manner; and
- compliance with applicable internal policies, laws and regulations relating to the financial reporting process.

The AC has reviewed with the internal auditors their audit plans, their evaluation of the Group's system of internal controls, audit findings, Management's responses to those findings and the effectiveness of material internal controls (including financial, operational and compliance controls and overall risk management of the Group). In respect of FY2024, the AC is satisfied that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group.

In respect of FY2024, the AC is satisfied that the internal audit function is independent, effective and staffed with suitably qualified and experienced professionals with the relevant experience. The AC reviews the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope and results of the internal audit function of the Company annually.

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group is committed to a high standard of ethical conduct and adopts a zero-tolerance approach to fraud. The Group has put in place a whistle-blowing policy to ensure that complaints relating to fraud, corruption, possible improprieties in financial reporting, breach of law, non-compliance with the Group's code of conduct and business practices, and any other wrongful acts by any employees of the Group, are independently investigated and followed up with appropriate actions to be taken.

Whistle-blowing concerns may be reported in person or in writing via electronic mail. The Group will treat all information received confidentially and protect the identity and the interest of all whistle-blowers. Anonymous disclosures will be accepted and anonymity honoured. The objective of the whistle-blowing policy is to ensure independent investigation of matters raised and to allow appropriate actions to be taken. The results from the investigation will be reported directly to the Chairman of the AC.

All reported whistle-blowing incidents or concerns will be independently investigated, and remedial actions will be taken to address the whistle-blowing incidents. The AC has oversight and monitoring of the policy.

No whistle-blowing concerns were reported for FY2024.

Provision 10.5 – Meeting with External Auditors and Internal Auditors without the Presence of the Management

The AC will meet with the external auditors and internal auditors without the presence of the Management, as and when necessary but in any case, at least annually, to review the adequacy of audit engagement, with emphasis on the scope and quality, the independence, objectivity and observations of their audit.

For FY2024, the AC met with the external auditors once in the absence of KMP, and has been briefed on the key audit matters of the Company for FY2024, The AC has reviewed, and is satisfied with, the measures taken by the Company and the external auditors of the Company to address such key audit matters.

(D) SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND ENGAGEMENT

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND CONDUCT OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Principle 11: The company treats all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise shareholders' rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the company. The company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its performance, position and prospects.

Provision 11.1 – Opportunity for Shareholders to Participate and Vote at General Meetings

The Company believes that Shareholders have the right to be sufficiently informed of changes in the Company or its business that would materially affect the price or value of its shares. To ensure that all Shareholders are treated fairly and equitably, the Company strives to share pertinent information with the investment community in a timely manner to keep them apprised on the latest developments through announcements via SGXNet. Such announcements are communicated on an immediate basis, or as soon as possible where immediate disclosure is not practicable.

Shareholders are informed of general meetings through the announcement released to the SGXNet and notices contained in the annual report or addendum to annual report/circulars sent to all Shareholders. Such notices will contain the relevant rules and procedures governing the general meetings. All Shareholders are entitled to attend the general meetings and are provided the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at the general meetings. Shareholders are also informed of the voting procedures at the general meetings. If any Shareholder is unable to attend, he/she is allowed to appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote on his/her behalf at the general meeting through proxy forms sent in advance to the place(s) as specified in the notice of the general meetings at least 48 hours before the time set for the general meetings. The Board welcomes questions from Shareholders who wish to raise issues, either informally or formally, before or during the general meetings.

Provision 11.2 – Separate Resolutions at General Meetings

Each item of special business included in the notice of the general meetings will be accompanied by an explanation of the effects of a proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, and where resolutions are "bundled" the Company will explain the reasons and material implications in the notice of the general meeting. For FY2024, there were no "bundled" resolutions.

Provision 11.3 – Attendees at General Meeting

All Directors, KMP, the Company's external auditors and lawyers (if necessary) attend the general meetings. The respective Chairman of the AC, NC and RC are usually present at such general meetings to address questions relating to the work of their respective Board Committees at general meetings while the external auditors are usually present as well to assist the Board in addressing any relevant queries raised by the Shareholders. All Directors have attended the last AGM which was held physically on 28 August 2023.

The Company will be holding its forthcoming AGM physically to facilitate engagement and interaction between the Directors, Messrs Ernst & Young LLP and the Shareholders. Arrangements will be put in place to allow Shareholders to participate in the meeting. Please refer to the Notice of AGM dated 8 August 2024 for further information. The proxy form will be despatched with the Notice of AGM to all Shareholders and via announcement on SGXNet and the Company's website. Shareholders who are unable to attend are allowed to appoint up to (2) proxies to vote on their behalf at the AGM through proxy forms submitted in advance.

Provision 11.4 – Shareholders' Participation

The Company acknowledges that voting by poll on resolutions tabled at general meetings is integral in the enhancement of corporate governance. The Company adheres to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Code, all resolutions at the Company's general meetings held on or after 1 August 2015, if any, are put to vote by poll. The Company adopts electronic polling for the resolutions voted upon at its general meetings. As the authentication of Shareholder identity information and other related security issues still remain a concern, the Company has decided, for the time being, not to implement voting in absentia by mail, email or fax. The detailed results of each resolution are announced via SGXNet after the general meetings.

Provision 11.5 – Minutes of General Meetings

Minutes of general meetings prepared by the Company Secretary records substantial and relevant comments or queries from Shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting, and responses from the Board and Management. In addition, the minutes of general meetings are also published on SGXNet within one (1) month after the general meetings. Minutes of the upcoming AGM will accordingly be published within one (1) month after the AGM on SGXNet.

Provision 11.6 – Dividend Policy

Dividend Policy

The Group does not have a dividend policy at present. The form, frequency and amount of dividends declared each year will be dependent on the Group's profit growth, cash position, positive cash flow generated from operations, projected capital requirements for business growth and other factors as the Board may deem appropriate.

For FY2024, the Board has recommended a final dividend (one-tier tax exempt) of 0.25 Singapore cents per ordinary share and a special dividend (one-tier tax exempt) of 3.25 Singapore cents per ordinary share, totalling 3.50 Singapore cents per ordinary share for FY2024 which will be subject to shareholders' approval at the forthcoming AGM.

ENGAGEMENT WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 12: The company communicates regularly with its shareholders and facilitates the participation of shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Provision 12.1 – Soliciting and Understanding Views of Shareholders

Provisions 12.2 and 12.3 – Communication and Interaction with Shareholders

The Group values dialogue with its Shareholders. The Group does not have a dedicated investor relations team. Other than communicating with Directors and Management at general meetings, the Shareholders may contact the Group's CFO on any investor relations matters at xmh@xmh.com.sg. The Group is committed to hearing Shareholders' views and addressing their concerns where possible. The Group believes that all Shareholders should be equally informed of all major developments impacting the Group's business and operations in a timely manner. By supplying Shareholders with reliable and timely information, the Company is able to strengthen the relationship with its Shareholders based on trust and accessibility.

The Management will provide all members of the Board with management accounts of the Group's performance, with explanatory details on its operations on a quarterly basis. The Management maintains regular contact and communication with the Board by various means including the preparation and circulation of financial statements of the Group to all Board members. This allows the Board to monitor the Group's performance and position as well as the Management's achievements of the goals and objectives determined and set by the Board. Financial results are reviewed by the AC before it is recommended for adoption by the Board.

The financial results announcements are reviewed carefully by the Board and the AC before being released on the SGXNet. If required, the Group's external auditors' views will be sought. In line with the Listing Rules, the Board provides a negative assurance statement to the Shareholders in respect of the interim financial statements. For the financial year under review, the Executive Directors and the CFO have provided assurance to the Board on the integrity of the Group's financial statements.

Shareholders of the Company are encouraged to attend the Company's general meetings to ensure a high level of accountability and to stay informed of the Group's strategies and growth plans. Notices of general meetings are despatched to Shareholders, together with explanatory notes or a circular on items of special businesses (if necessary), at least 14 or 21 clear calendar days before the meeting depending on the nature of the resolutions proposed. Such notices will also be announced through SGXNet. The Board welcomes questions from Shareholders who wish to raise issues, either informally or formally, before general meetings. The responses from the Board and management of the Company shall thereafter be published on SGXNet and the Company's corporate website at http://www.xmh.com.sg.

The Company does not practice selective disclosure. Material and price-sensitive information are published on SGXNet and on the Company's website at http://www.xmh.com.sg, and where appropriate, through media releases. Communication is mainly made through:

- Annual reports that are prepared and sent to all Shareholders upon their request or made available on SGXNet or the Company's corporate website at http://www.xmh.com.sg. The Board ensures that the annual report includes all relevant material information about the Company and the Group, including future developments and other disclosures required by the Companies Act of Singapore, the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards;
- Half yearly announcements containing a summary of the financial information and affairs of the Group for that period; and
- Notices of explanatory memoranda for AGM and EGM.

Shareholders are strongly encouraged to participate at general meetings, which provide a major platform for Shareholders to engage in dialogue with the Company. To promote better understanding of Shareholders' views, the Board encourages Shareholders to express their views and ask the Board or the Management questions regarding the Group during the Company's general meetings. Shareholders are also encouraged to submit any question in advance to the Board and the Management on the Group's business activities, financial performance and other business-related matters. All Directors, KMP, the Company's external auditors and lawyers (if necessary) attend the general meetings. General meetings provide excellent opportunities for the Company to understand the views of its Shareholders and address any concerns that they may have.

(E) MANAGING STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIPS

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Principle 13: The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs and interests of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure that the best interests of the company are served.

Provisions 13.1 and 13.2 - Engagement with Stakeholders

The Board adopts an inclusive approach by considering and balancing the needs of material stakeholders, as part of its overall responsibility to secure the long-term future of the Company. The Company continuously seeks to improve communication with its stakeholders via various engagement platforms/communication channels.

The Company has arrangements in place to identify and engage with its material stakeholder groups and to manage its relationships with such groups, including engaging with stakeholders via its sustainability reports. The Group identifies stakeholders as groups that have an impact or have the potential to be impacted by its business, as well as those external organisations that have expertise in aspects that the Group considers material. The key concerns of stakeholders, and the Company's strategy and key areas of focus in relation to the management of stakeholder relationships during the relevant reporting period are announced via its Sustainability Report for such relevant reporting period.

The basis for and methods of engagement with the stakeholders, along with the key areas of focus for each stakeholder group, can be found in our Sustainability Report. Our Sustainability Report highlights the economic, environmental and social aspects of our developments and operations in accordance with the core options of the Global Reporting Initiative ("**GRI**") standards and complies with the relevant requirements under the SGX-ST Listing Manual including Rules 711A and 711B. Further details can be found in our sustainability report FY2024 on pages 59 to 84 of this annual report.

Provision 13.3 - The Company Maintains a Current Corporate Website to Communicate and Engage with Stakeholders

Stakeholders may access the Company's annual reports, sustainability reports and other relevant announcements such as financial information, corporate announcements and the profile of the Group via the Company's website at http://www.xmh.com.sg.

(F) DEALINGS IN COMPANY'S SECURITIES

In compliance with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Rules, the Company had adopted a Code of Best Practices to provide guidance to its officers on securities transactions by the Company and its officers.

The Company and its officers are not allowed to deal in the Company's shares during the period commencing one (1) month before the announcement of the Company's half-year and full-year financial results, ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results.

Directors and executive officers are also expected to observe insider-trading laws at all times even when dealing with securities within the permitted trading period or when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information and they are not to deal in the Company's securities on short-term considerations.

(G) INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Group has established procedures to ensure that transactions with interested persons are properly reviewed and approved and are conducted at arm's length basis and do not prejudice the interests of the Group and its minority shareholders.

There were no interested person transactions above S\$100,000 for FY2024.

(H) MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts entered into by the Group involving the interests of any Director or controlling shareholder for FY2024.

TABLE A

Name of Director	Mr. Tan Tin Yeow ("Mr. Tan")	Mr. Khoo Song Koon ("Mr. Khoo")	
Age	62	53	
Country of principal residence	Singapore	Singapore	
Date of first appointment as director	17 May 2010	26 June 2019	
Date of last re-election as director	26 August 2022 (Due for re-election at the AGM to be held on 28 August 2024)	28 August 2023 (Due for re-election at the AGM to be held on 28 August 2024)	
The Board's comments on the appointment	The Board of Directors of the Company has accepted and approved the NC's recommendation, who has reviewed and considered Mr. Tan's contribution and performance as the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company.	The Board of Directors of the Company has accepted and approved the NC's recommendation, who has reviewed and considered Mr. Khoo's contribution and performance as Independent Director of the Company.	
Job title	Chairman and Managing Director, and a member of the Nominating Committee	Independent Director, Chairman of Audit Committee and a member of the Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee	
Professional qualifications	Singapore Cambridge General Certificate of Education Ordinary Level Examination	A member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (ISCA) Certified Public Accountants of Australia Ordinary Member, Singapore Institute of Directors	

Name of Director	Mr. Tan Tin Yeow ("Mr. Tan")	Mr. Khoo Song Koon ("Mr. Khoo")
Shareholding in the Company and the Subsidiaries of the Company (as at 18 July	The Company Direct interest: 69,663,987 ordinary shares	Nil
2024)	Subsidiary of the Group PT Xin Ming Hua Engine – 1,000 ordinary shares	
Any relationship (including immediate family relationships) with any existing director, existing executive officer, the issuer and/or substantial shareholder of the listed issuer or of any of its principal subsidiaries	 Mr. Tan and Ms. Tan Guat Lian, the Executive Director (Human Resource and Administration), are siblings and children of Mr. Tan Tum Beng, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Tan Fuyuan, the Senior Manager of Parts Sales is the nephew of Mr. Tan and Ms. Tan Guat Lian. 	No
Conflict of interest (including any competing business)	None	None
Undertaking (in the format set out in Appendix 7.4.1) under Rule 720(1) has been submitted to the listed issuer	Yes	Yes

Name of Director	Mr. Tan Tin Yeow ("Mr. Tan")	Mr. Khoo Song Koon ("Mr. Khoo")
Other principal commitments including directorships	 Past (for the last 5 years) <u>Directorships</u> Z-Power Automation Pte. Ltd. Vivo Power Myanmar Company Limited (members' liquidation in process) 	 Past (for the last 5 years) <u>Directorships</u> Nippecraft Limited Resources Prima Group Limited Gadera Pte Ltd Faerma Pte Ltd Posh Digital Dental Laboratory Pte Ltd ABOUT CLICK Company Limited (HK) Aesthetic One Limited (HK) FAST and RIGHT Company Limited (HK) E-POS Service Holding Ltd (BVI) Inter Power Equities Ltd (BVI) Great Divine Investments Limited (BVI) Zicap Limited (BVI)
	<u>Other Principal Commitments</u> Nil	<u>Other Principal Commitments</u> Nil
	 Present Directorships Xin Ming Hua Pte Ltd XMH Logistics Pte. Ltd. Midori Shipping Investment Co Pte. Ltd. Hinoki Shipping Investment Co Pte. Ltd. 	 Present <u>Directorships</u> Amarilla Investments Pte Ltd Cassville Pte Ltd Questcor International Pte Ltd Elegant Link International Trading Limited (BVI) Great Vanguard International Limited (BVI) Toptoo Industrial Limited (BVI)
	<u>Other Principal Commitments</u> Nil	<u>Other Principal Commitments</u> JKhoo Consultancy Pte. Ltd.

Note:

The above Directors who are seeking re-election had responded negative to items (a) to (k) listed in Appendix 7.4.1 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

ABOUT THE REPORT

At XMH Holdings Ltd. ("**XMH**" or the "**Company**", along with its subsidiaries, the "**Group**"), we acknowledge the significance of sustainability in ensuring our enduring prosperity. We are dedicated to upholding transparency and accountability to our stakeholders by openly disclosing our advancements and initiatives in this sustainability report ("**Report**") for the fiscal year concluded on April 30, 2024 ("**FY2024**").

Reporting Scope

This Report covers the sustainability performance of all entities included within our Group Structure presented on page 17 of this Annual Report.

Reporting Framework

This report is crafted with adherence to the Global Reporting Initiative ("**GRI**") Standards, chosen for its international recognition as a reporting framework guiding the disclosure of an organization's economic, environmental, social, and governance ("**EESG**") impacts. The GRI content index, Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures ("**TCFD**") content index and relevant references are detailed on pages 80 to 84 of this Annual Report.

In accordance with the stipulations of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST") Listing Rules 711A and 711B, our annual sustainability report outlines the Group's policies, practices, and performance against established targets for each significant EESG factor. As the Group does not fall within the TCFD-identified industries prioritized for mandatory disclosure, our intention is to progressively incorporate climate-related disclosures in subsequent years of Sustainability Report.

Report Assurance

We have not sought external assurance for our report for FY2024. Instead, to progressively improve upon the quality of our disclosures, we have engaged our internal auditors to complete an independent internal review of our Sustainability Report processes in FY2024.

Feedback Channel

This Report will be made available online on the Group's website. For any queries in relation to this report, we welcome you to contact us at www.xmh.com.sg/XMHH/contact.

BOARD STATEMENT

Dear Stakeholders,

At XMH, we are dedicated to ensuring the enduring growth and success of our Group by conscientiously considering the EESG factors that influence both our business and stakeholders. We recognize that sustainability goes beyond mere obligation; it presents an opportunity to generate value and make a positive contribution to the well-being of our society and planet.

In alignment with this commitment, the Board of Directors (the "**Board**") is pleased to present XMH's sustainability report for FY2024, which encapsulates our holistic approach to addressing sustainability issues within our business and strategy. We have thoughtfully examined EESG risks and opportunities throughout our operations, supply chain, and interactions with diverse stakeholders.

As part of our responsibility, the Board has actively overseen the identification and assessment of material EESG factors that hold the utmost relevance for the Group. These factors encompass our interactions with local communities, the professional development of our employees, the health and well-being of our customers, the environmental impacts of our operations, and the establishment of effective governance structures that uphold ethical business practices.

Furthermore, the Board has worked to ensure the integration of sustainability considerations into our business strategy and decision-making processes. We firmly believe that incorporating sustainability into our fundamental operations is not only crucial for effective risk management but also imperative for creating long-term value. By aligning our strategy with sustainable practices, we aim to mitigate potential risks, improve operational efficiency, stimulate innovation, and uphold the trust of our stakeholders.

The Board is content with the Group's implementation of systems and procedures to effectively manage the risks associated with our significant EESG factors. XMH's senior management team actively evaluates the Group's sustainability performance, establishes goals, and monitors progress against them. Additionally, to enhance stakeholder confidence in the accuracy and reliability of the sustainability information provided in this report, our internal auditors conducted an internal review of our Sustainability Report processes in FY2024. Although the Group does not belong to any of the TCFD-identified industries requiring mandatory disclosures, we have adopted climate-related disclosures in line with TCFD recommendations on a phased approach, beginning from this report.

Our commitment to sustainability is a collective endeavour that relies on the involvement and active participation of our workforce, customers, suppliers, business partners, regulators, and local communities. We consistently strive to improve our EESG performance by attentively considering the expectations, requirements, and apprehensions of our esteemed stakeholders. We anticipate sharing updates on our sustainability journey's progress in the times ahead.

Yours sincerely,

Board of Directors

XMH Holdings Ltd.

SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

The Group strongly advocate for the incorporation of sustainability principles at both strategic and operational tiers. Through the establishment of transparent accountability frameworks, active engagement with stakeholders, and the seamless integration of sustainability across our operations, we aim to generate enduring value. This approach not only seeks to minimize our environmental footprint but also endeavour to contribute to the overall well-being of society.

Sustainability Governance

The Group remains committed to upholding the utmost standards of corporate governance, transparency, and ethical conduct as we navigate the complexities of the global business landscape. Our commitment to sustainability is ingrained in our corporate culture, recognizing that robust governance is imperative for achieving our sustainability goals.

At the highest level, our Board of Directors collectively assumes responsibility for the Group's Sustainability Report. The Board provides strategic guidance and ensures that sustainability is integrated into our long-term business strategy, whilst holding management accountable for the managing XMH's impacts on the economy, environment, and people. The Board is also responsible for reviewing and approving the information disclosed in this Report. To advance their knowledge, skills, and expertise, we are pleased to confirm that all directors attended the SGX-mandated sustainability training in FY2023.

Meanwhile, XMH's senior management team is responsible for translating the sustainability strategy into actionable goals and objectives. In responding to material EESG risks and opportunities, the senior management team helps integrate sustainability principles into our day-to-day operations by establishing relevant policies, implementing Group-wide initiatives, and monitoring the Group's progress towards targets. At least half-yearly reporting and communication channels are established for management to keep the Board and key stakeholders informed about the Group's sustainability performance.



Stakeholder Engagement

The senior management team has identified a wide range of stakeholders that significantly impact the Group's business, including its employees, customers, suppliers, investors, business partners, government and regulators. By maintaining open lines of communication with key stakeholders, the Group is better placed to address their emerging expectations and concerns, whilst integrating their input into XMH's sustainability decision-making processes.

The following table summarises the key stakeholder groups we engage with, our modes of engagement, and their main concerns/interests:

Stakeholders	Engagement Approach	Main Concerns
Customers	 Our sales team is responsible for: Issuing quotations on an ongoing basis Regularly conducting meetings and on-site visits Responding to inquiries and feedback received through the email and company's website 	 Cost competitiveness and quality of goods and services Availability of stock Timely delivery of orders Product responsibility Customer data and privacy protection
Suppliers	 Our procurement team is responsible for: Conducting periodic supplier evaluations and on-site inspections Holding regular discussions and meetings Requesting quotations from suppliers on an ongoing basis Completing audits on new suppliers 	 purchasing policies and procedures Social and environmental responsibility
Employees	 Our human resources team is responsible for: Organising induction and orientation programme for new joiners Conducting an annual employee performance appraisal Sending internal memos and reminders Arranging for annual employee trainings and regular team meetings 	 Staff benefits and welfare Workplace health and safety Employee engagement
Investors	 Our senior management team is responsible for: Holding Annual General Meeting, with question-and- answer sessions Issuing financial results announcements on a half-yearly and yearly basis, circulars as and when needed, and XMH's annual report on SGXNet and the company's website Responding to inquiries and feedback received through the company's website 	Timely reporting and open dialogue with investorsGrowth strategy and economic performance
Business Partners	 Our senior management team is responsible for: Holding frequent discussions and meetings Preparing corporate presentations on a need to basis 	Partnership for opportunities and growth
Government and Regulators	 Our senior management team is responsible for: Engaging in periodic discussions and regular correspondence via mail, email or teleconference Completing regular filings, and providing prompt responses to regulators' queries 	Timely reporting and resolution of issues

Corporate Social Responsibility

Through our donations and contributions to various charitable organizations, we strive to address important social issues and make a meaningful difference in the lives of those in need. XMH will continue to identify and support initiatives that align with our values and our commitment to creating a positive and lasting impact on the communities we serve.

Here are some of the organizations we have donated to in FY2024, in support of the social causes they champion:

- United Overseas Bank ("UOB") Chinese New Year Charity events
 Our donations helped support The Business Times Budding Artists Fund, The Straits Times School Pocket Money Fund and Central Singapore Community Development Council.
- UOB Global Heartbeat Run/Walk events

Our contributions helped support causes that advocate inclusion for persons with disabilities, support special needs and promote education for local beneficiaries – namely Dyslexia Association of Singapore, Extra-Ordinary People, Rainbow Centre and President's Challenge.

• Kwong Wai Shiu Hospital and Care for The Elderly Foundation (Singapore)

Our donations to these organisations helped to promote greater quality of life for senior citizens living in Singapore, providing them with resources, support, and opportunities for social engagement, and ensuring that they receive the care and attention they deserve.

Bagansiapiapi School

Our contribution to help support the school in Indonesia.

Membership of Associations

XMH is also a proud member of the following business associations:

- Singapore National Employers Federation ("SNEF");
- Singapore Business Federation ("SBF");
- Association of Singapore Marine Industries ("ASMI");
- Singapore Metal & Machinery Association ("SMMA");
- Singapore Chinese Chamber of Commerce and Industry ("SCCCI");
- Indonesia Shipbuilding and Offshore Association ("IPERINDO");
- The Singapore Contractors Association Ltd ("SCAL"); and
- Singapore Electrical Trades Association ("SETA").

Awards and Accreditations

The Group's subsidiaries, namely Xin Ming Hua Pte Ltd and Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd, have been accredited under the following certification schemes:

- ISO 9001:2015 (Quality Management System);
- ISO 45001:2018 (Occupational Health & Safety Management Systems); and
- bizSAFE STAR Certification from the Workplace Safety and Health Council.

Materiality Assessment

Materiality is a fundamental concept that guides the Group's approach to Sustainability Report. It helps us identify the EESG issues that are most relevant to our business, our stakeholders, and our ability to create long-term value.

Our materiality assessment framework consists of the following steps:



Material EESG Factors

Following from the materiality assessment process outlined above, we were able to derive a comprehensive list of EESG factors that form the core of our sustainability strategy, as summarised in the following table.

Material Topics	Description	Reference
Economic Performance	Our financial performance, revenue generation, cost management, economic contributions, and XMH's economic impact on local economies	Page 67
Our People and Talent Management	Our commitment to fair employment practices, employee engagement, and effective talent management strategies	Page 68
Quality of Sales and Services	Our focus on customer satisfaction, product and service safety, and responsible marketing practices	Page 73
Legal and Compliance	Our policies and practices to manage fraud, corruption, conflicts of interests, legal and regulatory risks, and ensure fair business conduct	Page 75
Environmental Footprint	Our efforts to manage and mitigate our energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions as we transition to a low-carbon and resource-efficient economy	Page 76

ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

By delivering strong and sustainable economic performance across our business segments, XMH can actively contribute towards job creation and local economic growth, resulting in shared benefits for all our stakeholders.



The Group's net earnings attributable to shareholders have steadily increased, rising from S\$3.0 million in FY2022 to S\$4.0 million in FY2023 and S\$12.6 million in FY2024. This is primarily attributed to good leadership and the Group's effort to enhance operational capabilities.

We are glad to report that our Distribution segment continue to achieve significant revenue growth in FY2024, thanks to the strong demand for our engines. We also recorded revenue growth from our After-Sales segment. However, this was offset by the decline in revenue from our Project segment. Our Project segment was affected by the ongoing challenges which resulted in fewer projects completed in FY2024.

The Group remains cautious about the future outlook due to the uncertain environment. As we aim to enhance our financial performance, we will proceed carefully, keeping the current economic challenges in mind.

For more information on XMH's financial performance in FY2024, please refer to page 18, page 19 and Financial Statements on pages 95 to 100 of this Annual Report.

OUR PEOPLE AND TALENT MANAGEMENT

XMH aims to be a progressive and responsible employer, encouraging diversity, inclusion and safety in the workplace, promoting employee well-being, and investing in talent development and retention. By putting our people first, we have been able to create a motivated and high-performing workforce that has been key to achieving our business success.

Employment

XMH's workforce consists of 197 permanent, full-time employees (as of 30 April 2024). A breakdown of our employees by gender and geographic region is as follows:



XMH provides a wide range of benefits for our full-time employees, including:

- Insurance coverage and healthcare benefits;
- Annual leave and medical leave;
- Marriage, paternity and childcare leave;
- Long service awards;
- Transport allowance; and
- Food voucher.

Over the course of FY2024, the Group also rolled out several staff welfare initiatives aimed at enhancing employee well-being and fostering a positive working environment, in recognition of our employees' contributions to the Group.



At XMH, we also work towards promoting a culture of inclusion, where every individual feel valued, heard and empowered to contribute their unique perspectives. We value and respect our employees, and we strongly advocate two-way communication between employees and their superiors. Any concerns raised by the employees would be duly considered, as our employees' feedback is key to helping the management team understand how they can further enhance the working environment at XMH.

Our recruitment and selection processes are designed to attract a diverse pool of candidates, and we strive to eliminate any form of discrimination in our hiring practices. Instead, we recruit employees based on merit, i.e., candidates' qualifications, skills, and experience, regardless of their race, gender, age, nationality, sexual orientation, disability, marital status and family responsibilities.

Likewise, the compensation packages for all employees are determined based on their job responsibilities, ability, experience, and performance. We regularly review our remuneration policies and practices to ensure that employees receive fair and competitive compensation in line with industry standards and labour laws.

Promoting equal employment opportunities, fair remuneration, and a supportive work environment are essential components of our firm's commitment to diversity and inclusivity. Our progressive human resource management policies and practices encourage collaboration, teamwork, and open communication, enabling employees to thrive in an inclusive work environment free from harassment, discrimination, or intimidation.

Throughout FY2024, we are pleased to share that our new hire rate has reduced to 17% as compared to 32% of FY2023 and employee turnover has reduced to 18% as compared to 28% of FY2023. Further details on the total number of employee new hires and employee turnover are as follows:




Training and Education

We strongly believe in providing our employees with the skills they need to thrive in ever-changing and dynamic working environments. As a result, we have developed comprehensive career development programmes for employees at all levels to help them improve their competencies and adaptability.

We are committed to providing fair opportunities for our employees to be considered for training and development initiatives. All employees, regardless of their gender or position, have equal access to training opportunities that align with their career aspirations and the needs of our organization.

In addition, we recognize that exposure to diverse skillsets and areas of expertise is essential for our employees' professional growth. To achieve this, we offer job rotations to selected employees as an opportunity for them to expand their knowledge, broaden their perspectives, and acquire new skills. In this way, our employees are able to adapt to changing work demands and explore various career pathways within our organisation.

In FY2024, our employees clocked a total of 2,783 hours of training, decrease from FY2023 figures of 3,243 hours. Following the spike in new employee hires in FY2023, we have seen the average training hours at XMH return to baseline levels, dropping from 17 hours in FY2023 to 14 hours of training in FY2024. In addition, as our turnover rate has reduced, lesser job training is required as there are lesser new recruits.





In accordance with the Group's human resource management policies, we are also pleased to confirm that 100% of all employees, regardless of their gender or employee category, have undergone regular annual performance reviews.

Target for FY2024	Performance in FY2024	Target for FY2025
Aim to provide 15 hours of training, on average, to our employees.	Actual number of training hours clocked at 14 hours slightly below the targeted training hour of 15 hours.	Aim to provide 15 hours of training, on average, to our employees.

XMH HOLDINGS LTD.

QUALITY OF SALES AND SERVICES

At XMH, we strive to provide our customers with prompt, reliable, and high-quality solutions that meet their everevolving needs, thereby fostering long-term customer loyalty. We recognize that maintaining consistent quality standards is crucial to our success, and as such, we have implemented robust quality assurance and control systems across our business processes. These systems enable us to continually improve and innovate while ensuring the reliability and excellence of our products and services.

Customer Health and Safety

Our quality control personnel work closely with our production team to continuously assess our production flow and methods and ensure that all required standards of quality are met. XMH consistently introduces innovations and improvements to optimize our business processes and further improve quality standards. Key aspects of our quality assurance and control systems are as follows:

• Product Handling and Service Quality Check Procedures

Throughout the various stages of purchasing, designing, manufacturing, and delivering our products, we conduct meticulous inspections on the products, during which their technical specifications and compliance documents are closely scrutinised. Outgoing products undergo rigorous checks against order specifications and are load tested before delivery. We also supervise the installation and commissioning of our products to ensure that they meet our customers' required performance specifications.

By maintaining internal records of incoming diesel engines, power generating sets, spare parts, and related components, we are able to provide timely feedback to our principals and suppliers as and when issues of non-conformance arise.

Customer Relationship Management

To foster effective communication with our customers, our sales and services staff receive comprehensive training to develop the necessary skills and attitudes for engaging and negotiating with our customers effectively. Our Enterprise Resource Planning system also enables us to track sales leads, enquiries, customer feedback, and follow-up actions, ensuring that we promptly address any concerns and provide exceptional customer support in a timely manner.

We value the feedback of our customers as an invaluable resource for enhancing our competitiveness in the industry. To gather feedback from our customers, we have rolled out an annual customer satisfaction survey for unit sales and spare parts, annual customer appraisal checklist for after-sales services as well as factory acceptance test for projects before delivering generators to our customer.

Additionally, in FY2024, XMH continues to arrange for factory visits for our clients in Japan, an initiative that received a lot of positive feedback from clients in FY2023.



Target for FY2024

Performance in FY2024

Target for FY2025

Maintain the record of no instances of customers rejecting deliveries due to defective or unsatisfactory products.

Target met with no instances of customers rejecting deliveries due to defective or unsatisfactory products. Maintain the record of no instances of customers rejecting deliveries due to defective or unsatisfactory products.

LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE

By fostering a culture of ethical behaviour and maintaining robust compliance frameworks, we safeguard our reputation, build trust with stakeholders, and mitigate potential legal and regulatory risks.

Regulatory Compliance

XMH is aware of the potential exposure and resulting penalties of non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations in the jurisdictions where we operate, which includes reputation damage and the loss of business opportunities. Accordingly, XMH's ethical principles are to: (i) uphold good corporate governance, (ii) ensure compliance with laws and regulations, and (iii) promote ethical business conduct.

In FY2024, XMH has sought to ensure compliance with environmental laws and/or regulations by briefing employees on best practices pertaining to environmental safety, which includes regular housekeeping and the immediate disposal of slurry water in our factory. In addition to conducting regular on-site inspections of our office and factory, the Group also arranged for monthly mosquito oil spraying and mosquito fogging exercises.

Target for FY2024	Performance in FY2024	Target for FY2025	
Maintain zero incidents of non-	Target met with no incidents of	Maintain zero incidents of non-	
compliance with applicable	non-compliance with applicable	compliance with applicable	
laws and regulations that could	laws and regulation that could	laws and regulations that could	
result in either public allegations	result in either public allegations	result in either public allegations	
of non-compliance or financial	of non-compliance or financial	of non-compliance or financial	
penalties for the Group.	penalties for the Group.	penalties for the Group.	

Anti-corruption

XMH's anti-corruption efforts are guided by our code of conduct, which serves as a comprehensive set of guidelines for all employees. To promote a culture of ethics and integrity across the Group, we familiarise all new joiners with our code of conduct while continually reinforcing key messages of our anti-corruption policies for existing employees.

The Group also encourages employees to report any suspicions of improper business conduct through our whistleblowing channels, with the reporting procedures and protection measures for whistle-blowers having been outlined in the employee handbook and whistleblowing policy. In the event of a reported whistleblowing case, the Audit Committee ensures that a prompt and thorough investigation is conducted, followed by appropriate remedial actions.

We are proud to report that in FY2024, no allegation of corruption was brought to the attention of the Audit Committee. We did not receive any whistleblowing reports related to corruption or other improper business activities. These achievements demonstrate the effectiveness of our anti-corruption framework and the commitment of our employees to uphold our ethical standards.

Moving forward, XMH will continue to review and enhance our anti-corruption policies and procedures to ensure their continued effectiveness.

Target for FY2024	Performance in FY2024	Target for FY2025
Maintain zero-tolerance approach to corruption.	Target met with no allegation of corruption reported.	Maintain zero-tolerance approach to corruption.

ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT

XMH recognizes that energy conservation is a critical component of our sustainability strategy. By taking proactive measures to reduce our energy consumption and fostering a culture of environmental responsibility, we can create a more sustainable tomorrow for our organization and the wider community.

Energy

XMH's energy initiatives aim to optimize energy usage, promote renewable energy sources, and raise awareness among employees and stakeholders about the importance of energy conservation.

Our key initiatives include:

• Solar Energy

As part of XMH's carbon roadmap to support the green economy and contribute to decarbonization, the Group completed the installation of solar panels at our facility.



Temperature Control

Maintaining air conditioning temperatures at 24 degrees Celsius helps ensure a comfortable working environment while reducing energy consumption.

LED Lighting

In an effort to use less electricity and emit fewer greenhouse gases, the organization finished installing energy-efficient LED lighting throughout our facilities.



• Paper Reuse and Recycling

We actively promote the reuse of printed papers within the organization and encourage the collection of used paper for recycling purposes. Additionally, we are transitioning towards a paper-lite approach by progressively digitalising internal business processes.

• Electric Vehicle

In an effort to reduce exhaust emissions and lower overall vehicle emissions, the Group has converted a passenger vehicle powered by petroleum and a delivery vehicle powered by diesel to electric vehicles. These are automobile that are propelled by an electric traction motor, using only energy stored in on-board batteries. Compared to conventional internal combustion engine vehicles, electric vehicles are quieter, more responsive, have superior energy conversion efficiency. To encourage employees to convert their existing vehicles to electric vehicles, the Company has installed an electrical charger for electric vehicles.



	E	Energy and Water	Consumption		
	Ву	By Geographic Region			
Categories	Singapore	Malaysia	Indonesia	Total	
FY2024					
Electricity (in kWh)	334,096	172,779	47,544	554,419	
Solar Energy (in kWh)	234,855	-	-	234,855	
Diesel (in litres)	20,543	127,980	10,618	159,141	
Water (in cubic metres)	8,290	8,467	710	17,467	
FY2023					
Electricity (in kWh)	656,219	252,124	42,891	951,234	
Diesel (in litres)	Data not available	406,390	Data not available	406,390	
Water (in cubic metres)	10,534	12,889	489	23,912	

In FY2024, the Group consumed a total of 554,419 kWh of purchased electricity, 234,855 kWh of solar energy, 159,141 litres of diesel and 17,467 cubic metres of water in our daily operations. The overall figure for electricity consumption has decreased by approximately 161,960 kWh or 17.0% in FY2024 as compared to FY2023. This was mainly because the consumption of energy from the national grid in Singapore has decreased due to the usage of energy generated from our solar panels. In the meantime, we are in the process of obtaining renewable energy certificate.

Scopes	(GHG Emissions FY2024 (in tCO₂e)				
	В	y Geographic Region	ı			
	Singapore	Malaysia	Indonesia	Total		
		<u>_</u>				
Scope 1	51	321	27	399		
Scope 2	139	131	38	308		
Total	190	452	65	707		

Our overall greenhouse gas ("**GHG**") emission in FY2024 was approximately 399 tonnes CO_2e ("**tCO**₂e") with Scope 1 emissions and approximately 308 tCO₂e with Scope 2 emissions contributing to 56.4% and 43.6% respectively of the total emissions. As this is the first year we have included Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions in our reporting, we will continue to track and monitor consumption of energy and emissions from our various sites so that we can identify areas for improvement, test, understand better and implement activities that result in greater efficiency. Our GHG emissions intensity in FY2024 based on revenue is 5.7 tCO₂e/SGD million revenue. We plan to monitor our GHG emissions intensity for the next 2 years to establish a baseline before setting our reduction targets.

Emission factors for energy consumption are based on grid emission factor for Singapore are sourced from Market Authority Electricity Grid Emission Factor, grid emission factor for Malaysia is sourced from Malaysia Energy Information Hub Grid Emission Factor and grid emission factor for Indonesia is sourced from Directorate General of Electricity Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emission Factors for Electricity Interconnection Systems. Emission factors for Diesel consumption are based on UK Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs.

By providing this information, we aim to raise awareness about our environmental impact, promote accountability, and encourage further improvement in our energy efficiency and carbon reduction efforts.

GRI CONTENT INDEX

Statement of use	XMH Holdings Ltd. has reported the information cited in this GRI content index for the period from 1 May 2023 to 30 April 2024 with reference to the GRI Standards.
GRI 1 used	GRI 1: Foundation 2021

DISCLOS	PAGE NO.	
GRI 2: G	ieneral Disclosure 2021	
2-1	Organisational details	01 & 17
2-2	Entities included in the organisation's Sustainability Report	17
2-3	Reporting period, frequency and contact point	60
2-4	Restatements of information	Not Applicable
2-5	External assurance	60
2-6	Activities, value chain and other business relationships	01 to 03
2-7	Employees	68
2-9	Governance structure and composition	20 to 22
2-10	Nomination and selection of the highest governance body	31 to 37
2-11	Chair of the highest governance body	34
2-12	Role of the highest governance body in overseeing the management of impacts	62
2-13	Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts	62
2-14	Role of the highest governance body in Sustainability Report	62
2-15	Conflicts of interest	25 & 47
2-16	Communication of critical concerns	75
2-17	Collective knowledge of the highest governance body	62
2-18	Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance body	39
2-19	Remuneration policies	40 to 44
2-20	Process to determine remuneration	40 to 44
2-22	Statement on sustainable development strategy	61
2-26	Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns	75

DISCLOS	URES	PAGE NO.
2-27	Compliance with laws and regulations	75
2-28	Membership of associations	64
2-29	Approach to stakeholder engagement	63 to 64
GRI 3: M	laterial Topics 2021	
3-1	Process to determine material topics	65 to 66
3-2	List of material topics	66
GRI 201:	Economic Performance 2016	
3-3	Management of material topics	67
201-1	Direct economic value generated and distributed	67
GRI 401	Employment 2016	
3-3	Management of material topics	68 to 71
401-1	New employee hires and employee turnover	70 to 71
401-2	Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided to temporary or part-time employees	68 to 69
GRI 404:	Training and Education 2016	
3-3	Management of material topics	71 to 72
404-1	Average hours of training per year per employee	71 to 72
404-3	Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews	72
GRI 416:	Customer Health and Safety 2016	
3-3	Management of material topics	73 to 74
416-2	Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety impacts of products and services	73 to 74
GRI 205:	Anti-corruption 2016	
3-3	Management of material topics	75
205-3	Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken	75
GRI 302:	Energy 2016	
3-3	Management of material topics	76 to 79
302-1	Energy consumption within the organisation	76 to 79

TCFD CONTENT INDEX

Based on the requirements in the Listing Rules 711A and 711B and Practice Note 7F Sustainability Reporting Guide, we have mapped our climate-related disclosures based on TCFD Recommendations as shown in the table below.

TCFD RECOMMENDATIONS DISCLOSURE

REFERENCE

GOVERNANCE		
Describe the board's oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities.	The Board of Directors oversees the management, and it also monitors, reviews, and considers the relevance and adequacy of the	Pages 61 to 62
Describe management's role in assessing and managing climate-related risks and opportunities.	Group's practices in addressing sustainability concerns and managing risks, as well as approves general policies and strategies. XMH's senior management team, comprising key management executives and supported by representatives from various departments, is responsible for translating the sustainability strategy into actionable goals and objectives. In responding to material EESG risks and opportunities, the senior management team helps integrate sustainability principles into our day-to-day operations by establishing relevant policies, implementing Group-wide initiatives, and monitoring the Group's progress towards targets. At least half-yearly reporting and communication channels are established for management to keep the Board and key stakeholders informed about the Group's sustainability performance. The Board provides strategic guidance and ensures that sustainability is integrated into our long-term business strategy, whilst holding management accountable for the managing XMH's impacts on the economy, environment, and people. This process helps to ensure all EESG and climate-related matters significant to the business are considered and adequately addressed.	Pages 63 to 66

XMH HOLDINGS LTD.

TCFD RECOMMENDATIONS	DISCLOSURE	REFERENCE
STRATEGY		
Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organization has identified over the short, medium, and long term.	XMH is adopting a phased approach towards managing climate-related risks. Identifying climate-related risks and opportunities of the Group will be carried out post-FY2024.	-
Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organisation's businesses, strategy, and financial planning.	XMH is adopting a phased approach towards managing climate-related risks. Identifying the impact on climate-related risks and opportunities on the Group's business, strategy and financial planning will be carried out post-FY2024.	-
Describe the resilience of the organisation's strategy, taking into consideration different climate-related scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario.	XMH is adopting a progressive strategy towards managing climate-related risks. Scenario analysis will be carried out post-FY2024.	-
RISK MANAGEMENT		
Describe the organisation's processes for identifying and assessing climate-related risks.	XMH is adopting a phased approach towards managing climate-related risks. Identifying and assessing climate-related risks will be carried out post-FY2024.	-
Describe the organisation's processes for managing climate-related risks.	XMH is adopting a phased approach towards managing climate-related risks. The Group's processes for managing climate-related risks will be determined and carried out post-FY2024.	-
Describe how processes for identifying, assessing, and managing climate-related risks are integrated into the organisation's overall risk management.	XMH is adopting a phased approach towards managing climate-related risks. Analysis on integration with enterprise risk management of the Group will be carried out post-FY2024.	-

TCFD RECOMMENDATIONS	DISCLOSURE	REFERENCE
METRICS AND TARGET		
Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess climate-related risks and opportunities in line with its strategy and risk management process.	As XMH Sustainability Report, we track metrics such as: – Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions; and – Non-renewal energy and water consumption.	Pages 78 to 79
Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2 and, if appropriate, Scope 3 GHG emissions, and the related risks.	 Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions are disclosed in our Report. This is the first time we reported on Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions for FY2024 based on fuel and energy consumption Group-wide. We will review, develop and report our Scope 3 GHG emissions, as and when appropriate. 	Pages 78 to 79
Describe the targets used by the organisation to manage climate-related risks and opportunities and performance against targets.	XMH is adopting a phased strategy towards managing climate-related risks. Appropriate targets shall be analysed and set post-FY2024.	-

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of XMH Holdings Ltd. (the "**Company**") and its subsidiary corporations (collectively, the "**Group**") and the statement of financial position of the Company for the financial year ended 30 April 2024.

Opinion of the directors

In the opinion of the directors,

- (i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 30 April 2024 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; and
- (ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Tan Tin Yeow Tan Guat Lian Hong Pian Tee Khoo Song Koon Raymond Lam Kuo Wei

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Except as described below, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors' interests in shares and debentures

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors' shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Act, an interest in shares and share options of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiary corporations) as stated below:

		Direct interes	t	D	eemed interes	st
Name of director and corporation in which interests are held	At the beginning of the financial year	At the end of the financial year	At 21 May 2024	At the beginning of the financial year	At the end of the financial year	At 21 May 2024
The Company						
Tan Tin Yeow						
- ordinary shares	47,563,275	68,995,187	69,542,987	-	-	-
Tan Guat Lian						
- ordinary shares	6,732,244	11,961,244	11,961,244	22,500	22,500	22,500
Hong Pian Tee						
- ordinary shares	651,750	651,750	651,750	-	-	-

By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Mr. Tan Tin Yeow is deemed to have an interest in the shares of all the subsidiary corporations to the extent held by the Company.

Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations (other than wholly owned subsidiary corporations), either at the beginning, or at the end of the financial year.

Share repurchases

During the current financial year, the Company did not repurchase (2023: did not repurchase) its own shares by way of market acquisition pursuant to the authority given to the directors under the Share Buyback Mandate approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2023.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this report are as follows:

- Khoo Song Koon (Chairman), independent director
- Hong Pian Tee, lead independent director
- Raymond Lam Kuo Wei, independent director

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with the Section 201B of the Act, the SGX-ST Listing Manual and the Code of Corporate Governance. The functions performed and further details are set out in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Audit Committee has held 4 meetings since the last directors' statement. In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with the Company's external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their examination and the internal auditor's evaluation of the Company's internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

- assistance provided by the Company's officers to the internal and external auditors;
- quarterly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their submission to the directors of the Company for adoption; and
- interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It has full authority and discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

In appointing our auditors for the Company and its subsidiary corporations, Rules 712 and 715 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual have been complied with.

Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor.

On behalf of the board of directors:

Tan Tin Yeow Director

Tan Guat Lian Director

Singapore 18 July 2024

To the members of XMH Holdings Ltd. For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of XMH Holdings Ltd. (the "**Company**") and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "**Group**"), which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 30 April 2024, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash flow statement of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the "Act") and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) ("SFRS(I)") so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 30 April 2024 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing ("SSAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority ("ACRA") Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities ("ACRA Code") together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

To the members of XMH Holdings Ltd. For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont'd)

Key audit matters (cont'd)

Revenue recognition for projects

The Group recognised \$32,494,000 of project revenue for the financial year ended 30 April 2024, which represents 26% of the Group's total revenue. Project revenue is recognised over time using cost-based input method in determining the measure of progress for revenue recognition over time. The input method involves the use of significant management estimates, including amongst others, the total estimated project costs. Accordingly, we have assessed this to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

- obtained an understanding of the financial controls with respect to the Group's project budgeting, monitoring and approval process;
- reviewed the contract terms and conditions for selected significant projects, agreed the total estimated project costs to the management approved budgets and reviewed the project files including the related correspondences;
- performed computation checks, traced actual costs incurred to the underlying supporting documents and extended our testing to actual cost incurred subsequent to year end to assess the reasonableness of the estimated cost to complete for selected projects, including completed projects;
- reviewed the contracts for the expected completion dates and discussed with management for any potential contract changes from customers, potential increases in budgeted cost amongst other factors and potential delay in meeting delivery date which might result in loss making contracts; and
- reviewed the adequacy of disclosures related to contract revenue and contract asset arising from such projects in Note 2.21(b) Project revenue, Note 3.1 Revenue recognition for project revenue and Note 4 Revenue.

To the members of XMH Holdings Ltd. For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont'd)

Key audit matters (cont'd)

Impairment assessment of goodwill and cost of investment in a subsidiary corporation

The Group recorded goodwill amounting to \$8,506,000 representing 6% of the Group's total assets as at 30 April 2024. The goodwill arose solely from the acquisition of Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd and its subsidiary (collectively, "**Mech-Power Generator Group**" or "**MPG Group**"). Arising from the same acquisition, the Company recorded cost of investment in Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd amounting to \$10,021,000 as at 30 April 2024, representing 16% of the Company's total assets. The MPG Group was identified as a single cash generating unit ("**CGU**").

An annual impairment assessment was performed on the goodwill arising from acquisition of MPG Group where the recoverable amount of MPG Group as a CGU is estimated. Management has concluded that the cost of investment relating to Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd continues to demonstrate indicator of impairment and accordingly, prepared the value-in-use ("**VIU**") calculations for the MPG Group CGU. VIU calculations are based on cash flow forecasts, which requires management to make significant judgement and estimates relating to, amongst others, budgeted gross margin, revenue, terminal growth rate and discount rate relevant to the asset. The shortfall in the recoverable amount against the carrying amount of the goodwill and cost of investment is recognised as impairment loss. Accordingly, we have assessed this to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

- obtained an understanding of management's planned strategies on revenue growth, budgeted gross margins and cost management initiatives for the MPG Group CGU;
- evaluated management's key assumptions applied in the cash flow forecasts taking into consideration our knowledge of the CGU's operations, performance and industry data;
- involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in reviewing the discount rate and terminal growth rate used by management;
- compared actual revenues and results recorded by the MPG Group CGU against forecasts prepared in the previous year to evaluate the robustness of management's budgetary process;
- reviewed management's analysis of the sensitivity of the recoverable amounts to reasonable changes in the key assumptions; and
- reviewed the adequacy of disclosures related to goodwill in Note 2.8(b) Intangible assets, impairment
 of non-financial assets in Note 2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets, cost of investment in subsidiary
 corporations in Note 2.10 Subsidiary corporations, Note 3.2(b) Impairment assessment of goodwill and
 cost of investment in subsidiary corporations, Note 12 Investment in subsidiary corporations and Note 13
 Intangible assets to the financial statements.

To the members of XMH Holdings Ltd. For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont'd)

Key audit matters (cont'd)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets balances represents 12% of the total assets of the consolidated statement of financial position are significant to the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2024. The Group recorded trade receivables and contract assets amounting to \$5,806,000 and \$11,850,000 respectively as at 30 April 2024. During the year, impairment of \$3,014,000 was recorded. Impairment losses for trade receivables and contract assets on the expected credit loss ("**ECL**") model under SFRS(I) 9.

As trade receivables and contract assets contribute a significant part of the Group's working capital, management assesses the collectability and impairment of debtors on a periodic basis. The Group determines impairment of trade receivables by making debtor-specific assessment for credit-impaired debtors and using provision matrix method to measure the expected credit losses for the remaining group of debtors. The Group's calibrates the provision matrix using historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information, given the current economic volatility. Given the significant management judgement and estimations involved in the impairment assessment, we assessed this to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

- obtained an understanding of the management's processes and controls relating to the monitoring of trade receivables and contract assets;
- discussed with management the identified credit deterioration, collection issues, repayment plans, debtors with history or long overdue receivables and reviewed correspondences with the debtors, where available;
- evaluated management's assumptions and inputs used in establishing the provision matrix through analysis of receivables ageing and contract assets, review of historical credit loss experiences and consideration of data and information used by management in determining the forward-looking adjustments based on current economic condition;
- requested, on a sample basis, trade receivable confirmations, verified receipts from the customers subsequent to statement of financial position date and inquired management on disputed receivables; and
- assessed the adequacy of the relevant disclosures included in Note 2.13 Impairment of financial assets, Note 3.2(a) Expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets and Note 16 Trade and other receivables to the financial statements.

Other information

Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

To the members of XMH Holdings Ltd. For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont'd)

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I), and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors' responsibilities include overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
 or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
 that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
 misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
 collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

To the members of XMH Holdings Ltd. For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont'd)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont'd)

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Adrian Koh Hian Yan.

Ernst & Young LLP Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants Singapore

18 July 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

	Note	2024 ¢2000	2023
		\$'000	\$'000
Revenue	4	124,172	128,679
Cost of sales		(82,359)	(101,326)
Gross profit		41,813	27,353
Other income	5	2,108	2,178
Distribution expenses		(4,850)	(4,827)
Administrative expenses		(16,914)	(14,555)
Impairment losses on financial assets		(1,622)	(335)
Net foreign exchange loss		(1,453)	(1,756)
Results from operating activities		19,082	8,058
Finance income		70	31
Finance costs		(2,568)	(2,169)
Net finance costs	6	(2,498)	(2,138)
Profit before tax	7	16,584	5,920
Income tax expense	8	(4,044)	(1,946)
Profit for the year, net of tax		12,540	3,974
Other comprehensive loss			
tems that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss			
Exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of the subsidiary corporations		(2,640)	(707)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax		(2,640)	(707)
Total comprehensive income for the year		9,900	3,267
		· · ·	· · · ·
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: Owners of the Company		12,552	3,962
Non-controlling interests		(12)	12
		12,540	3,974
		,0.10	0,07 1
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:		0.010	0.050
Owners of the Company		9,912	3,258
Non-controlling interests		(12)	9
		9,900	3,267
Earnings per share			
- Basic (cents)	9	11.45	3.61
- Diluted (cents)	9	11.45	3.61

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 April 2024

		Group		Company		
	Note	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000	
		\$ 000	<i>\</i>	<i>\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ </i>	φ 000	
ASSETS						
Non-current assets		00 701	44.000	05 005	07 170	
Property, plant and equipment	11	39,791	41,332	35,825	37,170	
Right-of-use assets nvestment in subsidiary corporations	19 12	5,251	5,478	5,105 11,297	5,375 11,297	
ntangible assets	12	 8,506	 8,506	-	11,297	
Other financial assets	13	443	394	_	_	
Club membership	13	147	167	_	_	
Deferred tax assets	8	500	656	-	_	
		54,638	56,533	52,227	53,842	
Current assets		,	,		,	
nventories	15	36,655	32,339	-	_	
Trade and other receivables	16	10,072	14,539	10,379	19,024	
Prepayment		171	184	31	33	
Contract assets	4	11,850	23,038	-	-	
Cash and short-term deposits	17	31,996	29,539	475	1,087	
Tax recoverable		690	169	38	22	
		91,434	99,808	10,923	20,166	
fotal assets		146,072	156,341	63,150	74,008	
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES						
Current liabilities						
rade and other payables	18	44,288	54,542	3,117	2,043	
Employee benefit liability	27	13	9	-	-	
Contract liabilities	4 26	1,067 22,930	1,009 14,617		_ 2,865	
Loans and borrowings Forex option structure	20	22,930	60	0,293	2,005	
Current tax payables	20	4,259	2,086	216	190	
		72,557	72,323	9,626	5,098	
Net current assets		18,877	27,485	1,297	15,068	
Non-current liabilities		10,077	27,400	1,207	10,000	
Other payables	18	100	65	100	65	
Employee benefit liability	27	124	96	_	_	
_oans and borrowings	26	14,965	33,766	11,922	29,699	
Deferred tax liabilities	8	133	153		_	
		15,322	34,080	12,022	29,764	
lotal liabilities		87,879	106,403	21,648	34,862	
Equity attributable to owners of the						
Company						
Share capital	21	39,882	39,882	39,882	39,882	
Treasury shares	22	(3,303)	(3,303)	(3,303)	(3,303)	
Other reserves	23	(15,275)	(12,635)	4 000	- 0 567	
Accumulated profits	24	<u>36,889</u> 58,193	25,982 49,926	4,923 41,502	2,567 39,146	
Non-controlling interests		50,195	49,920		- 59,140	
Total equity		58,193	49,938	41,502	39,146	
• •					,	

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

		Attributabl	e to owners of	f the Company		_	
			Foreign currency			Non-	_
	Share capital	Treasury shares	translation reserve	Accumulated profits	Total	controlling interests	Total equity
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
At 1 May 2023	39,882	(3,303)	(12,635)	25,982	49,926	12	49,938
Profit/(loss) for the year	-	-	-	12,552	12,552	(12)	12,540
Other comprehensive loss:							
Exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of the subsidiary			(0.640)		(0.040)		(0.640)
corporations	-	-	(2,640)		(2,640)	-	(2,640
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax	_	_	(2,640)	-	(2,640)	_	(2,640)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	_	-	(2,640)	12,552	9,912	(12)	9,900
Contribution by and distributions to owners							
Dividend paid on ordinary shares (Note 25)	_	_	_	(1,645)	(1,645)	_	(1,645)
Total transactions with owners	-	-	-	(1,645)	(1,645)	-	(1,645)
At 30 April 2024	39,882	(3,303)	(15,275)	36,889	58,193	_	58,193

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

		Attribu	utable to ow	vners of the C	ompany			
	Share capital \$'000	Reserve for own shares \$'000	Share option reserve \$'000	Foreign currency translation reserve \$'000	Accumulated profits \$'000	Total \$'000	Non- controlling interests \$'000	Total equity \$'000
At 1 May 2022	39,780	(3,303)	2,292	(11,931)	20,496	47,334	(113)	47,221
Profit for the year	-	-	-	-	3,962	3,962	12	3,974
Other comprehensive loss:								
Exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of the subsidiary corporations	_	_	_	(704)	_	(704)	(3)	(707)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax	-	-	-	(704)	_	(704)	(3)	(707)
Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year	_		-	(704)	3,962	3,258	9	3,267
Changes in ownership interest in subsidiary corporations								
Subscription of shares of a subsidiary corporation	_	_	-	-	_	-	116	116
Contribution by and distributions to owners								
Dividend paid on ordinary shares (Note 25)	_	_	-	-	(768)	(768)	_	(768)
ssuance of ordinary shares	102	-	-	-	-	102	-	102
Transfer of share option reserve to accumulated profits	_	_	(2,292)	_	2,292	_	-	-
Total transactions with owners	102	_	(2,292)	_	1,524	(666)	_	(666)
At 30 April 2023	39,882	(3,303)	_	(12,635)	25,982	49,926	12	49,938

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

	Note	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000
Cash flows from operating activities			
Profit before tax		16,584	5,920
Adjustments for:			
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	19	319	327
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	11	3,164	3,127
Interest income	6	(70)	(31)
Interest expense	6	2,360	2,021
Bad debts written-off	7	233	1
Recovery of bad debts	7	-	(11)
Impairment loss on receivables and contract assets, net	7	1,389	345
Fair value gain on quoted equity securities	5	(49)	(19)
Fair value loss on forex option structure	6	208	148
Inventories written-down	15	204	160
Provision/(reversal of provision) for employee benefit		40	(13)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	5	(158)	(35)
Net unrealised foreign exchange loss		925	555
Operating cash flows before changes in working capital		25,149	12,495
Changes in working capital:			
- Increase in inventories		(4,520)	(3,597)
- Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables		5,365	(5,763)
- Decrease in prepayment		13	398
- Decrease/(increase) in contract assets		8,790	(4,327)
- (Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables		(10,252)	30,969
- (Decrease)/increase in employee benefit liability		(9)	118
- Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities		58	(411)
Cash generated from operations		24,594	29,882
Tax paid, net		(2,108)	(2,604)
Net cash generated from operating activities		22,486	27,278

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

	Note	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000
Cash flows from investing activities			
Interest received		70	31
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment		2	38
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	11	(1,685)	(1,044)
Prepayment of leases	19	(66)	(83)
Payment for settlement of forex option structure		(267)	(88)
Net cash used in investing activities		(1,946)	(1,146)
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds from trust receipts		17,919	15,636
Proceeds from revolving credit facility		18,312	13,307
Interest paid		(2,327)	(1,828)
Repayment of trust receipts		(19,672)	(16,676)
Repayment of revolving credit facility		(11,569)	(13,355)
Repayment of borrowings		(15,488)	(7,789)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities		(64)	(32)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests		-	116
Dividend paid		(1,645)	(768)
Proceed from issuance of ordinary shares		-	102
Net cash used in financing activities		(14,534)	(11,287)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		6,006	14,845
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 May		29,520	15,988
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents		(3,549)	(1,313)
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 April	17	31,977	29,520

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

1. Corporate information

XMH Holdings Ltd. (the "**Company**") is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("**SGX-ST**").

The Company's registered office and principal place of business is located at 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01 Singapore 638743.

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiary corporations are disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements.

2. Material accounting policy information

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) ("SFRS(I)").

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or \$) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (\$'000), except when otherwise indicated.

2.2 New accounting standards effective on 1 May 2023

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and amended standards which are relevant to the Group and are effective for annual financial period beginning on or after 1 May 2023. The adoption of these standards did not have any material effect on the financial statements of the Group.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to standard that have been issued are not yet effective and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.

The directors expect that the adoption of these new and amended standards will have no material impact on the financial statements in the year of initial application.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary corporations as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiary corporations used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiary corporations are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Losses within a subsidiary corporation are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary corporation, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interests and other components of equity, with any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in profit or loss.

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if any), that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation, is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by another SFRS(I).

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of non-controlling interests in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.8. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont'd)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill (cont'd)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment loss.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to the Group's CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

The CGUs to which goodwill have been allocated is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the CGU may be impaired. Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of CGU (or group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates.

2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in a subsidiary corporation not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the Company.

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a subsidiary corporation that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary corporation. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

2.6 Functional and foreign currency

The financial statements are presented in SGD, which is also the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

(a) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiary corporations and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the date when the fair value was measured.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.6 Functional and foreign currency (cont'd)

(b) Consolidated financial statements

For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of subsidiaries denominated in other currencies are translated into SGD at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment and buildings are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment loss.

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Building	-	30 to 331/3 years
Plant and machinery	-	3 to 10 years
Furniture, fittings and renovations	-	3 to 10 years
Office equipment	-	1 to 10 years
Motor vehicles	-	3 to 5 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is de-recognised.

2.8 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment loss. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.8 Intangible assets (cont'd)

- (a) Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.
- (b) Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired either individually or at the CGU level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. Subsequent to initial recognition, the intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated impairment loss. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiary corporations represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination over the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets and liabilities. Impairment losses are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

(ii) Club membership

Club membership was acquired separately. Impairment losses are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is de-recognised.

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount.

An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or CGU's fair value less costs of disposal and its VIU and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written-down to its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.10 Subsidiary corporations

A subsidiary corporation is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiary corporations are accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

2.11 Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

Investments in debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for managing the asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The three measurement categories for classification of debt instruments are amortised cost, FVOCI and FVPL. The Group only has debt instruments at amortised cost.

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

Investments in equity instruments

On initial recognition of an investment in equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income which will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. Dividends from such investments are to be recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive payments is established. For investments in equity instruments which the Group has not elected to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.
For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.11 Financial instruments (cont'd)

(a) Financial assets (cont'd)

De-recognition

A financial asset is de-recognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are de-recognised, and through the amortisation process.

Forex option structure

The forex option structure is initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently measured to its fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in fair value of forex option structure is recognised in profit or loss.

De-recognition

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at banks and on hand, bank deposits and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash which are subjected to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss and contract assets. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment which could affect debtors' ability to pay.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.14 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

- Spare parts and raw materials: purchase costs on a weighted average basis.
- Raw materials (Engine): purchase costs on a specific identification basis.
- Finished goods (Engine): costs of direct materials, labour and an attributable portion of overheads, determined on a specific identification basis.
- Finished goods (Generator set) and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. These costs are assigned on a first-in first-out basis.

Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow-moving items to adjust the carrying value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.16 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Government grant shall be recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Grants related to income may be presented as a credit in profit or loss under "Other income".

2.17 Financial guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are measured higher of the amount of expected credit loss determined in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.13 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised over the period of the guarantee.

2.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.19 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plan

As required by law, the Group makes contributions to the state pension scheme in their respective countries, the Central Provident Fund ("**CPF**") in Singapore and Employees Provident Fund ("**EPF**") in Malaysia. CPF and EPF contributions are recognised as compensation expenses in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the contributions.

(b) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

(c) Defined benefit plan

The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period reduced by the fair value of plan assets (if any).

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined separately for each plan using the projected unit credit method. Defined benefit costs comprise the following:

- Service cost
- Interest on defined benefit liability
- Remeasurements of defined benefit liability

Service costs which include current service costs, past service costs and gains or losses on nonroutine settlements are recognised as expense in profit or loss. Past service costs are recognised when plan amendment or curtailment occurs.

Remeasurements on the defined benefit liability comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest). The Group recognises them in other comprehensive income.

The Group's right to be reimbursed of some or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit obligation is recognised as a separate asset at fair value when and only when reimbursement is virtually certain.

2.20 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.20 Leases (cont'd)

(a) As lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets ("**ROU**") representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(i) ROU

The Group recognises ROU at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). ROU are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of ROU includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. ROU are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the assets, as follows:

Land use rights	-	30 years
Leasehold building	-	2 years to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The ROU are also subject to impairment. The accounting policy for impairment is disclosed in Note 2.9.

(ii) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. The Group's lease liabilities are included in Note 26.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.20 Leases (cont'd)

(a) As lessee (cont'd)

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(b) As lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.21 Revenue

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and all criteria for acceptance has been satisfied. An estimated transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling prices of the promised goods and services.

(b) Project revenue

Revenue is recognised when the control over the work completed has been transferred to the customer. At contract inception, the Group assesses whether the Group transfers control of the performance over time or at a point in time by determining if (a) its performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group; and (b) the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.21 Revenue (cont'd)

(b) Project revenue (cont'd)

For contracts where the performance completed has no alternative use to the Group due to contractual restriction and the Group has enforceable rights to payment arising from the contractual terms, revenue is recognised over time by reference to the Group's progress towards completing the performance. The measurement of progress is determined based on the proportion of contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs ("**input method**"). Costs incurred that are not related to the contract or that do not contribute towards satisfying a performance obligation are excluded from the measure of progress and instead are expensed as incurred.

Management has determined that input method provides a faithful depiction of the Group's performance in transferring control over the performance to the customers, as it reflects the Group's efforts incurred to date relative to the total inputs expected to be incurred for the performance.

The period between the transfer of the promised goods and payment by the customer may exceed one year. For such contracts, there is no significant financing component present as the payment terms is an industry practice to protect the performing entity from the customers' failure to adequately complete some or all of its obligations under the contract. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Revenue from projects are also adjusted with variations to the contracts claimable from customers, as well as liquidated damages due to delays or other causes, payable to customers.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion are revised if circumstances change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in the profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management.

Based on the Group's experience with similar types of contracts, variable consideration is typically constrained and is included in the transaction only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

The customer is invoiced on a progressive work certification basis. If the value of the progress work transferred by the Group exceed the billings to customers, a contract asset is recognised. If the billings to customers exceed the value of the goods transferred, a contract liability is recognised.

Revenue from short-term projects and maintenance services is recognised at a point in time when the services are rendered.

(c) After-sales service fee

After-sales service fee is recognised in profit or loss as and when services are rendered.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.21 Revenue (cont'd)

(d) Finance income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

(e) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Group's right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted equity securities is normally the ex-dividend date.

2.22 Taxes

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary corporations and associate, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.22 Taxes (cont'd)

(b) Deferred tax (cont'd)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

- Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary corporations and associate, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition.

(c) Goods and services tax ("GST")

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

- Where the GST incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of GST included.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

2. Material accounting policy information (cont'd)

2.23 Share capital and share issuance expenses

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.24 Treasury shares

The Group's own equity instruments, which are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount of treasury shares and the consideration received, if reissued, is recognised directly in equity. Voting rights related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them respectively.

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

3.1 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Revenue recognition for project revenue

The Group has ongoing contracts at each reporting date with customers for performance obligation.

Project revenue is recognised over time by reference to the Group's progress towards completing the performance. The measurement of progress is determined based on the input method. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total revenue, a provision for onerous contract is recognised in the profit or loss immediately. Revenue recognised on these contracts but unbilled to customers are presented as contract assets on the statement of financial position.

Under the input method, estimated total contract costs on each project is a key input that is subject to significant estimation uncertainty. At every reporting date, management re-evaluates, *inter alia*, the estimated total contract costs by updating the estimated contract costs to be incurred from the reporting date to the completion date of the projects ("**costs-to-complete**").

In making estimation of the total costs-to-complete, management has applied its past experience of completing similar projects, as well as quotations from and contracts with suppliers and sub-contractors.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont'd)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

(a) Expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. At every reporting date, historical default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Estimation and judgement are used in computing the ECL and the Group has grouped them based on shared credit risk characteristics. Separate provision matrices are applied to each customer groupings and the historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect the current and forward-looking information.

In calculating the ECL rates, the Group has considered the volatility of the forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to repay their debts and the probabilities assigned to each scenario are disclosed in Note 30.

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions and hence, ECLs is a significant estimate. The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer's actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in Note 16 and Note 4(c) respectively.

The carrying amount of trade receivables and contract assets as at 30 April 2024 are \$5,806,000 (2023: \$10,887,000) and \$11,850,000 (2023: \$23,038,000) respectively.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont'd)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont'd)

(b) Impairment assessment of goodwill and cost of investment in subsidiary corporations

The Group's goodwill and the Company's cost of investment in subsidiary corporations are subjected to impairment assessment for the financial year ended 30 April 2024. Management assesses goodwill impairment annually. For the Company's cost of investment in subsidiary corporations, management performs an assessment to ascertain whether indicators of impairment are present. For impairment assessments of goodwill and cost of investment in subsidiary corporations, management uses a discounted cash flow model which involves significant judgement in estimating the recoverable values of these assets. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the projected revenue, gross margins, terminal growth rate and discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model. The key assumptions applied in the determination of the VIU including a sensitivity analysis, are disclosed and further explained in Note 12 and 13 to the financial statements. The carrying amount of the Group's goodwill and the Company's cost of investment in subsidiary corporations as at 30 April 2024 are \$8,506,000 (2023: \$8,506,000) and \$11,297,000 (2023: \$11,297,000) respectively.

(c) Taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies.

The carrying amount of recognised tax losses at 30 April 2024 was \$3,721,000 (2023: \$3,550,000) and there were no unrecognised tax losses as at 30 April 2024. (2023: Unrecognised tax losses as at 30 April 2023 was \$458,000).

Further details on taxes are disclosed in Note 8.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

4. Revenue

(a) Disaggregation of revenue

	Distri	oution	n After-sales Project		ject	Total r	evenue	
Segments	2024	2023	2024	2023	2024	2023	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Primary geographical markets								
Singapore	500	79	3,383	2,955	26,734	64,674	30,617	67,708
Indonesia	75,378	49,804	7,238	6,077	-	-	82,616	55,881
Vietnam	1,687	1,993	319	747	-	-	2,006	2,740
Other countries	326	642	2,847	1,672	5,760	36	8,933	2,350
	77,891	52,518	13,787	11,451	32,494	64,710	124,172	128,679
Timing of transfer of goods and services								
At a point in time	77,891	52,518	13,787	11,451	-	-	91,678	63,969
Over time	-	-	-	_	32,494	64,710	32,494	64,710
	77,891	52,518	13,787	11,451	32,494	64,710	124,172	128,679

(b) Judgement and methods used in estimating revenue

(i) Recognition of revenue from projects over time

For the revenue arising from projects where the Group satisfies its performance obligations over time, management has determined that a cost-based input method provides a faithful depiction of the Group's performance in transferring control of the projects to the customers, as it reflects the Group's efforts incurred to date relative to the total inputs expected to be incurred for the projects. The measure of progress is based on the costs incurred to date as a proportion of total costs expected to be incurred up to the completion of the projects.

The estimated total construction and other related costs are based on contracted amounts and, in respect of amounts not contracted for, management relies on past experience and knowledge of the project engineers to make estimates of the amounts to be incurred. In making these estimates, management takes into consideration the historical trends of the amounts incurred in its other similar projects.

(ii) Determining transaction price and amounts allocated to sale and commissioning

For the bundled packages of sale and commissioning, the Group allocates the transaction price to the sale of equipment and commissioning service based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices are determined based on estimated costs plus margin.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

4. Revenue (cont'd)

(c) Contract assets and contract liabilities

Information about trade receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers is disclosed as follows:

		Group			
	30 April 2024	30 April 2023	1 May 2022		
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000		
Trade receivables (Note 16)	5,806	10,887	4,984		
Contract assets	11,850	23,038	18,675		
Contract liabilities	(1,067)	(1,009)	(1,420)		

Contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to consideration for work completed but not yet billed at reporting date for project work. Contract assets are transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional.

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to customers for which the Group has received advances from customers for project work.

Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue as the Group performs under the contract.

(i) Significant changes in contract assets are explained as follows:

	Gr	Group		
	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000		
Contract assets reclassified to receivables	(17,323)	(14,721)		
Changes in estimate of transaction price	455	404		
(Impairment loss)/write-back on contract assets	(2,398)	36		

(ii) Significant changes in contract liabilities are explained as follows:

	Gr	Group		
	2024	2023		
	\$'000	\$'000		
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year	1,009	1,420		

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

5. Other income

	Gr	oup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
Fair value gain on quoted equity securities	49	19
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	158	35
Government grants and rebates	21	73
Insurance claims	4	13
Rental income	1,558	1,866
Recovery of transportation expense from customers	88	47
Scrap sales	55	60
Others	175	65
	2,108	2,178

During the financial year, the Group received government grants and rebates amounting to \$21,000 (2023: \$73,000).

6. Net finance costs

	G	roup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
nterest income on bank deposits	70	31
Finance income	70	31
nterest expense on loans and borrowings	(2,360)	(2,021)
Fair value loss on forex option structure	(208)	(148)
Finance costs	(2,568)	(2,169)
Net finance costs recognised in profit or loss	(2,498)	(2,138)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

7. Profit before tax

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax:

	Gre	oup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
Audit fees paid/payable to:		
- auditor of the Company	229	216
- affiliate of auditor of the Company	15	16
- other auditors	11	11
Non-audit fees paid/payable to:		
- affiliate of auditor of the Company	4	4
Staff costs	13,749	11,845
Contribution to defined contribution plans included in staff costs	787	732
Directors' fees	179	179
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	3,164	3,127
Inventories written-down	204	160
Post-employment benefits/(reversal of) under defined benefit plan	40	(13
(Impairment write-back)/impairment loss on financial assets, net:		
- trade and other receivables	(1,009)	381
- contract assets	2,398	(36
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets and short-term leases	180	120
Bad debts written-off	233	1
Recovery of bad debts	-	(11
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	319	327

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

8. Income tax expense

(a) Major components of income tax expense

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023 are:

	Group		
	2024	2023	
	\$'000	\$'000	
Current income tax			
Current year	4,234	2,100	
Under provision in respect of previous years	122	183	
Deferred income tax			
Origination and reversal of temporary difference	(317)	(187)	
Under/(over) provision in respect of previous years	5	(150)	
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss	4,044	1,946	

(b) Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable corporate tax rate for the financial years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

	Gro	oup
	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000
Profit before tax	16,584	5,920
Tax at applicable corporate tax rate of 17% (2023: 17%) Adjustments:	2,819	1,006
- Effect of different tax rate in a foreign jurisdiction	114	88
 Non-deductible expenses Income not subject to tax 	946 (116)	788 (5)
- Tax incentives and reliefs	(202)	(36)
 Benefits from previously unrecognised tax losses Under provision in respect of previous years for current tax 	(99) 122	(16) 183
- Under/(over) provision in respect of previous years for deferred tax	5	(150)
- Deferred tax asset not recognised - Others	- 455	80 8
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss	4,044	1,946

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

8. Income tax expense (cont'd)

(b) Relationship between tax expense and accounting profit (cont'd)

The unrecognised tax losses are as follows:

	Gr	oup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
Unrecognised tax losses	_	458

As at 30 April 2024, the Group has recognised deferred tax asset for all unutilised tax losses that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies to which the losses arose. The use of unutilised capital allowances and tax losses is subject to agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with certain provisions of tax regulation in Singapore.

Tax consequences of proposed dividends

There are no income tax consequences attached to the dividends to the shareholders proposed by the Company but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements for the financial years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023 (Note 25).

(c) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Movements in deferred tax of the Group during the year are as follows:

Group	At 1 May 2023 \$'000	Recognised in profit or loss \$'000	Utilised as Group relief \$'000	At 30 April 2024 \$'000
Deferred tax assets, net			,	,
Provisions	200	295	_	495
	200	295	-	495
Unutilised capital allowances and tax losses	448	-	(448)	-
Differences in depreciation for tax purposes	8	(3)	-	5
Total	656	292	(448)	500
Deferred tax liabilities, net				
Provisions	3	8	-	11
Differences in depreciation for tax purposes	(87)	4	_	(83)
Fair value adjustments on acquisition of subsidiary corporations				
- Loans and borrowings	(69)	8	-	(61)
Total	(153)	20	_	(133)

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

8. Income tax expense (cont'd)

(c) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (cont'd)

Group	At 1 May 2022	Recognised in profit or loss	At 30 April 2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Deferred tax assets, net			
Provisions	57	143	200
Unutilised capital allowances and tax losses	229	219	448
Differences in depreciation for tax purposes	13	(5)	8
Total	299	357	656
Deferred tax liabilities, net			
Provisions	38	(35)	3
Differences in depreciation for tax purposes	(94)	7	(87)
Fair value adjustments on acquisition of subsidiary corporations			
- Loans and borrowings	(77)	8	(69)
Total	(133)	(20)	(153)

9. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the results from continuing operations, net of tax, attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (excluding treasury shares).

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the results from operations, net of tax, attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following tables reflect the profit and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the financial years ended 30 April:

	Gr	Group	
	2024	2023	
	\$'000	\$'000	
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company	12,552	3,962	

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

9. Earnings per share (cont'd)

	No. of shares	
	2024	2023
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and		100 105 170
diluted earnings outstanding during the year	109,643,921	109,495,479

In the previous financial year, employees of the Group have exercised the options to acquire 461,200 ordinary shares through issuance and allotment of new ordinary shares. There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares since the reporting date and before the completion of these financial statements.

10. Share-based payments

The XMH share option scheme (the "**Scheme**") was approved by shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 5 November 2010. The Scheme applies to executive directors and independent directors of the Company and full-time employees of the Group (the "**Participants**").

Terms and conditions of the Scheme

The Scheme is administered by the Company's Remuneration Committee. Other information regarding the Scheme is set out below:

- The exercise price (the "Exercise Price") for each share in respect of which a Market Price Option is exercisable shall be determined and fixed by the Remuneration Committee and shall be equal to the average of the closing prices of the share for the past five market days immediately preceding the relevant date of grant of the option (the "Market Price"), in the case of an option granted at Market Price.
- The Remuneration Committee may grant options on a yearly basis and any such grants shall be made at least 60 days after the end of the financial year of the Company.
- The period for the exercise (the "Exercise Period") of an option granted under the Scheme shall be:
 - (a) in the case of an option granted at Market Price (the "Market Price Option"), a period commencing after the first anniversary of the relevant date of the grant and expiring on the fifth anniversary of such grant date, or such other period which may from time to time be prescribed under any relevant law, regulation or rule of the SGX-ST for such Market Price Option; and
 - (b) in the case of an option granted at a discount of up to 20% of the Market Price (the "Incentive Option"), a period commencing after the second anniversary of the relevant date of the grant and expiring on the fifth anniversary of such grant date, or such other period which may from time to time be prescribed under any relevant law, regulation or rule of the SGX-ST for such Incentive Option.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does not have a past practice of cash settlement for these awards.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

10. Share-based payments (cont'd)

Disclosure of the Scheme

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

	Weighted average exercise price	Number of options
Group	2023	2023
	\$	'000
At 1 May	0.220	1,047
Exercised during the year	0.220	(461)
Lapsed during the year	0.220	(586)
Options outstanding at 30 April		-
Options exercisable at 30 April		_

Inputs for measurement of grant date fair values

The fair value of the Scheme on grant date was measured based on a Binomial model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management's best estimate, for details of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

During the financial years ended 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2024, the Group did not recognise share-based payment expenses relating to the share options granted under the Scheme.

As at 30 April 2023 and 30 April 2024, there are no outstanding balance of unexercised options under the XMH Share Option Scheme. The XMH Share Option Scheme expired during the financial year ended 30 April 2023 and there is no mandate for the renewal of the Scheme.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

11. Property, plant and equipment

Group	Freehold land \$'000	Building \$'000	Plant and machinery \$'000	Furniture, fittings and renovations \$'000	Office equipment \$'000	Motor vehicles \$'000	Total \$'000
Cost:		,	,		,		
At 1 May 2022	786	51,263	4,903	11,896	1,556	1,122	71,526
Additions	_	4	800	33	67	, 140	1,044
Disposals	_	_	(13)	_	_	(56)	(69)
Currency translation differences	(42)	(125)	(298)	(21)	(44)	(24)	(554)
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023	744	51,142	5,392	11,908	1,579	1,182	71,947
Additions	_	765	42	137	100	720	1,764
Disposals	_	-	(1)	-	-	(478)	(479)
Write-off	_	-	(145)	(3)	(6)	(33)	(187)
Currency translation differences	(36)	(105)	(379)	(19)	(63)	(34)	(636)
At 30 April 2024	708	51,802	4,909	12,023	1,610	1,357	72,409
Accumulated depreciation:							
At 1 May 2022	_	12,733	4,544	8,287	1,388	1,005	27,957
Depreciation for the year	_	1,826	173	996	55	77	3,127
Disposals	_	_	(13)	-	_	(53)	(66)
Currency translation differences	_	(38)	(280)	(20)	(41)	(24)	(403)
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023	-	14,521	4,424	9,263	1,402	1,005	30,615
Depreciation for the year	-	1,837	144	1,002	54	127	3,164
Disposals	-	-	(1)	_	-	(478)	(479)
Write-off	-	-	(145)	(3)	(6)	(33)	(187)
Currency translation differences	_	(34)	(356)	(20)	(60)	(25)	(495)
At 30 April 2024	-	16,324	4,066	10,242	1,390	596	32,618
Net carrying amount:							
At 30 April 2023	744	36,621	968	2,645	177	177	41,332
At 30 April 2024	708	35,478	843	1,781	220	761	39,791

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

11. Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

Company	Building \$'000	Furniture, fittings and renovations \$'000	Office equipment \$'000	Motor vehicles \$'000	Total \$'000
Cost:	<i></i>	<i><i><i>v</i></i> 000</i>		<i>\</i>	<i><i>v</i></i> <i>v v v</i>
At 1 May 2022	46,150	10,520	156	402	57,228
Additions	4	_	_	_	4
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023	46,154	10,520	156	402	57,232
Additions	765	128	2	590	1,485
Disposal	-	-	-	(402)	(402)
At 30 April 2024	46,919	10,648	158	590	58,315
Accumulated depreciation:					
At 1 May 2022	9,850	6,914	156	402	17,322
Depreciation for the year	1,759	981	_	_	2,740
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023	11,609	7,895	156	402	20,062
Depreciation for the year	1,774	987	1	68	2,830
Disposal	-		-	(402)	(402)
At 30 April 2024	13,383	8,882	157	68	22,490
Net carrying amount:					
At 30 April 2023	34,545	2,625	_	_	37,170
At 30 April 2024	33,536	1,766	1	522	35,825

The Group has land use rights over 55 Tuas Crescent, Singapore 638743 where the Group's office resides. The land use rights are transferable with prior written consent of Jurong Town Corporation and have a remaining tenure of 19 years (2023: 20 years).

During the financial year, the cash outflow for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounted to \$1,685,000 (2023: \$1,044,000). There were non-cash additions to property, plant and equipment relating to hire-purchase of Motor vehicle amounting to \$200,000 of which \$57,000 principal was paid during the financial year. The addition of office equipment includes grant receivables amounting to \$121,000 and is presented on a net basis.

Assets pledged as securities

The Group's land and building with a carrying amount at \$36,186,000 (2023: \$37,365,000) are mortgaged to secure the Group's bank loans (Note 26).

The carrying amount of motor vehicles held under finance leases is \$534,000 (2023: \$24,000) as at 30 April 2024 including motor vehicle held in trust by the Director of the Company with net book value of \$522,000 (2023: \$nil).

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

12. Investment in subsidiary corporations

	Con	npany	
	2024	2023	
	\$'000	\$'000	
Unquoted equity investment, at cost	18,701	18,701	
Accumulated impairment loss	(7,404)	(7,404)	
	11,297	11,297	

Movements in accumulated impairment loss are as follows:

	Cor	Company	
	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000	
At 1 May and 30 April	7,404	7,404	

The Group considers the relationship between its market capitalisation and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators of impairment. As at 30 April 2024 and 2023, the market capitalisation of the Group was below the book value of its equity, indicating a potential impairment of investment in subsidiary corporations.

In current and previous financial year, no impairment loss was recognised in the profit or loss statement. The Company used the VIU approach to estimate its recoverable amount. These calculations are based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections and the forecasted revenue growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows projections beyond the five-year period are stated below. The discount rate and revenue growth rates did not exceed the long-term projected growth rate for the relevant market.

	Revenue gi	rowth rate*	Pre-tax discount rate		Terminal growth rate		
	FY2026- FY2029	FY2025- FY2028	2024	2023	2024	2023	
	%	%	%	%	%	%	
Key assumptions	5.0	5.0	17.1	12.0	2.0	2.0	

* FY2025 (2023: FY2024) revenue was forecasted based on the secured orders and potential orders estimated from order books as at 30 April 2024.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

12. Investment in subsidiary corporations (cont'd)

(a) Composition of the Group

The details of the subsidiary corporations are as follows:

Held by the Company Xin Ming Hua Pte Ltd (" XMHPL ") (Singapore)	Supply of engines, general machinery and machinery equipment for marine, agriculture, construction and industrial use including spare parts and after- sales services	2024 % 100	2023 % 100
Xin Ming Hua Pte Ltd (" XMHPL ") (Singapore)	machinery and machinery equipment for marine, agriculture, construction and industrial use including spare parts and after-		
Xin Ming Hua Pte Ltd (" XMHPL ") (Singapore)	machinery and machinery equipment for marine, agriculture, construction and industrial use including spare parts and after-	100	100
(" XMHPL ") (Singapore)	machinery and machinery equipment for marine, agriculture, construction and industrial use including spare parts and after-	100	100
XMU Logistics Dto 1 td *			
(Singapore)	General warehouse, supporting services to land transfer and investment holding	100	100
PT Xin Ming Hua Engine (Indonesia)	Trading of machinery, spare parts and equipment	100	100
Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd (Singapore)	Assembly, sales of generators and related accessories and investment holding	100	100
Held through Mech-Power Gene	rator Pte Ltd		
Mech Power Generator Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)	Manufacturers, importers, exporters of generating sets, spare parts, general engineering and other related products	100	100
Held through XMH Logistics Pte.	. Ltd.*		
Vivo Power Myanmar Company Limited ^ (Myanmar)	Manufacture and/or assemble of transformers, generator sets, power solution products and after-sales maintenance services	-	50
Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore. Audited by Ernst & Young PLT, Malaysia.			
	PT Xin Ming Hua Engine (Indonesia) Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd (Singapore) Held through Mech-Power Gene Mech Power Generator Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia) Held through XMH Logistics Pte Vivo Power Myanmar Company Limited ^ (Myanmar) Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore. Audited by Ernst & Young PLT, Malaysia.	(Singapore)services to land transfer and investment holdingPT Xin Ming Hua Engine (Indonesia)Trading of machinery, spare parts and equipmentMech-Power Generator Pte Ltd (Singapore)Assembly, sales of generators and related accessories and investment holdingHeld through Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd Mech Power Generator Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)Manufacturers, importers, exporters of generating sets, spare parts, general engineering and other related productsHeld through XMH Logistics Pte. Ltd.*Manufacture and/or assemble of transformers, generator sets, power solution products and after-sales maintenance services	(Singapore)services to land transfer and investment holdingPT Xin Ming Hua Engine (Indonesia)Trading of machinery, spare parts and equipment100Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd (Singapore)Assembly, sales of generators and related accessories and investment holding100Held through Mech-Power Generator Pte Ltd Mech Power Generator Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)Manufacturers, importers, exporters of generating sets, spare parts, general engineering and other related products100Held through XMH Logistics Pte. Ltd.* Vivo Power Myanmar Company Limited ^ (Myanmar)Manufacture and/or assemble of transformers, generator sets, power solution products and after-sales maintenance services-

(4) Audited by GRM International Limited (formerly known as Thein Htay & Associates Audit Firm), Myanmar.

* Formerly known as XMH Engineering Pte. Ltd.

[^] The subsidiary is undergoing voluntary liquidation as at 30 April 2024.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

12. Investment in subsidiary corporations (cont'd)

(b) Partly-owned subsidiary

In previous financial year, the Group has the following subsidiary with NCI.

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests:

Name of company	Country of incorporation and operation	2023 %
Vivo Power Myanmar Company Limited	Myanmar	50
		\$'000
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interests:		
Vivo Power Myanmar Company Limited		12
Profit allocated to non-controlling interests:		
Vivo Power Myanmar Company Limited		12

Set out below are the summarised financial information for the subsidiary that has non-controlling interests. These are presented before inter-company eliminations.

Summarised statement of profit or loss

	2023
	\$'000
Revenue	53
Cost of sales	_
Other income	6
Distribution expenses	(1)
Administrative expenses	(47)
Net finance income	13
Profit before tax	24
Income tax	
Profit for the year	24
Total comprehensive income	24
Attributable to non-controlling interests	12

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

12. Investment in subsidiary corporations (cont'd)

(b) Partly-owned subsidiary (cont'd)

Summarised statement of financial position

	2023 \$'000
Trade and other receivables (current)	30
Trade and other payables (current)	(5)
Total equity	25
Attributable to:	
Equity holders of parent	13
Non-controlling interests	12

Summarised statement of cash flows information

	2023
	\$'000
Operating	(24)
Investing	6
Financing	(76)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	(94)

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

13. Intangible assets/club membership

Group	Goodwill	Intellectual property rights	Total	
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	
Cost:				
At 1 May 2022	9,393	436	9,829	
Written-off	_	(9)	(9)	
Currency translation differences		(31)	(31)	
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023	9,393	396	9,789	
Currency translation differences	-	(47)	(47)	
At 30 April 2024	9,393	349	9,742	
Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss:				
At 1 May 2022	887	436	1,323	
Written-off	_	(9)	(9)	
Currency translation differences		(31)	(31)	
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023	887	396	1,283	
Currency translation differences	-	(47)	(47)	
At 30 April 2024	887	349	1,236	
Net carrying amount:				
At 30 April 2023	8,506		8,506	
At 30 April 2024	8,506	_	8,506	

Impairment assessment for CGU containing goodwill

The goodwill recognised is entirely allocated to MPG Group as a single CGU which arose from the acquisition of the entire equity interest of MPG Group on 7 September 2013.

The recoverable amount of the MPG Group was determined based on its VIU. The VIU approach was calculated by discounting the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGU.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

13. Intangible assets/club membership (cont'd)

Impairment assessment for CGU containing goodwill (cont'd)

The VIU approach was used based on discounted cash flow projections covering a five-year period. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections and the forecasted growth rates used to extrapolate cash flow projections beyond the five-year period are stated below. The discount rate and revenue growth rates did not exceed the long-term projected growth rate for the relevant market.

	Revenue g	rowth rate*	Pre-tax discount rate		Terminal growth rate	
	FY2026- FY2029	FY2025- FY2028	2024	2023	2024	2023
	%	%	%	%	%	%
Key assumptions	5.0	5.0	17.1	12.0	2.0	2.0

* FY2025 (2023: FY2024) revenue was forecasted based on the secured orders and potential orders estimated from order books as at 30 April 2024.

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management's assessment of future trends of the industry in which the MPG Group operates and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data).

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions

With regards to the assessment of VIU for the MPG Group, management believes that no reasonably possible changes in any of the key assumptions would further cause the carrying value of the unit to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

	G	roup
Club membership	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
At cost	180	180
Currency translation differences	(33)	(13)
	147	167

14. Other financial assets

	G	iroup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
Non-current financial assets		
Fair value through profit or loss		
Equity securities (quoted)	443	394

Details of valuation techniques and inputs are disclosed in Note 31 to financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

135

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

15. Inventories

	Gr	oup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
Statement of financial position:		
Spare parts (at cost)	15,051	11,884
Raw materials (at cost)	7,364	5,670
Finished goods (at cost or net realisable value)		
- Engines	14,240	14,785
	36,655	32,339
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:		
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales		
Inclusive of the following charge:	82,359	101,326
Inventories written-down	204	160

16. Trade and other receivables

	Group		Com	pany
	2024	2023	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Trade receivables	5,955	12,065	_	_
Retention sum	151	90	-	-
GST receivables	935	732	-	-
Allowance for trade receivables	(149)	(1,178)	-	-
	6,892	11,709	-	_
Amounts due from subsidiary corporations (non-trade)	_	_	1,051	8,755
Deposits	1,980	2,044	88	87
Dividend receivables	-	-	9,100	9,900
Other receivables	1,122	730	140	282
Advances to staff	78	56	-	-
Total trade and other receivables	10,072	14,539	10,379	19,024
Add: Cash and short-term deposits	31,996	29,539	475	1,087
Less: GST receivables	(935)	(732)	-	-
Total financial assets carried at amortised cost	41,133	43,346	10,854	20,111

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

16. Trade and other receivables (cont'd)

Excluding the interest-bearing receivables disclosed below, all other trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 60 days' terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Amounts due from subsidiary corporations are unsecured and non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand. (2023: Amounts due from subsidiary corporations include unsecured intercompany loans that bears interest rate of 5.2% to 5.4% and repayable over 3 months.)

The advances to staff are unsecured and non-interest bearing and are repayable on demand.

Expected credit losses

The movement in allowance for expected credit losses of trade and other receivables and contract assets computed based on lifetime ECL are as follows:

		Group			
	Trade	Other	Contract	T	
	receivables	receivables	assets	Total	
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	
2024					
Movement in allowance accounts:					
At 1 May	1,178	-*	813	1,991	
Charge for the year	14	-*	3,000	3,014	
Write-back of allowance	(1,023)	-	(602)	(1,625)	
Write-off of allowance	(18)	-	-	(18)	
Currency translation differences	(2)		_	(2)	
At 30 April	149	_*	3,211	3,360	
2023					
Novement in allowance accounts:					
At 1 May	923	_	849	1,772	
Charge for the year	937	_*	_	937	
Nrite-back of allowance	(556)	_	(36)	(592)	
Write-off of allowance	(111)	_	_	(111)	
Currency translation differences	(15)		_	(15)	
At 30 April	1,178	_*	813	1,991	

* less than \$1,000.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

17. Cash and short-term deposits

	Group		Company	
	2024	2023	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Cash at bank and on hand	21.077	29,520	475	1 097
	31,977	29,520	475	1,087
Short-term deposits	19	19	-	_
	31,996	29,539	475	1,087
Less:				
Pledged fixed deposits	(19)	(19)	_	
Cash and cash equivalents in the			_	
consolidated statement of cash flows	31,977	29,520	_	

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of 12 months (2023: 12 months) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and the Company, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates. Interest earned at rates of 1.85% (2023: 1.85%) per annum.

The pledged fixed deposits with licensed banks are pledged to bank for bank guarantee facility granted to the Group.

The credit risk on cash and short-term deposits is minimal as these are placed with reputable banks with good credit ratings.

18. Trade and other payables

	Gr	oup	Com	pany
	2024	2023	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Trade payables	12,715	21,490	-	-
Accrued operating expenses	5,282	4,719	2,341	1,356
Advance deposits	25,303	27,456	-	-
Amount due to a subsidiary corporation	-	-	33	13
Other payables	905	826	714	623
GST payables	183	116	129	116
Total trade and other payables	44,388	54,607	3,217	2,108
Add: Loans and borrowings (Note 26)	37,895	48,383	18,215	32,564
Less: GST payables	(183)	(116)	(129)	(116)
Less: Advance deposits	(25,303)	(27,456)	-	-
Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost	56,797	75,418	21,303	34,556

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

18. Trade and other payables (cont'd)

	Gro	Group		pany	
	2024 2023 2	2024 2023	2024 2023	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	
Non-current	100	65	100	65	
Current	44,288	54,542	3,117	2,043	
	44,388	54,607	3,217	2,108	

Trade payables of the Group are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 120 days' terms.

Advance deposits of the Group mainly pertains to downpayment deposits collected from customers for sale of diesel engines and its related parts.

Other payables of the Group and Company are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 180 days' terms.

Amount due to a subsidiary corporation are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand and are to be settled in cash.

19. Leases/Right-of-use assets

Group as lessee

The Group has lease contracts for leasehold building and office equipment used in its operations. These leases generally have lease terms between 2 years and 5 years, while land use rights have a lease term of 30 years. The Group's obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor's title to the leased assets.

The Group also has leases for dormitories and motor vehicles with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases for office equipment at a low value. The Group applies the 'short-term lease' recognition exemption for these leases.

		Group		
	Land use rights \$'000	Leasehold building \$'000	Total \$'000	
	φ 000	\$ 555	\$ 000	
As at 1 May 2022	5,645	70	5,715	
Additions	-	96	96	
Depreciation expenses	(270)	(57)	(327)	
Currency translation differences		(6)	(6)	
As at 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023	5,375	103	5,478	
Additions	-	98	98	
Depreciation expenses	(270)	(49)	(319)	
Currency translation differences	_	(6)	(6)	
As at 30 April 2024	5,105	146	5,251	

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

19. Leases/Right-of-use assets (cont'd)

Company as lessee

The Company has a lease contract for land use rights used in operations. The lease has terms of 30 years and the lease payments were made upfront.

		Company Land use rights	
		2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000
As at 1 May		5,375	5,645
Depreciation expenses		(270)	(270)
As at 30 April		5,105	5,375

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under loans and borrowings) and the movement during the year:

	Gi	oup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
As at 1 May	83	102
Additions	231	13
Payments	(64)	(32)
Accretion of interests	_*	_*
Currency translation differences	_*	_*
As at 30 April	250	83
Current	113	33
Non-current	137	50
	250	83

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 30.

* less than \$1,000.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

19. Leases/Right-of-use assets (cont'd)

Company as lessee (cont'd)

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

	Group	
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	319	327
Interest expense on lease liabilities	_*	_*
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets and short-term leases (included in administrative expenses)	180	120
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets and short-term leases (included in cost of sales)	85	381
Total amount recognised in profit or loss	584	828

* less than \$1,000.

During the financial year, the Group had total cash outflows for leases of \$329,000 (2023: \$533,000). The Group prepaid \$66,000 (2023: \$83,000) of right-of-use assets in the current financial year and had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of \$32,000 (2023: \$13,000).

Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its building. These non-cancellable operating leases have remaining lease terms of between one month to 2 years. All leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis based on prevailing market conditions.

Future minimum rental receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

	(Group	
	2024	2023	
	\$'000	\$'000	
Within one year	1,710	1,165	
Between one and five years	605	206	
	2,315	1,371	

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

20. Forex option structure

	Group			
	Notional amount			Carrying amount liability
	2024	2024	2023	2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Current liabilities:				
Forex option structure	-		5,892	60
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:				
Fair value loss on forex option structure		208		148

In the previous financial year, the Group entered into forex option structures to hedge foreign currency risk from the Group's purchases denominated in Japanese Yen. The maturity dates of the outstanding option ranged from June 2023 to August 2023.

The carrying value of the forex option structure is fair values at 30 April 2023 based on the methods and assumptions used to estimate their fair values as set out in Note 31. The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

21. Share capital

	Group and Company			
	2024	2024	2023	2023 \$'000
	Number of shares	\$'000	Number of shares	
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:				
At 1 May	114,973,771	39,882	114,512,571	39,780
Issuance of ordinary shares	-	_	461,200	102
At 30 April	114,973,771	39,882	114,973,771	39,882

In the previous financial year, employees of the Group have exercised the options to acquire 461,200 ordinary shares through issuance and allotment of new ordinary shares. The holders of ordinary shares (except treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.
For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

22. Treasury shares

Treasury shares comprises the cost of the Company's shares held by the Company.

		Group and Company			
	2024	2024	2023	2023	
	Number of shares	\$'000	Number of shares	\$'000	
				·	
At 1 May and 30 April	5,329,850	3,303	5,329,850	3,303	

23. Other reserves

	G	Group		npany
	2024	2023	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Foreign currency translation reserve	(15,275)	(12,635)	_	_

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of the subsidiary corporations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group's presentation currency.

24. Accumulated profits

	Company \$'000
At 1 May 2022	892
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year	151
Dividend paid on ordinary shares	(768)
Transfer of share option reserve from other reserves	2,292
At 30 April 2023 and 1 May 2023	2,567
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year	4,001
Dividend paid on ordinary shares	(1,645)
At 30 April 2024	4,923

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

25. Dividends

	Group		
	2024	2023	
	\$'000	\$'000	
Declared and paid during the financial year			
Dividend on ordinary shares			
 Final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2023: 1.5 cents (2022: 0.7) per share 	1,645	768	
Proposed but not recognised as liability as at 30 April			
Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders' approval at the Annual General Meeting:			
- Final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2024: 3.5 cents (2023: 1.5 cents) per share	3,838	1,645	

26. Loans and borrowings

	Gr	oup	Com	pany
	2024	2023	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Non-current liabilities				
Term loans	14,828	33,716	11,818	29,699
Lease liabilities (Note 19)	137	50	104	-
	14,965	33,766	11,922	29,699
Current liabilities				
Trust receipts	2,554	4,424	-	-
Revolving credit facility	12,999	6,265	_	-
Term loans	7,264	3,895	6,228	2,865
Lease liabilities (Note 19)	113	33	65	_
	22,930	14,617	6,293	2,865
Total loans and borrowings	37,895	48,383	18,215	32,564

Certain banking facilities of the Group are secured by the mortgage of the Group's land and building with carrying value of \$36,186,000 (2023: \$37,365,000) and corporate guarantees provided by the Company.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

26. Loans and borrowings (cont'd)

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

				Non-cash c	hanges		
Group	30 April 2023 \$'000	Net cash flows \$'000	Acquisition \$'000	Foreign exchange movement \$'000	Accretion of interests \$'000	Other \$'000	30 April 2024 \$'000
	\$ 000	\$ 000	\$ 000	φ 000	φ 000	3 000	\$ 000
Trust receipts	4,424	(1,753)	-	(117)	-	-	2,554
Revolving credit facility	6,265	6,743	-	(9)	-	-	12,999
Term loans							
- current	3,895	(15,488)	-	(31)	-	18,888	7,264
- non-current	33,716	_	-	-	-	(18,888)	14,828
Lease liabilities							
- current	33	(64)	-	-	-	144	113
- non-current	50	-	231	(1)	1	(144)	137
Total	48,383	(10,562)	231	(158)	1	_	37,895

				Non-cash c	hanges		
Group	30 April 2022 \$'000	Net cash flows \$'000	Acquisition \$'000	Foreign exchange movement \$'000	Accretion of interests \$'000	Other \$'000	30 April 2023 \$'000
Trust receipts	5,627	(1,040)	_	(163)	_	_	4,424
Revolving credit facility	6,333	(48)	-	(20)	_	-	6,265
Term loans							
- current	3,366	(7,789)	-	(44)	_	8,362	3,895
- non-current	42,078	-	-	-	-	(8,362)	33,716
Lease liabilities							
- current	33	(32)	-	_*	_*	32	33
- non-current	69	-	13	_	_*	(32)	50
Total	57,506	(8,909)	13	(227)	_*	_	48,383

* less than \$1,000.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

26. Loans and borrowings (cont'd)

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Terms and conditions of outstanding loans and borrowings are as follows:

				Group	Company
	Currency	Nominal interest rate %	Financial year of final maturity	Carrying amount \$'000	Carrying amount \$'000
2024				1	
Revolving credit facility	SGD	5.18 – 5.31	2025	12,999	-
Trust receipts	SGD	4.78 – 5.13	2025	2,554	-
Term loans	SGD	2.00 - 4.48	2026 – 2033	21,696	18,046
Term loans	MYR	5.50	2028 – 2029	396	-
Lease liabilities	SGD	2.78 – 2.99	2026 – 2028	212	169
Lease liabilities	USD	4.99	2025	7	-
Lease liabilities	IDR	8.00	2027	31	-
				37,895	18,215
2023					
Revolving credit facility	SGD	5.04 – 5.32	2024	5,750	-
Revolving credit facility	EUR	4.15	2024	515	-
Trust receipts	EUR	4.15	2024	4,424	-
Term loans	SGD	2.00 - 4.99	2026 – 2037	37,110	32,564
Term loans	MYR	5.25	2028 – 2029	501	-
Lease liabilities	SGD	2.99	2024 – 2028	70	_
Lease liabilities	USD	4.99	2025	13	_
				48,383	32,564

The weighted average interest rates of loans and borrowings at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

	Group		Company	
	2024	2023	2024	2023
	%	%	%	%
Trust receipts	5.00	4.15	-	_
Revolving credit facility	5.22	5.15	-	_
Term loans	4.37	4.84	4.48	4.99
Lease liabilities	3.53	3.30	2.78	_

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

27. Employee benefit liability

The Group has defined benefit pension plan covering eligible employees of the Group's subsidiary in Indonesia. The Group recognised employee benefit liability as required by local laws of the subsidiary. The employee benefit plan is determined based on the valuation report of an independent firm of actuary.

	Group		
Benefit expense	2024	2023	
	\$'000	\$'000	
Current service cost	36	35	
Interest cost	7	8	
Past service credit	(3)	(56)	
	40	(13)	

The amounts included in the consolidated statement of financial position arising from the Group's obligation in respect of its defined benefit plan is as follows:

	Gi	oup
	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000
	\$ 000	\$ 000
Present value of defined benefit obligation	137	105
Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation	137	105

Changes in present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:

	Gro	oup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
At 1 May	105	120
Current service cost	36	35
Interest cost	7	8
Past service credit	(2)	(56)
Re-measurement:		
Actuarial loss	_*	_*
Exchange differences	(9)	(2)
At 30 April	137	105
Current	13	9
Non-current	124	96
	137	105

less than \$1,000.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

27. Employee benefit liability (cont'd)

The cost of defined benefit pension plan as well as the present value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuation. The actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions. The principal assumptions used in determining post-retirement benefit liabilities as at balance sheet date for the Group's plan is shown as below:

	2024	2023
Discount rate	7.13% – 7.14%	5.94% – 7.13%
Future salary increase	8%	8%
Mortality rate	Indonesian Mortality Table IV	Indonesian Mortality Table IV
Normal retirement age	55 years	55 years

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on reasonably possible changes of each significant assumption on the defined benefit obligation as of the end of the reporting period, assuming if all other assumptions were held constant:

		Group						
	20	24	2023					
	Increase in assumption \$'000	Decrease in assumption \$'000	Increase in assumption \$'000	Decrease in assumption \$'000				
One percentage point change in the assumed discount rate:								
 (Decrease)/increase in retirement benefit obligation 	(17)	20	(14)	16				
One percentage point change in the salary rate:								
 Increase/(decrease) in retirement benefit obligation 	19	(17)	16	(14)				

The Group's defined benefit plans for the Indonesian subsidiary is provided in the form of severance and gratuity in accordance to labour regulation in Indonesia. The post-employment benefit is defined based on service and final wage. The comparative is not material to the financial statements.

The Group expects to contribute \$184,000 (2023: \$140,000) to the defined benefit pension plans in financial year ending 30 April 2025.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 20.04 (2023: 21.15) years.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

28. Related party disclosures

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. The amounts stated below for key management compensation are for all the executive directors and other key management personnel.

Key management personnel compensation included in staff costs comprises:

	G	Group		
	2024	2023		
	\$'000	\$'000		
Short-term employee benefits	3,593	2,364		
Defined contribution plans	70	70		
	3,663	2,434		
Comprise amounts paid to:				
Directors of the Company	2,676	1,522		
Other key management personnel	987	912		
	3,663	2,434		

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

29. Segment information

Business segments

The segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group's risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services offered. The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.

The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group's strategic business units. The strategic business units offer different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different marketing strategies.

For each of the strategic business units, the Group's Chairman and Managing Director reviews internal management reports at least on a quarterly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group's reportable segments:

The Group is organised into three reportable segments, namely:

- (a) Distribution: Relates to distribution of propulsion engines;
- (b) After-sales: Relates to after-sales services provided which includes services/jobs, sales of spare parts and other trading; and
- (c) Project: Relates to manufacturing, sales and commission of power generator sets and the manufacturing of marine equipment and related repair services.

Other operations relate to general corporate activities.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment profit before income tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group's Chairman and Managing Director. Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

Allocation basis and transfer pricing

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Transfer prices between business segments are on an arm's length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between business segments. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

29. Segment information (cont'd)

The segment information provided to the Group's Chairman and Managing Director for the reportable segments for the year ended 30 April 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

2024	Distribution \$'000	After-sales \$'000	Project \$'000	Segments total \$'000	Others \$'000	Elimination \$'000	Total \$'000	Note
External revenue Inter-segment	77,891	13,787	32,494	124,172	-	-	124,172	
revenue	26,194	5,928	_	32,122	2,178	(34,300)	_	Α
Total revenue	104,085	19,715	32,494	156,294	2,178	(34,300)	124,172	
Interest income Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	-	-	4	4	516 158	(450)	70 158	В
Fair value loss on forex option structure	-	-	_	_	(208)	_	(208)	
Interest expense	(1)	(1)	(1,193)	(1,195)	(1,568)	403	(2,360)	С
Depreciation	(29)	(40)	(274)	(343)	(3,140)	-	(3,483)	
Employee benefits expenses	(1,211)	(864)	(5,708)	(7,783)	(5,966)	-	(13,749)	
Other non-cash income/(expense)	(1)	(169)	(1,646)	(1,816)	22	-	(1,794)	D
Reportable segment profit/(loss) before tax Income tax expense	21,397	5,415	(3,642)	23,170	(493)	(6,093)	16,584 (4,044)	E
Profit for the year							12,540	
Reportable segment assets	26,963	18,698	37,740	83,401	90,630	(27,959)	146,072	F
Capital expenditure	-	-	114	114	1,650	-	1,764	
Reportable segment liabilities	47,696	1,924	28,645	78,265	36,351	(26,737)	87,879	G

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

29. Segment information (cont'd)

2023	Distribution	After-sales	Project	Segments total	Others	Elimination	Total	Note
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	Note
External revenue Inter-segment	52,518	11,451	64,710	128,679	-	-	128,679	
revenue	12,855	3,725	-	16,580	1,980	(18,560)	-	Α
Total revenue	65,373	15,176	64,710	145,259	1,980	(18,560)	128,679	
Interest income	-	1	1	2	268	(239)	31	В
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	1	_	2	3	32	_	35	
Fair value loss on forex option structure	_	_	(88)	(88)	(60)	_	(148)	
Interest expense	(17)	(19)	(879)	(915)	(1,299)	193	(2,021)	С
Depreciation	(20)	(42)	(326)	(388)	(3,066)	_	(3,454)	-
Employee benefits expenses	(1,199)	(759)	(4,925)	(6,883)	(4,962)	_	(11,845)	
Other non-cash income/(expense)	8	(57)	(444)	(493)	17	_	(476)	D
Reportable segment profit/(loss) before tax	11,429	3,771	(2,138)	13,062	(4,590)	(2,552)	5,920	E
Income tax expense			(· ·)		,		(1,946)	
Profit for the year							3,974	
Reportable segment assets	16,602	17,268	52,584	86,454	93,637	(23,750)	156,341	F
Capital expenditure	-	14	907	921	123	_	1,044	
Reportable segment liabilities	37,844	3,344	39,895	81,083	48,969	(23,649)	106,403	G

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

29. Segment information (cont'd)

- Note Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
- A Inter-segments revenue are eliminated on consolidation.
- B Inter-segments interest income are eliminated on consolidation.
- C Inter-segments interest expenses are eliminated on consolidation and amortisation of fair value adjustment.
- D Other non-cash income/(expenses) consist of fair value gain on quoted equity securities, inventories written-down, impairment loss on financial assets and loss on liquidation of subsidiary as presented in the respective notes to the financial statements.
- E The following items are (deducted from)/added to segment profit/(loss) to arrive at "profit before tax" presented in the consolidated income statement.

	Gro	oup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
Unrealised profit from unsold stocks	(173)	(331)
Dividend income	(5,900)	(2,200)
Interest expense	403	193
Interest income	(450)	(239)
Elimination of intercompany transactions	27	25
	(6,093)	(2,552)

- F Items relating to inter-segment assets are deducted to arrive at total assets reported in the consolidated statement of financial position.
- G The following items are added to segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities reported in the consolidated statement of financial position.

	Gr	Group			
	2024	2023			
	\$'000	\$'000			
Inter-segment liabilities	26,684	23,596			
Accrual	53	53			
	26,737	23,649			

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

29. Segment information (cont'd)

Geographical information

	Gro	oup
	2024	2023
	\$'000	\$'000
Revenue from external customers		
Singapore	30,617	67,708
ndonesia	82,616	55,881
/ietnam	2,006	2,740
Other countries	8,933	2,350
	124,172	128,679
Ion-current assets		
Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets		
Singapore	50,799	52,367
Malaysia	2,553	2,779
ndonesia	196	170
	53,548	55,316

Non-current assets information presented above consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Major customers

During the financial year, 5 (2023: 3) major customers of the Group's overall segments amounted to approximately \$33,728,000 (2023: \$47,966,000), representing approximately 27% (2023: 37%) of the Group's revenue.

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations. The key financial risks are credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. The management reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks. The Group enters into derivative financial instruments, namely, forex option structure, to manage its foreign exchange risk arising from its business operations.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group's and the Company's exposure to the abovementioned financial risk and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

There has been no change to the Group's and the Company's exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's and the Company's risk management framework.

The Group's and the Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group and the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group's and the Company's activities.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's receivables from customers, quoted equity securities and forex option structure.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.

The Group has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments, within 60 days when they fall due, which are derived based on the Group's historical information.

To minimise credit risk, the Group has developed and maintained the Group's credit risk gradings to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is supplied by publicly available financial information and the Group's own trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors. The Group considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information which includes the following indicators:

- External credit rating;
- Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the debtor's ability to meet its obligations;
- Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor;
- Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and
- Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the payment status of debtors in the group and changes in the operating results of the debtor.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 30 days past due in making contractual payment. The Group determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

- There is significant difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; or
- A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; or
- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

The Group categorises a loan or receivable for potential write-off when a debtor fails to make contractual payments more than 120 days past due. Financial assets are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. Where loans and receivables have been written-off, the Company continues to engage enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Credit risk (cont'd)

The Group's current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Category	Definition of category	Basis for recognising expected credit loss (ECL)
I	Counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due amounts.	12-month ECL
II	Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.	Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired
	There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired (in default).	Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired
IV	There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and the debtor has no realistic prospect of recovery.	Amount is written-off

The table below details the credit quality of the Group's financial assets, as well as maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating categories:

	Note	Category	12-month or lifetime ECL	Gross carrying amount	Loss allowance	Net carrying amount
	1			\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
2024						
Trade receivables	16	Note 1	Lifetime ECL (simplified)	5,955	(149)	5,806
Other receivables	16	I	12-month ECL	1,122	-	1,122
Contract assets	4	Note 1	Lifetime ECL (simplified)	15,061	(3,211)	11,850
					(3,360)	
2023						
Trade receivables	16	Note 1	Lifetime ECL (simplified)	12,065	(1,178)	10,887
Other receivables	16	I	12-month ECL	730	_	730
Contract assets	4	Note 1	Lifetime ECL (simplified)	23,851	(813)	23,038
					(1,991)	

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Credit risk (cont'd)

The following are credit risk management practices and quantitative and qualitative information about amounts arising from expected credit losses for each class of financial assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets (Note 1)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in SFRS(I) 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted or appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of trade receivables is presented based on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix.

The Group groups its customers based on shared credit risk characteristics and applies different provision matrices to each customer groupings.

	Contract assets		Trade receivables					
			Days past due					
	Not past due	Not past due	< 30 days	31-60 days	61-90 days	> 90 days	Total	
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	
2024								
Construction and building								
ECL rate	2%	2%	2%	2%	2%	15%		
Estimated total gross carrying amount at								
default	6,475	580	1,255	108	76	114	8,608	
ECL	(104)	(10)	(20)	(2)	(1)	(18)	(155)	
REITs								
ECL rate	2%	1%	1%	-	-	1%		
Estimated total gross carrying amount at								
default	5,064	1,325	15	-	-	92	6,496	
ECL	(89)	(15)	_*	-	-	(1)	(105)	
Capital equipment								
ECL rate	-	2%	2%	2%	2%	2%		
Estimated total gross carrying amount at								
default	-	78	656	652	338	268	1,992	
ECL	-	(2)	(15)	(15)	(8)	(6)	(46)	

* less than \$1,000.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Credit risk (cont'd)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Note 1) (cont'd)

	Contract assets		Trade	receivable	es		
				Days pas	st due		
	Not past due	Not past due	< 30 days	31-60 days	61-90 days	> 90 days	Total
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
2024 (cont'd)							
Telecommunication							
ECL rate	_	5%	5%	5%	_	5%	
Estimated total gross carrying amount at							
default	-	15	9	3	-	_*	27
ECL	-	(1)	_*	_*	-	_*	(1)
Healthcare and pharmaceutical							
ECL rate	4%	4%	_	_	_	_	
Estimated total gross carrying amount at							
default	393	32	-	-	-	-	425
ECL	(14)	(1)	-	-	-	-	(15)
Hotel							
ECL rate	3%	3%	_	_	_	_	
Estimated total gross carrying amount at							
default	129	_*	-	-	-	-	129
ECL	(4)	_*	-	-	-	-	(4)
Chemicals and plastics rubber							
ECL rate Estimated total gross	-	3%	-	3%	-	-	
carrying amount at							
default	-	5	-	3	-	-	8
ECL	-	_*	-	_*	-	-	_*
Service consumer							
ECL rate	-	4%	4%	4%	4%	4%	
Estimated total gross carrying amount at							
default	-	18	87	56	41	107	309
ECL	-	(1)	(3)	(2)	(2)	(4)	(12)

less than \$1,000.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Credit risk (cont'd)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Note 1) (cont'd)

	Contract assets		Trade	receivable	es		
				Days pa	st due		
	Not past due	Not past due	< 30 days	31-60 days	61-90 days	> 90 days	Total
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
2023							
Construction and building							
ECL rate Estimated total gross	6%	3%	4%	5%	3%	25%	
carrying amount at default	7,218	349	1,301	57	15	312	9,252
ECL	(433)	(10)	(47)	(3)	_*	(79)	(572)
REITS							
ECL rate Estimated total gross carrying amount at	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%	1%	
default	16,015	2,215	1,967	2,318	29	130	22,674
ECL	(128)	(18)	(16)	(25)	_*	(1)	(188)
Capital equipment ECL rate Estimated total gross	_	4%	4%	4%	4%	10%	
carrying amount at default	_	65	1,455	378	242	83	2,223
ECL	-	(2)	(50)	(13)	(8)	(9)	(82)
Telecommunication ECL rate	_	6%	6%	_	6%	6%	
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default	_	15	9	_	1	5	30
ECL	-	(1)	_*	_	_*	_*	(1)
Healthcare and pharmaceutical	501	50/	50/	50/			
ECL rate Estimated total gross carrying amount at	5%	5%	5%	5%	-	_	
default	382	10	25	_* _*	_	_	417
ECL	(20)	(1)	(1)	_ ^	-	-	(22)

* less than \$1,000.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Credit risk (cont'd)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Note 1) (cont'd)

	Contract assets		Trade	receivable	es		
				Days pa	st due		
	Not past due	Not past due	< 30 days	31-60 days	61-90 days	> 90 days	Total
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
2023 (cont'd)							
Hotel							
ECL rate	6%	6%	_	_	_	_	
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default	5	1	_	_	_	_	6
ECL	(1)	_*	_	_	_	_	(1)
Chemicals and plastics rubber							
ECL rate	_	2%	_	_	_	_	
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default	_	22	_	_	_	_	22
ECL	_	(1)	_	_	_	_	(1)
Service consumer							
ECL rate	_	5%	5%	5%	5%	_	
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default	_	56	58	62	_*	_	176
ECL	_	(2)	(3)	(3)	_*	_	(8)

less than \$1,000.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Credit risk (cont'd)

Credit-impaired receivables

The Company has identified a group of receivables that are credit-impaired.

	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000
Gross carrying amount Allowance for expected credit losses	3,022 (3,022)	1,116 (1,116)
	_	_

Financial guarantees

In assessing ECL for financial guarantees, the Group considers events such as breach of loan covenants, default on instalment payment and concluded that there has been no significant increase in risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country profile of its trade receivables on an ongoing basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group's trade receivables at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

	Group				
	2024	2024	2023	2023	
	\$'000	% of total	\$'000	% of total	
By country:					
Singapore	4,046	59	9,433	81	
Indonesia	2,339	34	2,233	19	
Malaysia	486	7	39	_;	
Other countries	21	-*	4	_*	
	6,892	100	11,709	100	

* less than 1%.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Credit risk (cont'd)

Credit risk concentration profile (cont'd)

At the end of the reporting period, approximately:

- 58.7% (2023: 81.0%) of the Group's trade receivable is attributable to sales transactions with customers domiciled in Singapore; and
- 30.1% (2023: 73.4%) of the Group's trade receivable is attributable to sales transactions with 4 (2023: 4) major customers.

Management of credit risk

The Group has established a credit policy under which the creditworthiness of each new customer is evaluated individually before the Group grants credit to the customer. Credit limits are established for each customer, which represents the maximum open amount without requiring approval from the directors for each transaction with the customer. Payments will be required to be made upfront by customers which do not meet the Group's credit requirements.

Amounts due from customers are closely monitored and reviewed on a regular basis to identify any non-payment or delay in payment, and to understand the reasons, so that appropriate actions can be undertaken promptly by the Group. The resultant effects of these measures have kept the Group's exposure to bad debts at an acceptable level.

Loan to the subsidiary corporation

The Company assessed the latest performance and financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for the future outlook of the industry in which the counterparties operate in, and concluded that there has been no significant increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. Accordingly, the Company measured the impairment loss allowance using 12-month ECL and determined that the ECL is insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group's and the Company's exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.

The Group and the Company ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and the Company's financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

	2024 \$'000				
Group	One year or less	One to five years	Over five years	Total	
Financial assets:					
Trade and other receivables	9,137	-	_	9,137	
Cash and short-term deposits	31,996	-	_	31,996	
Other financial assets	-	443	_	443	
Total undiscounted financial assets	41,133	443	_	41,576	
Financial liabilities:					
Trade and other payables	18,802	100	_	18,902	
Loans and borrowings	23,539	10,659	6,582	40,780	
Lease liabilities	123	143	_	266	
Total undiscounted financial liabilities	42,464	10,902	6,582	59,948	
Total net undiscounted financial liabilities	(1,331)	(10,459)	(6,582)	(18,372)	

	2023 \$'000					
Group	One year or less	One to five years	Over five years	Total		
-		ive years	ycurs	Total		
Financial assets:						
Trade and other receivables	13,807	_	-	13,807		
Cash and short-term deposits	29,539	_	-	29,539		
Other financial assets		394	_	394		
Total undiscounted financial assets	43,346	394	-	43,740		
Financial liabilities:						
Trade and other payables	26,970	65	_	27,035		
Loans and borrowings	16,268	16,877	28,024	61,169		
Lease liabilities	36	54	_	90		
Forex option structure	60	_	-	60		
Total undiscounted financial liabilities	43,334	16,996	28,024	88,354		
Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)	12	(16,602)	(28,024)	(44,614)		

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (cont'd)

	2024 \$'000					
Company	One year or less	One to five years	Over five years	Total		
Financial assets:						
Trade and other receivables	10,379	_	_	10,379		
Cash and short-term deposits	475	_	-	475		
Total undiscounted financial assets	10,854	_	_	10,854		
Financial liabilities:						
Trade and other payables	2,988	100	_	3,088		
_oans and borrowings	6,843	7,373	6,583	20,799		
_ease liabilities	72	109	-	181		
Total undiscounted financial liabilities	9,903	7,582	6,583	24,068		
Fotal net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)	951	(7,582)	(6,583)	(13,214)		

		2023					
	\$'000						
Company	One year or less	One to five years	Over five years	Total			
Financial assets:							
Trade and other receivables	19,024	_	_	19,024			
Cash and short-term deposits	1,087		_	1,087			
Total undiscounted financial assets	20,111	_	_	20,111			
Financial liabilities:							
Trade and other payables	1,927	65	_	1,992			
Loans and borrowings	4,400	12,437	27,981	44,818			
Total undiscounted financial liabilities	6,327	12,502	27,981	46,810			
Total net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)	13,784	(12,502)	(27,981)	(26,699)			

The maximum amount of the financial guarantee allocated to the earliest period in which the guarantee would be called.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Liquidity risk (cont'd)

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (cont'd)

		20 \$'0			
Company	One year or less	One to five years	Over five years	Total	
Financial guarantee	16,722	28	-	16,750	
		2023 \$'000			
Company	One year or less	One to five years	Over five years	Total	
Financial guarantee	12,618	43	_	12,661	

The financial guarantee was provided to the subsidiary corporations for their banking facilities.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily SGD, Japanese Yen (JPY) and Malaysian Ringgit (MYR). The foreign currencies in which these transactions are denominated are mainly SGD, United States Dollars (USD) and Euro (EUR). The Group's trade receivable and trade payable balances at the end of the reporting period have similar exposures.

The Group also hold cash and short-term deposits denominated in foreign currencies for working capital purposes. At the end of the reporting period, such foreign currency balances are mainly in USD. The Company does not have any foreign currency denominated balances at the end of the reporting period.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Foreign currency risk (cont'd)

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows:

	SGD	EUR	USD
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
2024			
Trade and other receivables	755	1,511	3
Cash and short-term deposits	1,462	245	536
Loans and borrowings	-	-	(7)
Trade and other payables	(2,787)	(273)	(1,043)
Net exposure	(570)	1,483	(511)
2023			
Trade and other receivables	716	1,258	26
Cash and short-term deposits	1,590	40	262
Loans and borrowings	_	(4,939)	(13)
Trade and other payables	(2,591)	(2,966)	(3,101)
Net exposure	(285)	(6,607)	(2,826)

Sensitivity analysis

A 5% strengthening of the foreign currencies, as indicated below, against the functional currency of the respective entities at 30 April would have (decreased)/increased profit/loss (before any tax effects) by the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the financial year 2024:

		Decrease in profit before tax		
	2024	2023		
	\$'000	\$'000		
SGD	(29)	(14)		
EUR	74	(330)		
JSD	(26)	(141)		

A weakening of the foreign currencies against the functional currency of the respective entities at 30 April would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

30. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont'd)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group's financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their loans and borrowings. The Group's loans and borrowings are at floating rates which are contractually repriced at intervals of less than 6 months from the end of the reporting period.

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments was as follows:

	Carryi	Carrying amount		
	2024	2023		
	\$'000	\$'000		
Variable rate instruments				
Trust receipts	2,554	4,424		
Term loans	22,092	37,611		
Revolving credit facility	12,999	6,265		
	37,645	48,300		
Fixed rate instruments				
Lease liabilities	250	83		

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

At the end of the reporting period, if SGD interest rates had been 100 (2023: 100) basis points lower/higher with all other variables held constant, the Group's profit/loss net of tax would have been \$376,450 higher/lower (2023: \$483,000 higher/lower), arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans and borrowings.

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

31. Fair value of assets and liabilities

Fair value hierarchy

The Group categories fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the valuation inputs used as follows:

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date,

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

Group	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
2024				
Assets measured at fair value				
Financial assets				
Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss (Note 14)				
- quoted equity securities	443	_	_	443
2023				
Assets/(liability) measured at fair value				
Financial assets				
Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss (Note 14)				
- quoted equity securities	394	-	_	394
Financial liability				
Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss (Note 20)				
- Forex option structure		(60)	_	(60)

For the financial year ended 30 April 2024

31. Fair value of assets and liabilities (cont'd)

Fair value hierarchy (cont'd)

Methods and assumptions used to determine fair values

Equity securities are classified within Level 1 as these securities are traded in active markets and the fair values are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used is the current bid price.

Forex option structure are classified within Level 2 as the fair value of the option are obtained from a reputable financial institution by reference to market foreign exchange rates.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the financial year.

Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying value are not reasonable approximation of fair value

Fair value information is not disclosed for the following financial instruments of the Group and the Company as at 30 April 2024 and 2023 as the difference between the carrying amounts and their fair values are not significant.

	Gr	Group		Company	
	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000	2024 \$'000	2023 \$'000	
Lease liabilities	212	70	_	_	
Total	212	70	_	_	

32. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a sound capital position in order to support its business and maximise shareholders' value. The Group is also committed to maintain an efficient mix of debt and equity in order to achieve optimal cost of capital, while taking into account the adequacy of access to cash flows.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes alignment to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may align the dividend payment to shareholder, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

No changes were made to the objectives, policies or processes for the years ended 30 April 2024 and 2023. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary corporations are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

33. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

The financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2024 were authorised for issue in accordance with a directors' resolution dated 18 July 2024.

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 18 July 2024

Class of shares	-	Ordinary share
Number of total issued shares	-	114,973,771
Voting rights	-	One vote per share

Distribution of Shareholdings by Size of Shareholdings

Size of Shareholdings	No. of Shareholders	%	No. of Shares	%
1 - 99	43	5.61	2,165	0.00
100 - 1,000	160	20.86	99,000	0.09
1,001 - 10,000	340	44.33	1,455,025	1.33
10,001 - 1,000,000	217	28.29	12,551,100	11.45
1,000,001 and above	7	0.91	95,536,631	87.13
Total	767	100.00	109,643,921	100.00

Note:

% Based on 109,643,921 shares (excluding shares held as treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at 18 July 2024

* Treasury Shares as at 18 July 2024 - 5,329,850 shares

Twenty Largest Shareholders

No.	Name	No. of Shares	%
1	TAN TIN YEOW	45,310,000	41.32
2	TAN TUM BENG OR TAN TIN YEOW	13,943,494	12.72
3	DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD	13,321,918	12.15
4	TAN GUAT LIAN	11,961,244	10.91
5	TAN SENG HEE	8,043,250	7.34
6	LIM YUE HENG	1,595,725	1.46
7	CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD	1,361,000	1.24
8	MAYBANK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.	600,200	0.55
9	HONG PIAN TEE	600,000	0.55
10	UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED	506,550	0.46
11	CGS INTERNATIONAL SECURITIES SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.	506,375	0.46
12	PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD	353,450	0.32
13	YEO SECK KAN	316,250	0.29
14	TAN CHIN TUAN HENRY	235,750	0.21
15	TAN BOON KHAK HOLDINGS PTE LTD	221,875	0.20
16	OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD	218,425	0.20
17	IFAST FINANCIAL PTE LTD	215,200	0.20
18	ALL BIG FROZEN FOOD PTE LTD	210,000	0.19
19	ONG KEE THYE	209,400	0.19
20	KOK MOO YONG	200,000	0.18
Tota	I	99,930,106	91.14

Note:

Based on 109,643,921 shares (excluding shares held as treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at 18 July 2024
 Treasury Shares as at 18 July 2024 - 5,329,850 shares

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 18 July 2024

Rule 723 Compliance

Based on the information available to the Company as at 18 July 2024, approximately 17.36% of the issued ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) of the Company was held by the public and hence it is in compliance with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

Substantial Shareholders

	Direct Intere	st	Deemed Interest	
Name of Shareholders	No. of shares held	% ⁽³⁾	No. of shares held	% ⁽³⁾
Tan Tin Yeow ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	69,663,987	63.54	-	_
Tan Tum Beng ⁽²⁾	13,943,494	12.72	-	_
Tan Guat Lian(1)	11,961,244	10.91	22,500	0.02
Tan Seng Hee ⁽¹⁾	8,043,250	7.34	-	_

Notes:

- (1) Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and Ms. Tan Guat Lian together with Mr. Tan Seng Hee had on 29 June 2010 entered into a deed of undertaking ("Deed of Undertaking") whereby each of them agreed to first offer any Shares which he/she would like to sell (the "Selling Party") to the other parties in equal proportions (as nearly as possible). In the event the other parties decline or is deemed to decline the offer, the Selling Party shall be entitled to sell the Shares to any third party at a price which is not lower than the price offered to the other parties, subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Deed of Undertaking. The obligations of the parties to the Deed of Undertaking will continue to apply as long as they remain as shareholders of the Company, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties thereto. As at 18 July 2024, Mr. Tan Seng Hee has an interest in 8,043,250 Shares in the Company representing approximately 7.34% of the total issued share capital (excluding any treasury shares and subsidiary holdings).
- (2) The direct interest of Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and his father, Mr. Tan Tum Beng, in respect of 13,943,494 Shares are jointly held through a joint CDP account under both their names.
- (3) Based on 109,643,921 shares (excluding shares held as treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at 18 July 2024.

Treasury Shares

As at 18 July 2024, the Company held 5,329,850 treasury shares, representing 4.64% of the total issued ordinary shares.

Subsidiary Holdings

As at 18 July 2024, the number of subsidiary holdings held is nil.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting ("**AGM**" or the "**Meeting**") of XMH Holdings Ltd. (the "**Company**" and together with its subsidiaries, the "**Group**") will be convened and held at 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01, Singapore 638743 on Wednesday, 28 August 2024 at 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESSES

- To receive and adopt the Directors' Statement and Audited Financial Statements of the Company and of the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 ("FY2024"), together with the Independent Auditor's Report thereon.
- To declare and approve the payment of a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 0.25 Singapore cents per ordinary share and a special one-tier tax exempt dividend of 3.25 Singapore cents per ordinary share for FY2024.
- To note the retirement of Mr. Hong Pian Tee, who is retiring pursuant to Regulation 89 of the Constitution of the Company and has decided not to offer himself for re-election.
 [See Explanatory Note (i)]
- 4. To approve the payment of Directors' fees of S\$179,130 for FY2024 (FY2023: S\$179,130). Resolution 3
- 5. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company, who are retiring pursuant to Regulation 89 of the Constitution of the Company:
 - (a) Mr. Tan Tin Yeow (Regulation 89) [See Explanatory Note (ii)]
 - (b) Mr. Khoo Song Koon (Regulation 89) [See Explanatory Note (iii)]
- 6. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as the Independent Auditors of the Company to hold office until the next AGM and to authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration. **Resolution 6**
- 7. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an AGM.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESSES

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:

8. Authority to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company

"That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore (the "**Act**"), the Constitution of the Company, and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the "**SGX-ST**") (the "**Listing Rules**"), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors to:

(a) (i) allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company (the "Shares") whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

- **Resolution 4**
- **Resolution 5**

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, the "Instruments") that might or would require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue Shares pursuant to any Instrument made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution is in force,

(the "Share Issue Mandate")

provided that:

- (1) the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued pursuant to the Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) and Instruments to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the Company's total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued pursuant to the Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) and Instruments to be issued other than on a *pro-rata* basis to the existing shareholders of the Company (the "Shareholders") shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);
- (2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares (including Shares to be issued pursuant to the Instruments) and Instruments that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) and Instruments shall be calculated based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:
 - (i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed;
 - (ii) (where applicable) new Shares arising from the exercise of share options or vesting of share awards, provided that such share options or share awards (as the case may be) were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules; and
 - (iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

the adjustments in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)(i) or sub-paragraph (2)(ii) above are only to be made in respect of new Shares arising from the Instruments, convertible securities, share options or share awards which were issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution;

- (3) in exercising the Share Issue Mandate conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Rules (including supplemental measures hereto) for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST), all applicable legal requirements under the Act for the time being in force and the Constitution of the Company; and
- (4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting) the Share Issue Mandate conferred by this Resolution shall continue in force (i) until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, or (ii) in the case of Shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution, until the issuance of such Shares in accordance with the terms of the Instruments."

[See Explanatory Note (iv)]

Resolution 7

9. Proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate

"That:

- (a) for the purposes of the Act, the exercise by the Directors of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire Shares not exceeding in aggregate the Prescribed Limit (as hereafter defined), at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors of the Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way of:
 - (i) on-market purchases (each a "Market Purchase") on the SGX-ST; and/or
 - (ii) off-market purchases (each an "Off-Market Purchase") effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST in accordance with any equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors of the Company as they consider fit, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Act, and otherwise in accordance with all other provisions of the Act and the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time being be applicable,

and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the "Share Buyback Mandate");

- (b) the authority conferred on the Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate may be exercised by the Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:
 - (i) the date on which the next AGM of the Company is held or required by law to be held;
 - (ii) the date on which the Share Buyback is carried out to the full extent mandated; or
 - (iii) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting;

(c) in this Resolution:

"**Prescribed Limit**" means 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date of passing of this Resolution unless the Company has effected a reduction of the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Act, at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the issued ordinary share capital of the Company shall be taken to be the amount of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as altered (excluding any treasury shares and subsidiary holdings that may be held by the Company from time to time);

"**Relevant Period**" means the period commencing from the date on which the forthcoming AGM is held and the resolution relating to the Share Buyback Mandate is passed and expiring on the date the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier; and

"**Maximum Price**" in relation to a Share to be purchased, means an amount (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not exceeding:

- (i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price; and
- (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, 120% of the Average Closing Price, where:

"Average Closing Price" means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five (5) market days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period; and

(d) the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorise to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Resolution."

[See Explanatory Note (v)]

Resolution 8

By Order of the Board of Directors of **XMH HOLDINGS LTD**.

Mr. Chua Kern Company Secretary Singapore, 8 August 2024

Explanatory Notes:

- (i) Following the retirement of Mr. Hong Pian Tee, the Board of Directors (the "Board") and the relevant Board Committees will review the respective composition of the Board to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the Code of Corporate Governance 2018 (the "Code"), including but not limited to complying with (i) Principle 6 (Provision 6.2) of the Code which provides that the Remuneration Committee (the "RC") should comprise at least three (3) directors, the majority of whom, including the Chairman of the RC, are independent; (ii) Principle 10 (Provision 10.2) of the Code which provides that the Audit Committee (the "AC") should comprise at least three (3) directors, the majority of the Listing Rules to fill the vacancy in the AC to meet the minimum number of not less than three (3) members within two (2) months, but in any case not later than three (3) months.
- (ii) Mr. Tan Tin Yeow will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman and Managing Director of the Company. Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 56 to 58 in the Annual Report for the detailed information as required pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Rules.
- (iii) Mr. Khoo Song Koon ("Mr. Khoo") will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Independent Director, Chairman of the AC and a member of the Nominating Committee (the "NC") and the RC of the Company. Mr. Khoo is considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Rules. Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 56 to 58 in the Annual Report for the detailed information as required pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Rules.
- (iv) The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM until the date of the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to allot and issue Shares, make or grant Instruments convertible into Shares and to issue Shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, fifty per centum (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings), in the capital of the Company, of which up to twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) may be issued other than on a *pro-rata* basis to existing Shareholders.

For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued Shares in the capital of the Company will be calculated based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the time this Resolution is passed after adjusting for new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities, the exercise of share options or the vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of Shares.

(v) The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from the date of this AGM until the next AGM of the Company, or the date by which the next AGM of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, to buyback ordinary shares of the Company by way of On-Market Share Buyback or Off-Market Share Buyback of up to ten per centum (10%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) in the capital of the Company at the Maximum Price as defined in the Section 2.3.4 of the Addendum. The rationale for, the authority and limitation on, the sources of funds to be used for the purchase or acquisition including the amount of financing and the financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of ordinary shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate on the audited consolidated financial statement of the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 are set out in greater detail in the Addendum on pages 186 to 204 in the Annual Report 2024.

Notes:

The Company's AGM will be held in a wholly physical format at 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01, Singapore 638743 on **Wednesday**, **28 August 2024** at **10.00 a.m.** (Singapore time) for considering and, if thought fit, passing the resolutions set out in the Notice of AGM. There will be no option for shareholders to participate virtually.

Printed copies of the Notice of AGM and the accompanying Proxy Form will be sent by post to shareholders and published on the SGXNet and the Company's corporate website at http://www.xmh.com.sg/XMHH/investor-relations/.

The Annual Report 2024 has been published on the SGXNet and may be accessed at the Company's corporate website at http://www.xmh.com.sg/XMHH/investor-relations/. Printed copies of the Annual Report 2024 will not be sent to shareholders unless requested for by shareholders submitting a request via email to xmh@xmh.com.sg by 16 August 2024. The following information must be provided:

- (i) the shareholder's full name;
- (ii) the shareholder's address; and
- (iii) the manner in which the shares are held.

A printed copy of the Annual Report 2024 will then be sent to the address specified by the shareholder.

Shareholders should take note of the following arrangements for the AGM:

(a) Physical Participation in the AGM

Shareholders of the Company (including Central Provident Fund Investment Scheme investors ("CPF Investors") and Supplementary Retirement Scheme investors ("SRS Investors")), may participate in the AGM by:

- (i) attending the AGM in person;
- (ii) submitting questions in relation to any agenda item in this Notice of AGM in advance of, or at the AGM; and/or
- (iii) voting at the AGM by (1) themselves personally; or (2) through duly appointed proxy(ies).

CPF Investors and SRS Investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the AGM (and not third-party proxy(ies)) as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes by **10.00 a.m.** on **Friday, 16 August 2024**, being at least seven (7) working days before the AGM. Please refer to Proxy Voting under item (c) below for details.

Shareholders, including CPF Investors and SRS Investors, or, where applicable, their appointed proxy(ies) who are attending the AGM in person should bring along their NRIC/passport to enable the Company to verify their identity. Shareholders are requested to arrive early to facilitate the registration process and are advised not to attend the AGM if they are feeling unwell. Shareholders who are unwell are strongly encouraged to exercise social responsibility to rest at home and to consider appointing a proxy(ies) to attend the Meeting. We encourage shareholders to mask up when attending the AGM.

(b) Submission of Questions

Shareholders may raise questions at the AGM or submit questions in advance of the AGM via the following means by **10.00 a.m.** on **Friday, 16 August 2024**, in the following manner:

- (i) by email, to xmh@xmh.com.sg; or
- (ii) by post, to be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01, Singapore 638743.

For verification purposes, when submitting any questions by post or via email, shareholders **MUST** provide the Company with their particulars (comprising full name (for individuals)/company name (for corporates), email address, contact number, NRIC/passport number/company registration number, shareholding type and number of shares held), failing which the Company shall be entitled to regard the submission as invalid.

Shareholders are strongly encouraged to submit their questions by email in advance of the AGM. The Company will publish its responses to the substantial and relevant questions submitted by shareholders prior to the abovementioned deadline, by **Saturday**, **24 August 2024**, which is at least forty-eight (48) hours before the proxy form deadline.

For questions received after 16 August 2024, the Company will endeavour to address all substantial and relevant questions submitted by shareholders prior to or during the AGM. Where substantially similar questions are received, the Company will consolidate such questions and consequently not all questions may be individually addressed. For questions addressed during the AGM, the Company will publish the responses to such questions together with the minutes of the AGM on SGXNet and the Company's website within one (1) month after the date of the AGM.

(c) Proxy Voting

Shareholders will be able to vote at the AGM in person, or by appointing proxy(ies) to vote on their behalf. A shareholder can appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy but this is not mandatory. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

Duly completed Proxy Forms must be submitted in the following manner:

- (i) by email, to xmh@xmh.com.sg; or
- (ii) by post, to be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01, Singapore 638743,

in either case, by **10.00 a.m.** on **Monday, 26 August 2024** (being not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM) (or at any adjournment thereof) and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

A shareholder who wishes to submit an instrument appointing proxy(ies) can either use the printed copy of the Proxy Form which is sent to him/her/it by post, or download a copy of the Proxy Form from the SGXNet or from the Company's corporate website at http://www.xmh.com.sg/XMHH/investor-relations/, and subsequently, to complete and sign the Proxy Form before submitting it by (a) post to the address provided above, or (b) scanning and sending it to the email address provided above.

If a shareholder wishes to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy, such shareholder (whether individual or corporate) must give specific instructions as to voting for, voting against, or abstentions from voting on, each resolution in the instrument appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy. If no specific direction as to voting or abstentions from voting in respect of a resolution in the form of proxy, the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

Where a shareholder appoints proxy(ies), he/she/it may give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of the resolutions in the Proxy Form, failing which the proxy(ies) will vote or abstain from voting at his/her/its discretion, as he/she/it may on any other matter arising at the AGM.

Completion and submission of the instrument appointing a proxy(ies) by a shareholder will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking and voting at the AGM if he/she so wishes. The appointment of a proxy(ies) for the AGM shall be deemed to be revoked if the shareholder attends the AGM in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument appointing a proxy(ies), to the AGM.

Please refer to the detailed instructions set out in the Proxy Form.

Persons who hold Shares through relevant intermediaries, other than CPF Investors and SRS Investors, and who wish to participate in the AGM should contact the relevant intermediary through which they hold such Shares as soon as possible. Persons who hold Shares through relevant intermediaries, other than CPF Investors and SRS Investors, may (a) vote at the AGM if they are appointed as proxies by their respective relevant intermediaries; or (b) specify their voting instructions to/arrange for their votes to be submitted with their respective relevant intermediaries, and should contact their respective relevant intermediaries as soon as possible in order for the necessary arrangements to be made.

In addition, CPF Investors and SRS Investors may (a) vote at the AGM if they are appointed as proxies by their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators, and should contact their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators if they have any queries regarding their appointment as proxies; or (b) specify their voting instructions to/arrange for their votes to be submitted with their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators, and should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators by **10.00 a.m.** on **Friday**, **16 August 2024**, being at least seven (7) working days before the date of the AGM, to ensure their votes are submitted.

Personal Data Privacy:

"Personal data" in this notice of AGM has the same meaning as "personal data" in the Personal Data Protection Act 2012 of Singapore, which includes his or her name, address and NRIC/Passport number.

By attending the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof or submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company:

- (a) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member's personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxy(ies) and representative(s) appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the "Purposes");
- (b) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member's proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes;
- (c) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member's breach of warranty; and
- (d) agrees and consents to such photographic, sound and/or video recordings of the AGM as may be made by the Company (or its respective agents or service providers) for record keeping and to ensure the accuracy of the minutes prepared of the AGM. Accordingly, the personal data of the member (such as his/her/its name, his/her/its presence at the AGM and any questions he/she/it may raise or motions he/she/it may propose and/or second) may be recorded by the Company (or its respective agents or service providers) for such purpose.
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE OF RECORD DATE AND PAYMENT DATE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that, the Share Transfer Book and Register of Members of XMH Holdings Ltd. (the "**Company**") will be closed at 5.00 p.m. (Singapore time) on 10 September 2024 (the "**Record Date**") for the purpose of determining the entitlements of the Company's shareholders ("**Shareholders**") to a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 0.25 Singapore cents per ordinary share and a special one-tier tax exempt dividend of 3.25 Singapore cents per ordinary share in the capital of the Company in respect of the financial year ended 30 April 2024 (the "**Dividends**").

Duly completed and stamped registrable transfers in respect of the Shares received by the Company's Share Registrar, Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services, at 9 Raffles Place, #26-01, Republic Plaza Tower I, Singapore 048619 up to 5.00 p.m. on the Record Date will be registered to determine Shareholders' entitlements to the Dividends.

Shareholders whose securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited ("**CDP**") are credited with Shares or whose names appear in the Register of Members of the Company, as at 5.00 p.m. on the Record Date will be entitled to the Dividends on the basis of the number of Shares standing to the credit of their securities accounts with CDP or the number of Shares held by them as stated in the Register of Members of the Company, as the case may be.

The Dividends, if approved by the Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 28 August 2024, will be paid on or about 18 September 2024.

ADDENDUM DATED 28 AUGUST 2024

THIS ADDENDUM IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.

This Addendum is circulated to Shareholders (hereinafter defined) of XMH Holdings Ltd. ("**Company**") together with the Company's annual report for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 ("**Annual Report**"). Its purpose is to provide Shareholders with the relevant information relating to, and to seek Shareholders' approval for the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate (hereinafter defined) to be tabled at the Annual General Meeting to be held on **Wednesday, 28 August 2024** at **10.00 a.m.** physically at 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01, Singapore 638743.

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("**SGX-ST**") assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the statements made, reports contained or opinions expressed in this Addendum.

If you are in any doubt as to the contents herein or as to any action you should take, you should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or any other professional adviser immediately.



ADDENDUM TO ANNUAL REPORT

IN RELATION TO THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE

CONTENTS

DEFI	NITIONS	182
ADDE	ENDUM TO ANNUAL REPORT	
1.		186
2.	THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE	186
3.	DIRECTORS' AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS	202
4.	DIRECTORS' RECOMMENDATIONS	203
5.	INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS	203
6.	DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT	204

For the purpose of this Addendum, the following definitions have, where appropriate, been used:

"2023 AGM"	:	The annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2023.			
"ACRA"	:	The Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority of Singapore.			
"Act" or "Companies Act"	:	The Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, as amended or modified from time to time.			
"Addendum"	:	This Addendum to Shareholders dated 8 August 2024.			
"AGM"		The annual general meeting of the Company to be convened on 28 August 2024.			
"Annual Report"	:	The annual report of the Company for FY2024.			
"Approval Date"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.1 (<i>Maximum number of Shares</i>) of this Addendum.			
"Associate"	:	(a) in relation to any Director, CEO, Substantial Shareholder or Controlling Shareholder (being an individual) means:			
		(i) his immediate family;			
		 the trustees of any trust of which he or his immediate family is a beneficiary or, in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary object; and 			
		(iii) any company in which he and his immediate family together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more;			
		(b) in relation to a Substantial Shareholder or a Controlling Shareholder (being a company) means any other company which is its subsidiary or holding company or is a subsidiary of such holding company or one in the equity of which it and/or such other company or companies taken together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more.			
"Average Closing Price"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.4 (<i>Maximum Purchase Price</i>) of this Addendum.			
"Board" or "Board of Directors"	:	The Board of Directors of the Company.			
"CDP"	:	The Central Depository (Pte) Limited.			
"CEO"	:	Chief Executive Officer.			
"Company"	:	XMH Holdings Ltd.			
"Constitution"	:	The constitution of the Company, previously known as its memorandum and articles of association of the Company currently in force.			

"Controlling Shareholder"	:	A person who:
		(a) holds directly or indirectly 15% or more of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings in the Company. The SGX-ST may determine that a person who satisfies this paragraph is not a controlling shareholder; or
		(b) in fact exercises control over the Company.
"Directors"	:	The directors of the Company for the time being.
"EPS"	:	Earnings per Share.
"Executive Director"	:	A director who is a full-time employee of the Company and who performs an executive function.
"FY"	:	Financial year of the Company ending or ended 30 April as the case may be.
"Group"	:	The Company and its subsidiaries.
"Latest Practicable Date"	:	The latest practicable date prior to the printing of this Addendum, being 25 July 2024.
"Listing Manual"	:	The listing manual of the SGX-ST, as amended, supplemented or modified from time to time.
"Listing Rules"	:	The listing rules under the Listing Manual.
"Market Day"	:	A day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading of securities.
"Market Purchase"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.3 (<i>Manner of purchase of Shares</i>) of this Addendum.
"Maximum Price"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.4 (<i>Maximum Purchase Price</i>) of this Addendum.
"MD"	:	Managing Director.
"Notice of AGM"	:	The notice of AGM enclosed with the Annual Report.
"NTA"	:	Net tangible assets.
"Off-Market Purchase"	:	Has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 2.3.3 (<i>Manner of purchase of Shares</i>) of this Addendum.
"PDPA"	:	Personal Data Protection Act 2012.
"Proxy Form"	:	The proxy form in respect of the AGM enclosed with the Annual Report.

"Relevant Period"	:	The period commencing from the date on which the forthcoming AGM is held and the resolution relating to the Share Buyback Mandate is passed and expiring on the date the next AGM is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.
"SFA"	:	The Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore, as amended, supplemented or modified from time to time.
"SGX-ST"	:	Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
"Share Buyback"	:	The buyback of Shares by the Company pursuant to the terms of the Share Buyback Mandate.
"Share Buyback Mandate"	:	The mandate to enable the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire its Shares, the terms of which are set out in Section 2.3 (<i>Terms of the</i> <i>Share Buyback Mandate</i>) of this Addendum.
"Shareholders"	:	Registered holders of Shares, except that where the registered holder is CDP, the term "Shareholders" shall, where the context admits, mean the Depositors who have Shares entered against their names in the Depository Register.
"Share(s)"	:	Ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.
"Substantial Shareholder"	:	A Shareholder who has an interest directly or indirectly in not less than 5% of the total voting shares in the Company.
"Take-over Code"	:	The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers, as the same may be amended or modified from time to time.
"S\$", "\$" and "cents"	:	Singapore dollars and cents, respectively.
"%" or " per cent "	:	Per centum or percentage.

The terms "**Depositor**" and "**Depository Register**" shall have the meanings ascribed to them respectively in Section 81SF of the SFA. The terms "**treasury shares**" and "**subsidiary**" shall have the meaning ascribed to them in Sections 4 and 5 of the Companies Act respectively.

The term "**subsidiary holdings**" shall have the same meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Manual, as may be amended or modified from time to time.

Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa. Words importing the masculine gender shall, where applicable, include the feminine and neuter genders. References to persons shall include corporations.

Any reference in this Addendum to any statute or enactment is a reference to that statute or enactment as for the time being amended or re-enacted. Any word defined under the Companies Act, SFA or the Listing Manual or any statutory modification thereof and not otherwise defined in this Addendum shall have the same meaning assigned to it under the Companies Act, SFA or the Listing Manual or such statutory modification thereof, as the case may be.

Any reference to a time of day in this Addendum is made by reference to Singapore time unless otherwise stated.

Any discrepancies in tables included herein between the amounts listed and the totals thereof are due to rounding. Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them.

Any reference to "you", "your" and "yours" in this Addendum is, as the context so determines, to Shareholders.

The headings in this Addendum are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of this Addendum.

Chancery Law Corporation has been appointed as the legal adviser to the Company in relation to the drafting of this Addendum.

(The remaining of this page is intentionally left blank)

XMH HOLDINGS LTD.

(Company Registration Number 201010562M) Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

Directors:

Tan Tin YeowChairman and Managing DirectorTan Guat LianExecutive DirectorHong Pian TeeLead Independent DirectorKhoo Song KoonIndependent DirectorRaymond Lam Kuo WeiIndependent Director

Registered Office:

55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01 Singapore 638743

8 August 2024

To: The Shareholders of XMH Holdings Ltd.

Dear Shareholder,

THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 AGM

The Board is convening an AGM to be held on 28 August 2024 to seek the approval of Shareholders for, *amongst others*, the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate.

1.2 Purpose of Addendum

The purpose of this Addendum is to provide Shareholders with the relevant information pertaining to the matters set out in Section 1.1 (*AGM*) of this Addendum, and to seek Shareholders' approval for the resolutions in respect thereof to be tabled at the AGM, as set out in the Notice of AGM.

This Addendum has been prepared solely for the purpose set out herein and may not be relied upon by any persons (other than Shareholders) or for any other purpose.

2. THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE BUYBACK MANDATE

2.1 Background

Any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company must be made in accordance with, and in the manner prescribed by the Companies Act, the Listing Manual, the Constitution and such other laws and regulations as may be applicable for the time being.

The renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate was approved by Shareholders at the 2023 AGM and will, unless renewed, expire on the date of the forthcoming AGM, which is scheduled to be held on 28 August 2024.

Accordingly, the Company is seeking Shareholders' approval for a proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate at the AGM on 28 August 2024. If the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate is approved, the Share Buyback Mandate will take effect from the date of the forthcoming AGM and continue in force until the date of the next AGM or such date as the next AGM is required by law to be held, unless prior thereto, the Share Buyback is carried out to the full extent mandated or the Share Buyback Mandate is revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting. The Share Buyback Mandate will be put to Shareholders for renewal at each subsequent AGM or EGM of the Company as the case may be.

The Company's share capital presently comprises only one (1) class of shares, namely, the Shares. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has (i) a total issued and paid-up share capital of 114,973,771 Shares, of which 5,329,850 Shares are held as treasury shares, and (ii) a market capitalisation of approximately S\$52,629,082 (based on the closing price of S\$0.48 on 19 July 2024, being the date on which the Shares were last traded).

2.2 Rationale for the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate

The Share Buyback Mandate will give the Company the flexibility to undertake purchases of its issued Shares at any time, subject to market conditions, during the period in which the Share Buyback Mandate is in force.

The Share Buyback Mandate will accord the Company greater flexibility in managing its capital to achieve a more efficient capital structure, and would also allow the Company to enhance its EPS and return on equity on an ongoing basis. Shares purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate can be held as treasury shares.

Furthermore, short-term speculation may at times cause the market price of the Company's Shares to be depressed below the true value of the Company and the Group. The Share Buyback Mandate will provide the Directors with the means to restore investors' confidence and to protect existing shareholders' investments in the Company in a depressed share-price situation through judicious purchases of Shares to enhance the EPS. Shares purchased or acquired by the Company will also enhance the net asset value per Share if the Share purchases and acquisitions are made at a price below the net asset value per Share.

The Directors will act judiciously and will only purchase or acquire Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate as and when the circumstances permit and only if the Directors are of the view that such purchases are in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

The Directors do not propose to carry out Share Buybacks to an extent that would, or in circumstances that might, result in a material adverse effect on the liquidity and/or the orderly trading of the Shares and/or the financial position of the Group, taking into account the working capital requirements of the Company or the gearing levels, which in the opinion of the Directors, are from time to time appropriate for the Company.

2.3 Terms of the Share Buyback Mandate

The authority and limitations placed on purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company under the Share Buyback Mandate are summarised below:

2.3.1 Maximum number of Shares

Only Shares which are issued and fully paid-up may be purchased or acquired by the Company.

The total number of Shares that may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate is limited to that number of Shares representing not more than 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date of the AGM at which the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate is approved ("**Approval Date**") (unless the Company has effected a reduction of the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, at any time during the Relevant Period, in which event the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as altered excluding any treasury shares and subsidiary holdings that may be held by the Company from time to time).

For illustrative purposes only, on the basis of 109,643,921 issued and paid-up Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as at the Latest Practicable Date, and assuming (a) no further Shares are issued on or prior to the AGM; and (b) no further Shares are purchased or acquired by the Company on or prior to the AGM, exercise in full of the Share Buyback Mandate would result in the purchase or acquisition of 10,964,392 Shares.

2.3.2 Duration of authority

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, on and from the Approval Date, up to the earlier of:

- (a) the date on which the next AGM of the Company is held or required by law to be held;
- (b) the date on which the Share Buyback is carried out to the full extent mandated; or
- (c) the date on which the authority contained in the Share Buyback Mandate is varied or revoked by the Shareholders in a general meeting.

2.3.3 Manner of purchase of Shares

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made by way of:

- (a) on-market purchases ("**Market Purchase**"), transacted on the SGX-ST through the SGX-ST's trading system or, as the case may be, any other securities exchange on which the Shares may for the time being be listed and quoted, through one (1) or more duly licensed stockbrokers appointed by the Company for the purpose; and/or
- (b) off-market purchases ("**Off-Market Purchase**") (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with an equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as they may consider fit, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act and the Listing Manual.

Under the Companies Act, an equal access scheme must satisfy all of the following conditions:

- (a) offers for the purchase or acquisition of issued Shares shall be made to every person who holds issued Shares to purchase or acquire the same percentage of their issued Shares;
- (b) all of those persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers made; and
- (c) the terms of all the offers are the same, except that there shall be disregarded:
 - (i) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to Shares with different accrued dividend entitlements;

- (ii) (if applicable) differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers relate to Shares with different amounts remaining unpaid; and
- (iii) differences in the offers introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole number of Shares.

In addition, the Listing Manual provides that, in making an Off-Market Purchase, the Company must issue an offer document to all Shareholders which must contain at least the following information:

- (a) the terms and conditions of the offer;
- (b) the period and procedures for acceptances;
- (c) the reasons for the proposed Share Buyback;
- (d) the consequences, if any, of the Share Buyback by the Company that will arise under the Take-over Code or other applicable take-over rules;
- (e) whether the Share Buyback, if made, would have any effect on the listing of the Shares on the SGX-ST;
- (f) details of any Share Buyback made by the Company in the previous 12 months (whether Market Purchase or Off-Market Purchase), giving the total number of Shares purchased, the purchase price per Share or the highest and lowest prices paid for the purchases, where relevant, and the total consideration paid for the purchases; and
- (g) whether the Shares purchased by the Company will be cancelled or kept as treasury shares.

2.3.4 Maximum Purchase Price

The purchase price (excluding brokerage, stamp duties, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) to be paid for the Shares will be determined by the Directors. However, the purchase price to be paid for a Share as determined by the Directors must not exceed:

- (a) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price (as defined hereinafter); and
- (b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120% of the Average Closing Price (as defined hereinafter),

("Maximum Price") in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase.

For the above purpose, "**Average Closing Price**" means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last five (5) Market Days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, preceding the day of the Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period.

2.4 Status of purchased Shares under the Share Buyback Mandate

A Share purchased or acquired by the Company is deemed cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition (and all rights and privileges attached to the Share will expire on such cancellation) unless such Share is held by the Company as a treasury share. Accordingly, the total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the number of Shares purchased or acquired by the Company which are not held as treasury shares.

2.5 Treasury shares

Under the Companies Act, Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury shares. Some of the provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act are summarised below:

2.5.1 Maximum holdings

The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares.

2.5.2 Voting and other rights

The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares. In particular, the Company cannot exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for the purposes of the Companies Act, the Company shall be treated as having no right to vote and the treasury shares shall be treated as having no voting rights.

In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution of the Company's assets may be made to the Company in respect of treasury shares. However, the allotment of Shares as fully paid bonus shares in respect of treasury shares is allowed. Also, a subdivision or consolidation of any treasury share into a different number of treasury shares of a smaller amount is allowed so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision or consolidation is the same as before.

2.5.3 Disposal and cancellation

Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time:

- (a) sell the treasury shares for cash;
- (b) transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to an employee's share scheme (if any);
- (c) transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another company or assets of a person;
- (d) cancel the treasury shares; or
- (e) sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be prescribed by the Minister for Finance.

Pursuant to Rules 704(28) of the Listing Manual, the Company will immediately announce any sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use of treasury shares, stating the following:

- (i) date of the sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
- (ii) purpose of such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
- (iii) number of treasury shares sold, transferred, cancelled and/or used;
- (iv) the number of treasury shares before and after such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use;
- (v) percentage of the number of treasury shares against the total number of shares outstanding in a class that is listed before and after such sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use; and
- (vi) value of the treasury shares if they are used for a sale or transfer, or cancellation.

2.6 Sources of funds for Share Buyback

The Companies Act permits the Company to purchase its own Shares out of its capital as well as from its distributable profits, provided that:

- (a) the Company is able to pay its debts in full at the time it purchases the Shares and will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the normal course of business in the 12 months immediately following the purchase; and
- (b) the value of the Company's assets is not less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities) and will not after the purchase of Shares become less than the value of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities).

Further, for the purposes of determining the value of a contingent liability, the Directors or managers of the Company may take into account the following:

- (a) the likelihood of the contingency occurring; and
- (b) any claim the Company is entitled to make and can reasonably expect to be met to reduce or extinguish the contingent liability.

The Company intends to use mainly internal resources and may from time to time utilise external borrowings and/or a combination of both to finance purchases of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate.

2.7 Financial effects of the Share Buyback Mandate

The financial effects on the Company and the Group arising from purchases or acquisitions of Shares which may be made pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate will depend on, *amongst others*, the aggregate number of Shares purchased or acquired, how the Shares are purchased or acquired, the price paid for such Shares, the amount (if any) borrowed by the Company to fund the purchases and whether the Shares purchased or acquired are held as treasury shares or cancelled. The financial effects on the Company and the Group, based on the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 are based on the following principal assumptions:

- the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate had taken place on 1 May 2023 for the purpose of computing the financial effects on the EPS of the Group and the Company;
- (b) the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate had taken place on 1 May 2023 for the purpose of computing the financial effects on the Shareholders' equity, NTA per Share and gearing of the Group and the Company; and
- (c) transaction costs incurred for the purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate are assumed to be insignificant and have been ignored for the purpose of computing the financial effects.

2.7.1 Purchase or acquisition out of capital or profits

Under the Companies Act, purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company may be made out of the Company's capital or profits so long as the Company is solvent.

Where the consideration (excluding related brokerage, goods and services tax, stamp duties and clearance fees) paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is made out of capital, the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company will not be reduced but the issued share capital of the Company will be reduced by the value of the Shares purchased. Where the consideration (excluding related brokerage, goods and services tax, stamp duties and clearance fees) paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of the Shares is made out of profits, such consideration will correspondingly reduce the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company.

2.7.2 Information as at the Latest Practicable Date

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the issued and paid-up capital of the Company is S\$39,881,883 comprising 109,643,921 Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings).

2.7.3 Financial effects

For illustration purposes only, and on the basis of the assumptions set out below, the financial effects of the:

- (i) acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate by way of purchases made out of capital and held as treasury shares; and
- (ii) acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate by way of purchases made out of capital and cancelled,

on the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 are set out in the sections below.

The financial effects of the acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate by way of purchases made out of profits are similar to that of purchases made out of capital. Therefore, only the financial effects of the acquisition of the Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate by way of purchases made out of capital are set out in this Addendum.

Scenario A: Purchases made entirely out of capital and held as treasury shares

Market Purchase

For illustrative purposes only, in a Market Purchase, assuming that:

- the Maximum Price is S\$0.502, which is 5% above the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the five (5) Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date; and
- (ii) the Company has 109,643,921 Shares as at the date of the AGM (being the number of Shares at the Latest Practicable Date, assuming no change in the number of Shares on or prior to the date of the AGM and excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings), such that not more than 10,964,392 Shares may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate,

the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase of up to 10,964,392 Shares under and during the duration of the Share Buyback Mandate, is approximately S\$5,504,125.

On these assumptions, the impact of the Share Buyback by the Company undertaken in accordance with the Share Buyback Mandate on the Group's and the Company's audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 is as follows:

	Group		Com	pany
As at 30 April 2024	Before the Share Buyback	After the Share Buyback	Before the Share Buyback	After the Share Buyback
Shareholders' Equity (S\$'000)	58,193	52,689	41,502	35,998
NTA (S\$'000)	49,687	44,183	41,502	35,998
Treasury Shares (S\$'000)	(3,303)	(8,807)	(3,303)	(8,807)
Current Assets (S\$'000)	91,434	85,930	10,923	5,419
Current Liabilities (S\$'000)	72,557	72,557	9,626	9,626
Working Capital (S\$'000)	18,877	13,373	1,297	(4,207)
Loans and Borrowings (S\$'000)	37,895	37,895	18,215	18,215
Cash and Short-Term Deposits (1) (S\$'000)	31,996	26,492	475	(5,029)
Net Earnings Attributable to Shareholders (S\$'000)	12,552	12,552	4,001	4,001
Number of Shares ⁽²⁾	109,643,921	98,679,529	109,643,921	98,679,529
Treasury Shares	5,329,850	16,294,242	5,329,850	16,294,242
Total Shares	114,973,771	114,973,771	114,973,771	114,973,771
Financial Ratios				
NTA per Share (cents)	45.32	44.77	37.85	36.48
Basic EPS (cents) (3)	11.45	12.72	3.65	4.05
Current Ratio (times) (4)	1.26	1.18	1.13	0.56
Gearing Ratio (times) (5)	0.65	0.72	0.44	0.51

Notes:

(1) Assuming that the Share Buyback is fully funded by internal resources.

- (2) Number of Shares (excludes treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) and Shares that are cancelled and assumes no change in the number of Shares on or prior to the date of the AGM.
- (3) Basic EPS is computed based on FY2024 net earnings attributable to Shareholders divided by the number of Shares.
- (4) Current Ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.
- (5) Gearing Ratio equals loans and borrowings divided by Shareholders' equity.

Off-Market Purchase

For illustrative purposes only, in an Off-Market Purchase, assuming that:

- the Maximum Price is S\$0.574, which is 20% above the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the five (5) Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date; and
- (ii) the Company has 109,643,921 Shares as at the date of the AGM (being the number of Shares at the Latest Practicable Date, assuming no change in the number of Shares prior to the date of the AGM and excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings, such that not more than 10,964,392 Shares may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate,

the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase of up to 10,964,392 Shares under and during the duration of the Share Buyback Mandate, is approximately S\$6,293,561.

On these assumptions, the impact of the Share Buyback by the Company undertaken in accordance with the Share Buyback Mandate on the Group's and the Company's audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 is as follows:

	Group		Com	pany
As at 30 April 2024	Before the Share Buyback	After the Share Buyback	Before the Share Buyback	After the Share Buyback
Shareholders' Equity (S\$'000)	58,193	51,899	41,502	35,208
NTA (S\$'000)	49,687	43,393	41,502	35,208
Treasury Shares (S\$'000)	(3,303)	(9,597)	(3,303)	(9,597)
Current Assets (S\$'000)	91,434	85,140	10,923	4,629
Current Liabilities (S\$'000)	72,557	72,557	9,626	9,626
Working Capital (\$\$'000)	18,877	12,583	1,297	(4,997)
Loans and Borrowings (S\$'000)	37,895	37,895	18,215	18,215
Cash and Short-Term Deposits (1) (S\$'000)	31,996	25,702	475	(5,819)
Net Earnings Attributable to Shareholders (S\$'000)	12,552	12,552	4,001	4,001
Number of Shares (2)	109,643,921	98,679,529	109,643,921	98,679,529
Treasury Shares	5,329,850	16,294,242	5,329,850	16,294,242
Total Shares	114,973,771	114,973,771	114,973,771	114,973,771
Financial Ratios				
NTA per Share (cents)	45.32	43.97	37.85	35.68
Basic EPS (cents) (3)	11.45	12.72	3.65	4.05
Current Ratio (times) (4)	1.26	1.17	1.13	0.48
Gearing Ratio (times) (5)	0.65	0.73	0.44	0.52

Notes:

(1) Assuming that the Share Buyback is fully funded by internal resources.

(2) Number of Shares (excludes treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) and Shares that are cancelled and assumes no change in the number of Shares on or prior to the date of the AGM.

(3) Basic EPS is computed based on FY2024 net earnings attributable to Shareholders divided by the number of Shares.

(4) Current Ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.

(5) Gearing Ratio equals loans and borrowings divided by Shareholders' equity.

Scenario B: Purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled

Market Purchase

For illustrative purposes only, in a Market Purchase, assuming that:

- the Maximum Price is S\$0.502, which is 5% above the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the five (5) Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date on which transactions in the Shares were recorded; and
- (ii) the Company has 109,643,921 Shares as at the date of the AGM (being the number of Shares at the Latest Practicable Date, assuming no change in the number of Shares on or prior to the date of the AGM and excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings), such that not more than 10,964,392 Shares may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate,

the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase of up to 10,964,392 Shares under and during the duration of the Share Buyback Mandate, is approximately \$\$5,504,125.

On these assumptions, the impact of the Share Buyback by the Company undertaken in accordance with the Share Buyback Mandate on the Group's and the Company's audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 is as follows:

	Group		Com	pany
As at 30 April 2024	Before the Share Buyback	After the Share Buyback	Before the Share Buyback	After the Share Buyback
Shareholders' Equity (S\$'000)	58,193	52,689	41,502	35,998
NTA (S\$'000)	49,687	44,183	41,502	35,998
Current Assets (S\$'000)	91,434	85,930	10,923	5,419
Current Liabilities (S\$'000)	72,557	72,557	9,626	9,626
Working Capital (S\$'000)	18,877	13,373	1,297	(4,207)
Loans and Borrowings (S\$'000)	37,895	37,895	18,215	18,215
Cash and Short-Term Deposits ⁽¹⁾ (S\$'000)	31,996	26,492	475	(5,029)
Net Earnings Attributable to Shareholders (S\$'000)	12,552	12,552	4,001	4,001
Number of Shares (2)	109,643,921	98,679,529	109,643,921	98,679,529
Treasury Shares	5,329,850	5,329,850	5,329,850	5,329,850
Total Shares	114,973,771	104,009,379	114,973,771	104,009,379
Financial Ratios				
NTA per Share (cents)	45.32	44.77	37.85	36.48
Basic EPS (cents) (3)	11.45	12.72	3.65	4.05
Current Ratio (times) (4)	1.26	1.18	1.13	0.56
Gearing Ratio (times) (5)	0.65	0.72	0.44	0.51

Notes:

(1) Assuming that the Share Buyback is fully funded by internal resources.

(2) Number of Shares (excludes treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) and Shares that are cancelled and assumes no change in the number of Shares on or prior to the date of the AGM.

(3) Basic EPS is computed based on FY2024 net earnings attributable to Shareholders divided by the number of Shares.

(4) Current Ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.

(5) Gearing Ratio equals loans and borrowings divided by Shareholders' equity.

Off-Market Purchase

For illustrative purposes only, in an Off-Market Purchase, assuming that:

- the Maximum Price is S\$0.574 which is 20% above the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the five (5) Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date on which transactions in the Shares were recorded; and
- (ii) the Company has 109,643,921 Shares as at the date of the AGM (being the number of Shares at the Latest Practicable Date, assuming no change in the number of Shares on or prior to the date of the AGM and excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings), such that not more than 10,964,392 Shares may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate,

the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase of up to 10,964,392 Shares under and during the duration of the Share Buyback Mandate, is approximately S\$6,293,561.

On these assumptions, the impact of the Share Buyback by the Company undertaken in accordance with the Share Buyback Mandate on the Group's and the Company's audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 is as follows:

	Group		Com	pany
As at 30 April 2024	Before the Share Buyback	After the Share Buyback	Before the Share Buyback	After the Share Buyback
Shareholders' Equity (S\$'000)	58,193	51,899	41,502	35,208
NTA (S\$'000)	49,687	43,393	41,502	35,208
Current Assets (S\$'000)	91,434	85,140	10,923	4,629
Current Liabilities (S\$'000)	72,557	72,557	9,626	9,626
Working Capital (S\$'000)	18,877	12,583	1,297	(4,997)
Loans and Borrowings (S\$'000)	37,895	37,895	18,215	18,215
Cash and Short-Term Deposits (1) (S\$'000)	31,996	25,702	475	(5,819)
Net Earnings Attributable to Shareholders (S\$'000)	12,552	12,552	4,001	4,001
Number of Shares (2)	109,643,921	98,679,529	109,643,921	98,679,529
Treasury Shares	5,329,850	5,329,850	5,329,850	5,329,850
Total Shares	114,973,771	104,009,379	114,973,771	104,009,379
Financial Ratios				
NTA per Share (cents)	45.32	43.97	37.85	35.68
Basic EPS (cents) (3)	11.45	12.72	3.65	4.05
Current Ratio (times) (4)	1.26	1.17	1.13	0.48
Gearing Ratio (times) (5)	0.65	0.73	0.44	0.52

Notes:

- (1) Assuming that the Share Buybacks is fully funded by internal resources.
- (2) Number of Shares (excludes treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) and Shares that are cancelled and assumes no change in the number of Shares on or prior to the date of the AGM.
- (3) Basic EPS is computed based on FY2024 net earnings attributable to Shareholders divided by the number of Shares.
- (4) Current Ratio equals current assets divided by current liabilities.
- (5) Gearing Ratio equals loans and borrowings divided by Shareholders' equity.

Shareholders should note that the financial effects set out above are for illustrative purposes only. In particular, it is important to note that the above analysis is based on historical audited financial statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 and is not necessarily representative of future financial performance.

Although the Share Buyback Mandate would authorise the Company to purchase or acquire up to 10% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings), the Company may not necessarily purchase or acquire or be able to purchase or acquire the entire 10% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings). In addition, the Company may cancel all or part of the Shares repurchased or hold all or part of the Shares repurchased as treasury shares.

2.8 Reporting Requirements

2.8.1 <u>SGX-ST</u>

The Listing Manual specifies that a listed company shall report all purchases or acquisitions of its shares to the SGX-ST not later than 9.00 a.m.:

- (i) in the case of a Market Purchase, on the Market Day following the day of purchase or acquisition of any of its shares; and
- (ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the second Market Day after the close of acceptances of the offer.

Such announcement currently requires the inclusion of details of, *amongst others*, the total number of shares purchased, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest prices paid for such shares, as applicable. Such announcement will be made in the form prescribed by the Listing Manual. The Company shall make arrangements with its stockbrokers to ensure that they provide the Company, in a timely fashion, the necessary information which will enable the Company to make the notifications to the SGX-ST.

Under the Listing Manual, immediate announcement must be made of any sale, transfer, cancellation and/or use of treasury shares (in each case, the "**usage**"). Such announcement must include details such as the date of the usage, the purpose of the usage, the number of treasury shares comprised in the usage, the number of treasury shares before and after the usage, and the percentage of the number of treasury shares comprised in the usage against the total number of issued Shares (of the same class as the treasury shares) which are listed on the SGX-ST before and after the usage.

2.8.2 ACRA

Within 30 days of the passing of a Shareholders' resolution to approve the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company, the Company shall lodge a copy of such resolution with ACRA.

Within 30 days of a purchase or acquisition of Shares on the SGX-ST or otherwise, the Company shall lodge with ACRA the notice of the purchase in the prescribed form, such notification including, *amongst others*, the details of the purchase, the total number of Shares purchased by the Company, the total number of Shares cancelled, the number of Shares held as treasury shares, the Company's issued ordinary share capital before and after the purchase of Shares, the amount of consideration paid by the Company for the purchase, and whether the Shares were purchased out of the profits or the capital of the Company.

Within 30 days of the cancellation or disposal of Treasury Shares in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the Company shall lodge with ACRA the notice of cancellation or disposal of Treasury Shares in the prescribed form as required by ACRA.

2.9 Take-over Obligations

Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code contains the Share Buyback Guidance Note applicable as at the Latest Practicable Date. The take-over implications arising from any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares are set out below:

2.9.1 Obligation to make a take-over offer

If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares, a Shareholder's proportionate interest in the voting capital of the Company increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of Rule 14 of the Take-over Code. If such increase results in a change of effective control, or, as a result of such increase, a Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting in concert obtains or consolidates effective control of the Company, such Shareholder or group of Shareholders acting in concert could become obliged to make a mandatory take-over offer for the Company under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code.

2.9.2 Persons acting in concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), cooperate, through the acquisition by any of them of shares in a company, to obtain or consolidate effective control of that company.

Unless the contrary is established, the following persons will, *amongst others*, be presumed to be acting in concert:

- (a) the following companies:
 - (i) a company;
 - (ii) the parent company of (i);
 - (iii) the subsidiaries of (i);
 - (iv) the fellow subsidiaries of (i);
 - (v) the associated companies of any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv);
 - (vi) companies whose associated companies include any of (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v); and
 - (vii) any person who has provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary course of business) to any of the above for the purchase of voting rights.

A company is an associated company of another company if the second company owns or controls at least 20% but not more than 50% of the voting rights of the first-mentioned company;

- (b) a company with any of its directors (together with their close relatives, related trusts as well as companies controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and related trusts);
- (c) a company with any of its pension funds and employee share schemes;
- (d) a person with any investment company, unit trust or other fund whose investment such person manages on a discretionary basis, but only in respect of the investment account which such person manages;

- (e) a financial or other professional adviser, including a stockbroker, with its client in respect of the shareholdings of (i) the adviser and persons controlling, controlled by or under the same control as the adviser, and (ii) all the funds which the adviser manages on a discretionary basis, where the shareholding of the adviser and any of those funds in the client total 10% or more of the client's equity share capital;
- (f) directors of a company (together with their close relatives, related trusts and companies controlled by any of such directors, their close relatives and related trusts) which is subject to an offer or where the directors have reason to believe a bona fide offer for their company may be imminent;
- (g) partners; and
- (h) an individual, his close relatives, his related trusts, any person who is accustomed to act according to the instructions of that individual, companies controlled by any of the above, and any person who has provided financial assistance (other than a bank in the ordinary course of business) to any of the above for the purchase of voting rights.

The circumstances under which Shareholders of the Company (including Directors of the Company) and persons acting in concert with them respectively will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 after a purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company are set out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code.

- 2.9.3 Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code
 - (a) In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code is that, unless exempted, Directors of the Company and persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to make a takeover offer for the Company under Rule 14 if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring its Shares, the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would increase to 30% or more, or if the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties fall between 30% and 50% of the Company's voting rights, the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties would increase by more than 1% (one per cent.) in any period of six (6) months.
 - (b) Under Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, a Shareholder not acting in concert with the Directors of the Company will not be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring its Shares, the voting rights of such Shareholder in the Company would increase to 30% or more, or, if such Shareholder holds between 30% and 50% of the Company's voting rights, the voting rights of such Shareholder would increase by more than 1% (one per cent.) in any period of six (6) months. Such Shareholder need not abstain from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate.

2.9.4 No obligation to make a general offer

- (a) Our Chairman and MD, Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and our Executive Director, Ms. Tan Guat Lian, are siblings (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "**Tan Siblings**").
- (b) The Tan Siblings together with Mr. Tan Seng Hee are the children of Mr. Tan Tum Beng, the founder of the Group. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Tan Tum Beng and Mr. Tan Seng Hee are not employed by any Group company.
- (c) As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Tan Tum Beng, Mr. Tan Seng Hee and the Tan Siblings (collectively, the "**Parties**") as a concert group hold an aggregate of 89,690,981 Shares, constituting 81.80% of the voting rights in the Company.

- (d) Assuming that:
 - the Company undertakes Share Buyback under the Share Buyback Mandate up to the maximum of 10% of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) as permitted by the Share Buyback Mandate;
 - (ii) there is no change in the Parties' shareholdings in the Company between the Latest Practicable Date and the date of the AGM;
 - (iii) no new Shares are issued following the Shareholders' approval of the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate at the AGM; and
 - (iv) the Parties do not sell or otherwise dispose of their shareholdings in the Company,

the voting rights of the Parties as at the date of the AGM and after Share Buyback of 10% of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate, are as follows:

	I	Number of Sha	res	Voting rights in th	ne Company (%)
Parties	Direct Interest	Deemed Interest	Total Interest	Before Share Buyback	After Share Buyback
Tan Tin Yeow (1)	69,663,987	_	69,663,987	63.54	70.60
Tan Guat Lian	11,961,244	22,500	11,983,744	10.93	12.14
Sub-total	81,625,231	22,500	81,647,731	74.46	82.74
Tan Seng Hee	8,043,250	-	8,043,250	7.34	8.15
Tan Tum Beng (1)	13,943,494	_	13,943,494	12.72	14.13
Total	89,668,481	22,500	89,690,981	81.80	90.89

Note:

(1) The direct interest of Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and his father, Mr. Tan Tum Beng, for 13,943,494 Shares are jointly held through a joint CDP account under both their names.

As the Parties as a concert group hold an aggregate of 89,690,981 Shares, constituting over 50% of the voting rights in the Company, purchases or acquisition of Shares by the Company within the Relevant Period of the maximum of 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as permitted by the Share Buyback Mandate will result in an increase in the aggregate voting rights of the Parties, but will not result in any of the Parties incurring an obligation to make a mandatory take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code.

In the event the Company undertakes Share Buyback within the Relevant Period of the maximum of 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as permitted by the Share Buyback Mandate, to the best of the Directors' knowledge, it is not expected that the shareholdings and/or voting rights of any of the other Shareholders will be increased to 30% or more, thereby triggering a requirement for any Shareholder to make a general offer to the other Shareholders under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code.

The statements in this Section 2.9 (Take-over Obligations) do not purport to be a comprehensive or exhaustive description of all implications that may arise under the Take-over Code. Shareholders who are in doubt as to their obligations, if any, to make a mandatory take-over offer under the Take-over Code as a result of any purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company should consult the Securities Industry Council and/or their professional advisers at the earliest opportunity.

2.10 Listing Rules

While the Listing Manual does not expressly prohibit any purchase of shares by a listed company during any particular time or times, because the listed company would be regarded as an "insider" in relation to any proposed purchase or acquisition of its Shares, the Company will not undertake any purchase or acquisition of Shares pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate at any time after a price-sensitive development has occurred or has been the subject of a decision until the price-sensitive information has been publicly announced. In particular, the Company will not purchase or acquire any Shares through Market Purchases and/or Off-Market Purchases during the following periods and at all times in compliance with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual:

- (a) one (1) month immediately preceding the announcement of the Company's half year and full year financial statements (if the Company does not announce its quarterly financial statements); and
- (b) two (2) weeks immediately preceding the announcement of the Company's results for each of the first three (3) quarters of its financial year and one (1) month before the announcement of the Company's full year financial statements (if the Company announces its quarterly financial statements, whether required by the SGX-ST or otherwise).

The Company is required under Rule 723 of the Listing Manual to ensure that at least 10% of its issued shares excluding treasury shares must be held by public shareholders. The "**public**", as defined under the Listing Manual, are persons other than the directors, CEO, substantial shareholders or Controlling Shareholders of the company and its subsidiaries, as well as the associates of such persons.

Based on the Register of Directors' shareholdings and the Register of Substantial Shareholders maintained by the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date and taking into consideration Mr. Hong Pian Tee's retirement as independent director of the Company at the upcoming AGM, approximately 19,685,915 Shares, representing 17.95% of the total number of issued Shares, are in the hands of the public for the purposes of the Share Buyback Mandate.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, while taking into consideration the aforementioned retirement of Mr. Hong Pian Tee and assuming the Company undertakes purchases or acquisitions of its Shares up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate, the number of Shares in the hands of the public would be reduced to 8,069,773 Shares, representing 8.18% of the reduced total number of issued Shares of the Company.

As there is an insufficient number of Shares held by public Shareholders, the Company is unable to undertake purchases or acquisitions of its Shares up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate without affecting the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST. Accordingly, the Directors will monitor and ensure that the Share Buy-Backs carried out by the Company pursuant to the Share Buyback Mandate will not result in the percentage of Shares held in the hands of the public to fall below 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares held by the Company and subsidiary holdings), or to such a level as to cause market illiquidity, affect orderly trading or adversely affect the listing status of the Company.

2.11 Interested Persons

The Company is prohibited from knowingly buying Shares on the SGX-ST from an interested person, that is, a Director, the CEO of the Company or Controlling Shareholder of the Company or any of their associates, and an interested person is prohibited from knowingly selling his/her Shares to the Company.

3. DIRECTORS' AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

3.1 Directors' and Substantial Shareholders' Interests

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests of the Directors in the Shares, as extracted from the Register of Directors' shareholdings, the interest of Substantial Shareholder(s), as extracted from the Register of Substantial Shareholders, and the interests of the Associates of the Directors and Substantial Shareholders, as extracted from the Register of Members, are as follows:

	Number of Shares ⁽¹⁾					
Name	Direct Interest	%	Deemed Interest	%		
Directors						
Tan Tin Yeow ⁽²⁾⁽³⁾	69,663,987	63.54	-	_		
Tan Guat Lian (2)	11,961,244	10.91	22,500 ⁽⁴⁾	0.02		
Hong Pian Tee ⁽⁵⁾	651,750	0.59	-	_		
Khoo Song Koon	-	_	-	_		
Raymond Lam Kuo Wei	-	_	_	_		
Substantial Shareholder(s) (Other than Directors)						
Tan Tum Beng ⁽³⁾	13,943,494	12.72	-	_		
Tan Seng Hee ⁽²⁾	8,043,250	7.34	_	-		
Associate(s) (Other than Directors and Substantial Shareholders)						
Tan Seng Leong ⁽⁶⁾	98,500	0.09	_	_		
Tan Bee Lian (7)	36,275	0.03	_	_		
Huang Si Rong/Tan Chin Kok ⁽⁸⁾	31,250	0.03	_	_		
Tan Poh Lian ⁽⁹⁾	25,000	0.02	_	_		
Tan Fuyuan (Chen Fuyuan) (10)	76,000	0.07	-	_		
Total	90,587,256	82.62	22,500	0.02		

Notes:

- (1) The issued share capital of the Company comprises 109,643,921 Shares (excluding shares held as treasury shares and subsidiary holdings) at the Latest Practicable Date.
- (2) The Tan Siblings together with Mr. Tan Seng Hee had on 29 June 2010 entered into a deed of undertaking ("Deed of Undertaking") whereby each of them agreed to first offer any Shares which he/she would like to sell ("Selling Party") to the other parties in equal proportions (as nearly as possible). In the event the other parties decline or is deemed to decline the offer, the Selling Party shall be entitled to sell the Shares to any third party at a price which is not lower than the price offered to the other parties, subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Deed of Undertaking. The obligations of the parties to the Deed of Undertaking will continue to apply as long as they remain as shareholders of the Company, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the parties thereto.
- (3) The direct interest of Mr. Tan Tin Yeow and his father, Mr. Tan Tum Beng, in respect of 13,943,494 Shares are jointly held through a joint CDP account under both their names.
- (4) Ms. Tan Guat Lian is deemed to have an interest in 22,500 Shares held by her spouse by virtue of Section 133(4)(a) of the SFA.
- (5) Mr. Hong Pian Tee will be retiring as an independent director of the Company and will not be standing for re-election at the upcoming AGM. Accordingly, the 651,750 Shares held by him will be regarded as public shares following his retirement and for the purposes of the Share Buyback Mandate.

- (6) Mr. Tan Seng Leong is the immediate family member of Mr. Tan Tum Beng and is an associate under the Listing Manual.
- (7) Ms. Tan Bee Lian is the immediate family member of Mr. Tan Tum Beng and is an associate under the Listing Manual.
- (8) Mr. Huang Si Rong/Tan Chin Kok is the immediate family member of Mr. Tan Tum Beng and is an associate under the Listing Manual.
- (9) Ms. Tan Poh Lian is the immediate family member of Mr. Tan Tum Beng and is an associate under the Listing Manual.
- (10) Mr. Tan Fuyuan (Chen Fuyuan) is the immediate family member of Mr. Tan Seng Leong and is an associate under the Listing Manual.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and Substantial Shareholders or their respective Associates has any interest, direct or indirect, in the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate.

3.2 Shares purchased by the Company in the 12 months preceding the Latest Practicable Date

The Company has not made any purchases or acquisitions of its issued Shares in the 12 months immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date.

3.3 Limits on shareholdings

The Company does not have any limits on the shareholding of any Shareholder.

3.4 Shareholders' approval

For the reasons set out above, the Company is proposing to seek the approval of Shareholders for the renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate, which will be proposed as an Ordinary Resolution ("**Ordinary Resolution**") at the AGM.

4. **DIRECTORS' RECOMMENDATIONS**

Proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate

Save that the Tan Siblings have abstained from making any recommendation in respect of the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate, the Directors are of the opinion that the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate is in the best interests of the Company. Accordingly, they recommend that the Shareholders vote in favour of the Ordinary Resolution.

5. INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS

A copy of the following documents may be inspected at the registered office of the Company at 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01, Singapore 638743, during normal business hours from the date of this Addendum up to and including the date of the AGM:

- (a) the Annual Report of the Company for the financial year ended 30 April 2024; and
- (b) the Constitution.

6. DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors (including those who may have delegated detailed supervision of the preparation of this Addendum) collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this Addendum and confirm after making all reasonable enquiries that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, this Addendum constitutes full and true disclosure of all material facts about the proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate and the Company and its subsidiaries, and the Directors are not aware of any facts the omission of which would make any statement in this Addendum misleading.

Where information in the Addendum has been extracted from published or otherwise publicly available sources or obtained from a named source, the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure that such information has been accurately and correctly extracted from those sources and/or reproduced in the Addendum in its proper form and context.

Yours faithfully For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of XMH HOLDINGS LTD.

Mr. Tan Tin Yeow Chairman and Managing Director

XMH HOLDINGS LTD. (Company Registration No. 201010562M) (Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)	#07-01, Singapore 638743 on We be no option to participate virtua and Proxy Form will be sent by pr 2. Relevant intermediaries (as defir	ned in Section 181 of the Companies A	(Singapore time). There will AGM dated 8 August 2024		
PROXY FORM (Please see notes overleaf before completing this form)	 Investors who hold Company's sh who wish to vote should approact Banks and SRS Operators) to su the date of the AGM. This Proxy Form is not valid for u purposes if used or purported to 1 Please read the notes to this Prox PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY By submitting this proxy form, the me 	e than two (2) proxies to attend, speak and vote at the AGM. to hold Company's shares through relevant intermediaries (including CPF/SRS Invest vote should approach their relevant intermediaries (including their respective CPF A SRS Operators) to submit their voting instructions at least seven (7) working days be he AGM. Form is not valid for use by CPF/SRS Investors and shall be ineffective for all intents used or purported to be used by them. the notes to this Proxy Form.			
I/We* (Nar	me)	(NRIC/Passport No./Compa	ny Registration No.*)		
of being a member/members* of XMH HOLDINGS LTD. (t	he " Company " and together w	vith its subsidiaries, the "Grou	(Address), hereby appoint:		
Name	NRIC/Passport No.	Proportion of Sh	areholdings		
		No. of Shares	%		
Address					
*and/or					
Name	NRIC/Passport No.	Proportion of Sh	nareholdings		
		No. of Shares	%		
			/0		

adjournment thereof. I/We* direct my/our* proxy/proxies* to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the AGM and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies* will vote or abstain from voting at his/her* discretion. The Resolutions proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder will be put to vote at the AGM by way of poll.

If you wish to exercise all your votes "For" or "Against", or "Abstain" the relevant resolutions, please mark an "X" in the appropriate box provided. Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes "For" or "Against", or "Abstain" each Resolution in the boxes provided as appropriate. If you mark an "X" in the abstain box for a particular Resolution, you are directing your proxy, not to vote on that Resolution.

No.	Resolutions relating to:	By way of poll		I
		For	Against	Abstain
ORD	INARY BUSINESSES			
1.	Adoption of the Directors' Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the Company and of the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2024 (" FY2024 "), together with the Independent Auditor's Report thereon			
2.	Declaration and approval of the payment of a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 0.25 Singapore cents per ordinary share and a special one-tier tax exempt dividend of 3.25 Singapore cents per ordinary share for FY2024			
3.	Approval of the payment of Directors' fees of S\$179,130 for FY2024			
4.	Re-election of Mr. Tan Tin Yeow as a Director retiring under Regulation 89 of the Constitution of the Company			
5.	Re-election of Mr. Khoo Song Koon as a Director retiring under Regulation 89 of the Constitution of the Company			
6.	Re-appointment of Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as the Independent Auditors of the Company to hold office until the next AGM and to authorise the Directors of the Company to fix their remuneration			
SPE	SPECIAL BUSINESSES			
7.	Authority for Directors to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company			
8.	Proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate			

Dated this _____ day of _____ 2024

Total Number of Shares in	No. of Shares
(a) CDP Register	
(b) Register of Members	

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal of Corporate Member

* Delete if not applicable

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES ON THE REVERSE CAREFULLY BEFORE COMPLETING THIS PROXY FORM

X

Notes to Proxy Form:

- Please insert the total number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company ("Shares") held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, this instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.
- 2. The Proxy Form appointing the Chairman of the AGM (or any person other than the Chairman of the AGM) as proxy to vote on the member's behalf at the AGM, duly executed, must be submitted through any of the following means to the Company in the following manner:
 - (a) by email, to xmh@xmh.com.sg; or
 - (b) by post, to be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01, Singapore 638743,

in either case, by **10.00 a.m.** on **Monday, 26 August 2024** (being not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM) (or at any adjournment thereof) and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid. A member who wishes to submit an instrument appointing proxy(ies) can either use the printed copy of the Proxy Form which is sent to him/her/it by post or download a copy of the Proxy Form from the Singapore Exchange Network (**"SGXNet**") or the Company's corporate website, and subsequently complete and sign the Proxy Form before submitting it by post to the address provided above, or scanning and sending it to the email address provided above.

- 3. Completion and submission of the instrument appointing a proxy(ies) by a member will not prevent him/her from attending, speaking and voting at the AGM if he/she so wishes. The appointment of a proxy(ies) for the AGM shall be deemed to be revoked if the member attends the AGM in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under the relevant instrument appointing a proxy(ies), to the AGM.
- 4. This proxy form must be under the hand of the appointor or of his/her/its attorney duly authorised in writing.
 - (a) Where this proxy form is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal (or otherwise in accordance with its constitution) or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.
 - (b) Where this proxy form is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or the power of attorney or a duly certified true copy thereof must be lodged with this proxy form, failing which the instrument of proxy may be treated as invalid.
- 5. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the AGM of the Company is entitled to appoint one (1) or two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
- 6. A member who is a relevant intermediary entitled to attend and vote at the AGM of the Company is entitled to appoint more than one (1) proxy to attend and vote instead of the member, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Share or Shares held by such member. Where such member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless the member specifies the number of Shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed. "**Relevant intermediary**" has the meaning ascribed to it in Section 181 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore.
- 7. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise, by resolution of its directors or other governing body, such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the AGM, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act 1967 of Singapore, the person so authorised shall upon production of a copy of such resolution certified by a director of the corporation to be a true copy, be entitled to exercise the powers on behalf of the corporation so represented as the corporation could exercise in person if it was an individual.
- 8. CPF Investors and SRS Investors may attend and vote at the AGM if they are appointed as proxy(ies) by their CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators and should contact their CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators if they have any queries regarding their appointment as proxy(ies). For CPF Investors and SRS Investors who wish to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as their proxy, they should approach their CPF Agent Banks and SRS Operators to submit their votes no later than **10.00 a.m.** on **Friday, 16 August 2024** (being not less than seven (7) working days before the AGM).

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject this proxy form if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in this proxy form. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any proxy form lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered against his/her/its name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM (or at any adjournment thereof), as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting this proxy form, the member of the Company accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of AGM dated 8 August 2024.



XMH HOLDINGS LTD. 55 Tuas Crescent, #07-01 Singapore 638743